

Triad Guaranty Inc.

2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

01.10		Form 10-K	
(Mark O			
	ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT	F TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d T OF 1934	OF THE
	For the fiscal year ended December 31		
		or	
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSI SECURITIES EXCHANGE AC	UANT TO SECTION 13 OR T OF 1934	15(d) OF THE
	For the transition period from	to	
		sion file number 0-22342	
	- Commis	51011 He Humber 0-22342	
	Triad (Guaranty Inc.	
	(Exact name of	registrant as specified in its charter)	
	Delaware		-1838519
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)		S. Employer ification No.)
	101 South Stratford Road,	and the state of t	
	Winston-Salem, North Carolina		27104 <i>Cip Code)</i>
٠	(Address of principal executive offices)	(-	24 Couc)
	Registrant's teleph	none number, including area code: (336) 723-1282	the survey of the second
	Securities registered	pursuant to Section 12(b) of the A	ct•
		None	
	Securities registered	pursuant to Section 12(g) of the A	ot•
		ck, par value \$0.01 per share (Title of class)	u n en
Indica	te by check mark if the registrant is a well-known		he Securities Act. Yes □ No ☑
	te by check mark if the registrant is not required to		
Indica Exchange	te by check mark whether the registrant (1) has Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for subject to such filing requirements for the passive such filing requirements.	filed all reports required to be filed by or such shorter period that the registrant	Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Indica Data File r	te by check mark whether the registrant has submit equired to be submitted and posted pursuant to (or for such shorter period that the registrant wa	itted electronically and posted on its corpo Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (\$232.405	of this chapter) during the preceding
Indica	ate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent fil	ers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation 5	S-K (8229.405 of this chapter) is not
contained incorporate	herein, and will not be contained, to the best ed by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K of	of registrant's knowledge, in definition or any amendment to this Form 10-K.	ve proxy or information statements
eporting c	ate by check mark whether the registrant is a lar ompany. See the definitions of "large accelerate hange Act. (Check one):	ge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, ed filer," "accelerated filer" and "smalle	a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2
Large acce	lerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐ (I	Non-accelerated filer ☐ Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company ☑
Indica	te by check mark whether the registrant is a shel	ll company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of	the Act) Yes □ No ☑
State to reference to susiness da value of all and 10% of the state of	he aggregate market value of the voting and nor to the price at which the common equity was last by of the registrant's most recently completed seconshares beneficially owned (as defined in Rule 13 or greater stockholders of the registrant (however or entity is an affiliate of the registrant, or that the	n-voting common equity held by non-aff sold, or the average bid and asked price of and fiscal quarter: \$7,402,662 as of June d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of tr, this does not constitute a representation	iliates of the registrant, computed by of such common equity, as of the last 30, 2009, which amount excludes the 1934) by executive officers, directors on or acknowledgment that any such
The nu	imber of shares of the registrant's common stock,		
Po —	ortions of the following document are incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K:	Part of this Form 10-K i	into which the portions of the orporated by reference
Proxy	Triad Guaranty Inc. Statement for 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockhole	ders P	art III

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		rage
	Part I	
Item 1.	Business	1
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	16
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	24
Item 2.	Properties	24
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	24
Item 4.	(Removed and Reserved)	25
	Part II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer	
item 5.	Purchases of Equity Securities	26
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	27
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	
	Operations	27
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	53
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	53
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial	53
	Disclosure	53
Item $9A(T)$.	Controls and Procedures	55
Item 9B.	Other Information	33
	Part III	
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	55
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	55
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related	ہ ہے
	Stockholder Matters	55
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	55
Item 14.	Principal Accounting Fees and Services	55
	Part IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules	56
•	Signatures	57
	Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules	
	Exhibit Index	99

Item 1. Business

Overview of Triad

Triad Guaranty Inc. ("TGI") is a holding company which, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation ("TGIC"), historically has provided mortgage insurance coverage in the United States. Mortgage insurance is issued in many home purchases and refinance transactions involving conventional residential first mortgage loans to borrowers with equity of less than 20%. If the homeowner defaults on the mortgage, mortgage insurance reduces, and in some instances eliminates, any loss to the insured lender. Mortgage insurance also facilitates the sale of low down payment mortgage loans in the secondary mortgage market, with the largest percentage of sales being made to the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac"), which are collectively referred to as government-sponsored entities or "GSEs." Investors and lenders also purchase mortgage insurance to obtain additional default protection or capital relief on loans with equity of greater than 20%.

TGIC was formed in 1987 and was acquired by Collateral Mortgage, Ltd., now called Collateral Holdings, Ltd. ("CHL"), a mortgage banking and real estate lending firm, in 1989. As of December 31, 2009, CHL owns 16.9% of the outstanding common stock of TGI. TGI was incorporated in 1993 in the state of Delaware for the purpose of holding all of the outstanding stock of TGIC and to undertake the initial public offering of its common stock, which was completed in November 1993.

Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "Triad" in this annual report on Form 10-K refer to the operations of TGIC and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Assurance Corporation ("TGAC"). References to "we," "us," "our," and the "Company" refer collectively to the operations of TGI and Triad.

TGIC is an Illinois-domiciled insurance company and TGAC is an Illinois-domiciled reinsurance company. The Illinois Department of Insurance (the "Insurance Department") is the primary regulator of both TGIC and TGAC. The Illinois Insurance Code grants broad powers to the Insurance Department and its director (collectively, the "Department") to enforce rules or exercise discretion over almost all significant aspects of our insurance business.

Triad ceased issuing new commitments for mortgage guaranty insurance coverage on July 15, 2008 and is operating its business in run-off under two Corrective Orders issued by the Department, as discussed further in this Item 1. The first Corrective Order was issued in August 2008. The second Corrective Order was issued in March 2009 and subsequently amended in May 2009. As used in this report, the term "run-off" means writing no new mortgage insurance policies, but continuing to service existing policies. Servicing existing policies includes: receiving premiums on policies that remain in force; cancelling coverage at the insured's request; terminating policies for non-payment of premium; working with borrowers in default to remedy the default and/or mitigate our loss; reviewing policies for the existence of misrepresentation, fraud or non-compliance with stated programs; and settling all legitimate filed claims per the provisions of the policies and the two Corrective Orders issued by the Department. The term "settled," as used in this report in the context of the payment of a claim, refers to the satisfaction of Triad's obligations following the submission of valid claims by our policyholders. Prior to June 1, 2009, valid claims were settled solely by a cash payment. Since June 1, 2009, valid claims have been settled by a combination of 60% in cash and 40% in the form of a deferred payment obligation ("DPO"), as discussed further in this Item 1. The Corrective Orders, among other things, allow management to continue to operate Triad under the close supervision of the Department, include restrictions on the distribution of dividends or interest on notes payable to TGI by Triad, and include requirements on the payment structure of claims. Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders could result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings, including receivership proceedings for the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of Triad.

On December 1, 2009, we sold our information technology and operating platform to Essent Guaranty, Inc. ("Essent"), a new mortgage insurer. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, Essent acquired all of our proprietary mortgage insurance software and substantially all of the supporting hardware, as well as certain other assets, in exchange for up to \$30 million in cash and the assumption by Essent of certain contractual obligations.

Approximately \$15 million of the consideration is fixed and up to an additional \$15 million is contingent on Essent writing a certain minimum amount of insurance in the five-year period following closing. During the 2009 fourth quarter, we received the initial \$10 million installment of the purchase price. Essent has established its operations and technology center in Winston-Salem, North Carolina and a number of our former information technology and operations employees have joined Essent as contemplated by the agreement. At the closing of the transaction with Essent, we also entered into a services agreement, pursuant to which Essent is providing ongoing information systems maintenance and services, customer service and policy administration support to Triad. Triad may, at any time during the period beginning two years and ending seven years after the closing of the transaction with Essent, obtain a copy of the program object code, source code and documentation relating to the proprietary mortgage insurance software developed by Triad and sold in the transaction, solely for its own internal business purposes. Should Triad exercise this option, the services agreement would terminate and any remaining contingent amounts owed under the purchase agreement would no longer be payable to Triad. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information on the risks associated with this transaction.

For a detailed description of the components of our revenue and expenses, please refer to the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section of this annual report on Form 10-K. A detailed description of the insurance regulations to which we are subject is discussed further in this Item 1.

Item 1A of this annual report on Form 10-K discusses the risk factors that could affect our revenue, expenses and financial condition. These risk factors may also cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by any forward-looking statements we may make. Investors should consider these risk factors carefully in reading this annual report.

Our office is located at 101 South Stratford Road, Winston-Salem, North Carolina 27104 in properties that we lease. We do not require a significant amount of fixed assets for our operations, and our property and equipment, consisting primarily of computer equipment and software (other than those assets sold to Essent as noted above) are the extent of our long-lived assets. Our telephone number is (336) 723-1282.

Accounting Principles

In reading this annual report, it is important to understand the difference between accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and statutory accounting principles applicable to insurance companies ("SAP") and how we use these accounting principles. As an insurance company, Triad is required to file financial statements prepared in accordance with SAP with the insurance departments of the states in which it conducts business. Furthermore, the financial statements for Triad that are provided to the Department and that form the basis for our corrective plan required by the Corrective Orders were prepared in accordance with SAP as set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code or prescribed by the Department.

In our SEC filings, however, we are required to prepare our financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The financial statements presented in this annual report on Form 10-K are thus presented on a GAAP-basis, rather than a SAP-basis.

At December 31, 2009, we reported a deficit in assets under GAAP of \$706.4 million. A deficit in assets occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under GAAP. Triad, however, reported policyholders' surplus under SAP of \$122.8 million. A policyholders' surplus occurs when recorded assets exceed recorded liabilities in financial statements prepared under SAP. The primary differences between these results using GAAP and SAP were the methodology utilized for the establishment of reserves and the reporting requirements relating to the DPO stipulated in the second Corrective Order. Triad did not report a deficiency in policyholders' surplus, which occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under SAP, because of the reporting requirements relating to the DPO under SAP. The second Corrective Order was designed in part to help Triad maintain its policyholders' surplus. While a deficit in assets under GAAP is not necessarily a measure of insolvency, a deficiency in policyholders' surplus under SAP could be deemed such a measure. We believe that if Triad were to report an other-than-temporary deficiency in policyholders' surplus under SAP, Illinois law may require the Department to seek receivership of Triad, which could lead TGI to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws.

Corrective Orders

Triad has entered into two Corrective Orders with the Department. The first Corrective Order was entered into on August 5, 2008 and remains in effect. This Corrective Order was implemented as a result of our decision to cease writing new mortgage guaranty insurance and to commence a run-off of our existing insurance in force as of July 15, 2008. Among other things, that Corrective Order:

- Required Triad to submit a corrective plan to the Department;
- Prohibits all stockholder dividends from Triad to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Prohibits interest and principal payments on Triad's surplus note to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Restricts Triad from making any payments or entering into any transaction that involves the transfer of assets to, or liabilities from, any affiliated parties without the prior approval of the Department;
- Requires Triad to obtain prior written approval from the Department before entering into certain transactions with unaffiliated parties;
- · Requires Triad to meet with the Department in person or via teleconference as necessary; and
- Requires Triad to furnish to the Department certain reports, agreements, actuarial opinions and information on an ongoing basis at specified times.

We submitted a corrective plan to the Department as required under the initial Corrective Order. The corrective plan included, among other items, a five-year statutory financial projection for Triad and a detailed description of our planned course of action to address our financial condition. The financial projections that form the basis of our corrective plan were prepared in accordance with SAP as set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code. We received approval of the corrective plan from the Department in October 2008.

Following the approval of the initial corrective plan, in the first quarter of 2009 we revised the assumptions initially utilized as a result of continued deteriorating economic conditions impacting our financial condition, results of operations and future prospects. The revised assumptions produced a range of potential ultimate outcomes for our run-off, but included projections showing that absent additional action by the Department or favorable changes in our business, we would have reported a deficiency in policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP as early as March 31, 2009. If this statutory insolvency had occurred, the Department likely would have instituted a receivership proceeding against Triad, which in turn would likely have led to the institution of bankruptcy proceedings by TGI. In an effort to protect existing policyholders, the Department issued the second Corrective Order effective on March 31, 2009, as amended on May 26, 2009. The second Corrective Order stipulates or prescribes:

- Effective June 1, 2009, all valid claims under Triad's mortgage guaranty insurance policies are settled 60% in cash and 40% by recording a DPO;
- At March 31, 2009, Triad was required to adjust surplus and reserves reflecting the impact of the second Corrective Order on future settled claims;
- The DPO requires that we accrue a carrying charge based on the investment yield earned by Triad's investment portfolio;
- Triad will establish an escrow account at least equal to the DPO balance and any associated carrying charges;
- Triad will require that any risk or obligation of any captive reinsurer must be paid in full, and will deposit any excess reinsurance recovery above the 60% cash payment into an escrow account;
- Payment of the DPO and the carrying charge is subject to Triad's future financial performance and requires the approval of the Department;
- Procedures to account for the impact of the second Corrective Order in the financial statements prepared in accordance with SAP;

- Upon payment of a claim under these provisions, Triad is deemed to have fully satisfied its obligations under the respective insurance policy;
- Other restrictions and requirements affecting the payment and transferability of the DPOs and associated carrying charge; and
- · Certain reporting requirements.

The DPO recording requirements of the second Corrective Order became effective on June 1, 2009. At December 31, 2009, the recorded DPO, including a carrying charge of \$2.1 million, amounted to \$168.4 million. The recording of a DPO does not impact reported settled losses as we continue to report the entire amount of a claim in our statement of operations. The accounting for the DPO on a SAP basis is similar to a surplus note which is reported as a component of statutory surplus; accordingly, any repayment of the DPO or the associated carrying charge requires approval of the Department. However, in our financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP included in this report, the DPO is reported as a liability.

Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders or any other violation of the Illinois Insurance Code may result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings, including the institution by the Department of receivership proceedings for the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of Triad. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information.

Going Concern

Prior to the issuance of the second Corrective Order, our recurring losses from operations and resulting decline in policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP increased the likelihood that Triad would be placed into receivership and raised substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The positive impact on surplus resulting from the second Corrective Order has resulted in Triad reporting a policyholders' surplus in its SAP financial statements of \$122.8 million at December 31, 2009, as opposed to a deficiency in policyholders' surplus of \$597.8 million on the same date had the second Corrective Order not been implemented. While implementation of the second Corrective Order has deferred the institution of an involuntary receivership proceeding, no assurance can be given that the Department will not seek receivership of Triad in the future. The Department may seek receivership of Triad based on its determination that Triad will ultimately become insolvent or for other reasons stated above. If the Department were to seek receivership of Triad, TGI could be compelled to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws. Our consolidated financial statements that are presented in this report do not include any adjustments that reflect the financial risks of Triad entering receivership proceedings and assume that we will continue as a going concern. We expect losses from operations to continue and our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the successful implementation of the revised corrective plan. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information about our financial solvency and going concern risks and uncertainties.

Triad is also subject to comprehensive regulation by the insurance departments of the various other states in which it is licensed to transact business. Currently, the insurance departments of the other states are working with the Department in the implementation and the oversight of the Corrective Orders.

Overview of Market Conditions

The conditions of the real estate, mortgage and financial markets remain depressed. While recent economic data seems to indicate increasing stability in the residential real estate market, the supply of unsold real estate and foreclosed properties, the general lack of credit availability and a significant decline in property values continue to be obstacles to any significant rebound in the real estate market. Furthermore, the employment situation is at recessionary levels with the national unemployment rate near 10%.

Financial institutions continue to face capital constraints due to the decline in the value of assets, including residential mortgage related assets. Financial institutions in general have responded to these capital constraints by reducing the availability of credit and tightening lending requirements, which in turn have impacted the ability of borrowers to refinance loans. In addition, tight credit markets also limit the flexibility of borrowers when dealing with a loan in default, and may lead to a greater number of foreclosures.

According to the most recent S&P/Case-Shiller Home Price Indices, based on data through December 2009, property values have declined 30.0% and 29.4% in the 10-City Composite and 20-City Composite indices, respectively, from the second quarter 2006 housing peak. The decline in property values has particularly affected homeowners who originated mortgage debt during 2006 and 2007 with high loan-to-value ratios and who now owe more on their mortgage than the property is worth. Furthermore, insurance policies on mortgages in California, Florida, Arizona, and Nevada (collectively, the "distressed markets") comprise 32% of our risk in force and these states have experienced the greatest declines in property values.

The mortgage industry has also seen an increase in so-called "strategic defaults" in which borrowers who possess the apparent ability to make loan payments nevertheless elect to default on a mortgage, ostensibly because the loan balance exceeds the current value of the underlying property. Strategic defaults have been advocated in media reports despite the negative impact on a borrower's future credit and their acceptance represents a cultural change in the United States. Although this information is difficult to track, we believe the occurrence of strategic defaults increased significantly during 2009 and this trend may continue into 2010.

The national unemployment rate is currently near 10% and many economic forecasts do not project significant improvement in the employment situation until 2011. Furthermore, it has been noted by many economists that the actual employment picture may be much worse because the unemployment rate only captures those who are actively looking for employment, and does not account for those who have ceased looking for employment as well as workers who are under-employed. A prolonged period of high unemployment will continue to adversely impact our business.

Government Initiatives

Since the latter part of 2008, several programs have been initiated by the federal government and implemented through the GSEs and lenders that are, in general, designed to prevent foreclosures and provide relief to homeowners and to the financial markets. These programs involve both modifications to the original terms of existing mortgages and complete refinancings. These programs are designed to provide a means for borrowers to qualify for lower payments by modifying the interest rate or extending the term of the mortgage. Several of these programs have subsequently been expanded or extended and may continue to change as the federal government continues to seek ways to help prevent foreclosures.

In December 2008, the federal government instituted a program to purchase mortgage-backed securities that were guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or the Government National Mortgage Association. The purpose of the program is to support the housing market and foster improved conditions in the financial markets by reducing the cost and increasing the availability of credit for the purchase of homes. We believe this program is largely responsible for the relatively low mortgage rates that were available in 2009 and are currently available. The federal government has indicated that it intends to gradually exit the purchase program in 2010. If the government were to significantly reduce its level of participation or cease the program entirely, we believe mortgage rates would increase, which would exacerbate our loss mitigation opportunities.

In February 2009, the federal government unveiled The Homeowner Affordability and Stability Plan ("HASP"). HASP includes the Home Affordable Modification Program ("HAMP"). HAMP provides incentives to borrowers, servicers, and lenders to modify loans, with the modifications jointly paid for by lenders and the U.S. government. HASP also includes the Home Affordable Refinance Program, which provides refinance opportunities to certain borrowers who have conforming mortgage loans owned or guaranteed by the GSEs. For more information on our participation in HAMP, see "Defaults and Claims" in this Item 1.

We are actively working with both servicers and the GSEs in the implementation of these programs and other such programs designed to address various problems in the mortgage and housing market. However, to date these programs have had limited success. To a large degree, the benefit we receive from these programs is dependent on the efforts of servicers and the GSEs. If a loan is modified or refinanced as part of one of these programs, we intend to maintain insurance on the loan and are subject to the same ongoing risks as we were prior to the adoption of the programs if the policy were to re-default.

As of the date of this annual report on Form 10-K, we are unable to predict the impact that these government initiatives will have on our future results of operations and prospects. This uncertainty regarding the impact of these programs is amplified by the complexity of the programs, our reliance on loan servicers to implement the programs, the conservatorship of the GSEs, and conditions within the housing market and the economy, among other factors.

Mortgage Insurance Products

Prior to the commencement of run-off on July 15, 2008, we offered principally two products: Primary and Modified Pool mortgage insurance, each of which are described below. These products comprised all of our insurance in force as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. Risk-sharing products are a component of Primary insurance and serve to reduce our ultimate risk, which we insure through the payment of premiums to captive reinsurers (see "Reinsurance" below). Premium rates were determined at origination of coverage, based on perceived risk of the policy at that time, and generally cannot be subsequently changed. In run-off, we receive only the ongoing premiums of the remaining insurance in force, which we refer to as renewal premiums, net of any premium ceded to captive reinsurers and refunds resulting from policy cancellations or rescission of coverage.

Primary Insurance

Primary insurance provides mortgage default protection to lenders on individual loans and covers a percentage of unpaid loan principal, delinquent interest and certain expenses associated with the default and subsequent foreclosure (collectively, the "insured amount" or "claim amount"). We classify a policy as Primary insurance when we are in the first loss position and the loan-to-value ("LTV") ratio is 80% or greater when the loan was first insured. Primary insurance was written on both flow and structured bulk transactions. Flow transactions consisted of loans originated by lenders that were submitted to us on a loan-by-loan basis, whereas structured bulk transactions consisted of loans originated on a group of loans that met our loan quality and pricing criteria. Our obligation to an insured lender with respect to a claim is determined by applying the appropriate coverage percentage to the claim amount, which generally ranges from 12% to 37%. Under our master policies, we have the option of paying the entire claim amount and taking title to the mortgaged property, or paying the coverage percentage on the claim amount, subject to the DPO, in full satisfaction of our obligation. Due to the requirement under the second Corrective Order that we pay only 60% of each settled claim in cash, paying the entire claim amount and taking title to the property is no longer a viable option.

Primary insurance comprised approximately 71% and 69% of our total direct insurance in force at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The limited amount of new insurance written by Triad in 2008 and 2009 was all Primary insurance.

Modified Pool Insurance

Modified Pool insurance, which we have not written since the second quarter of 2007, was written only on structured bulk transactions. Structured bulk transactions involve underwriting and insuring a group of loans with individual coverage for each loan. Coverage on structured bulk transactions was determined at the individual loan level, sufficient to reduce the insured's exposure on any loan in the transaction down to a stated percentage of the loan balance, which was typically between 50% and 65%.

Modified Pool transactions included an aggregate stop-loss limit applied to the entire group of insured loans. Additionally, some of the Modified Pool transactions included deductibles representing a percentage of the total risk originated under which we pay no claims until the losses exceed the deductible amount. Modified Pool insurance comprised approximately 29% and 31% of our total direct insurance in force at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Sales

We ceased issuing commitments for mortgage insurance on July 15, 2008 and are operating our business in run-off. As a result, we terminated our entire sales force in 2008 and are not actively selling either Primary or Modified Pool mortgage insurance products to any customer. All of our production since July 15, 2008 consisted of

certificates issued from commitments that were entered into prior to that date. We do not expect any material production going forward.

Cancellation of Insurance

We generally cannot cancel mortgage insurance coverage except for nonpayment of premiums, misrepresentation or fraud on the loan application, non-compliance with certain lender programs or certain other material violations of the master policy. A policy is also cancelled upon the settlement of a claim and the full satisfaction of our obligations under the respective insurance policy. Coverage generally remains renewable at the option of the insured lender. In most cases, mortgage insurance is renewable at a premium rate determined when the insurance on the loan was initially issued.

Insured lenders may cancel insurance acquired through the flow channel at any time at their option. Pursuant to the Homeowners Protection Act, lenders are required to automatically cancel the borrower-paid mortgage insurance on most loans made on or after July 29, 1999, when the outstanding loan amount is 78% or less of the property's original purchase price and certain other conditions are satisfied. A borrower may request that a loan servicer cancel borrower-paid mortgage insurance on a mortgage loan when the loan balance is less than 80% of the property's current value, but loan servicers are generally restricted in their ability to grant those requests by secondary market requirements and by certain other regulatory restrictions.

Mortgage insurance coverage can also be cancelled when an insured loan is refinanced. Because we are a company operating in run-off, a refinancing will generally have the impact of reducing insurance in force and future premiums as we cannot replace the cancelled insurance with new mortgage insurance coverage. One exception to this is that under HAMP and HASP, the mortgage insurance will remain with Triad after a qualified loan is refinanced. Any refinancing activity that takes place may occur with better performing loans or in areas experiencing comparatively better economic or house price conditions. If this were to occur, the percentage of our insurance in force covering poor performing loans, loans from economically distressed areas, and/or loans from areas experiencing unfavorable house price depreciation would increase. Furthermore, any decline in insurance in force would adversely affect the amount of future premium we would receive as well as our loss ratio and capital position.

Certain of our Modified Pool contracts contain provisions that terminate coverage of all loans covered by the contract when cumulative settled losses reach the specific stop loss limit for that contract. At December 31, 2009, 19% of our Modified Pool insurance in force was subject to be cancelled if the settled losses reach the stop loss limit. No future premium is received following the termination of a Modified Pool contract. The insurance in force under the remaining 81% of our Modified Pool contracts does not terminate when settled losses reach the specific stop loss limit.

Our cancellation rate, defined as the percentage of insurance in force from twelve months prior that was cancelled during the preceding twelve-month period, was approximately 19% and 13% for 2009 and 2008, respectively, and was as high as 49% during 2003. The increase in the cancellation rate in 2009 was due to the significant increase in paid claims, rescissions, and the termination of several Modified Pool Contracts after reaching the stop loss limits.

Renewal premiums are our primary source of revenue and are dependent on our insurance policies remaining in force. An increase in the cancellation rate or, alternatively, a decrease in the persistency rate reduces the amount of our insurance in force and our renewal premiums. Our renewal premium on a loan modification also may be affected due to a change in the insured balance of a mortgage loan.

Reinsurance

Certain premiums, reserves and losses are ceded under reinsurance agreements to captive reinsurance affiliates of certain customers. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve us from our obligations to policyholders. Failure of the reinsurer to honor its obligation in excess of the minimum capital level required by the reinsurance agreement could result in losses to Triad; consequently, allowances are established for amounts deemed uncollectible from the captive reinsurance company.

Prior to run-off, we offered captive reinsurance structures designed to allow lenders to share in the risks of mortgage insurance. Under the typical captive reinsurance program, a captive reinsurance company, generally an affiliate of the lender, assumes a portion of the risk associated with the lender's insured book of business in exchange for a percentage of the premiums. All of our existing captive reinsurance programs are excess-of-loss arrangements that have defined aggregate layers of coverage and a maximum exposure limit for the captive reinsurance company. Under our excess-of-loss programs, we retain the first loss position on the first aggregate layer of risk and reinsure a second defined aggregate layer with the reinsurer. We generally retain the remaining risk above the layer reinsured. Of the reinsurance agreements in place at December 31, 2009, the first layer we retained ranged from the first 3.0% to 6.5% of risk originated and the second layer ceded to reinsurers ranged from the next 4.0% to 10.0%. Ceded premiums, net of ceded commissions, under these arrangements ranged from 20.0% to 40.0% of premiums.

We required the counterparties to all of our captive reinsurance agreements to establish trust accounts to partially support the reinsurers' obligations under the reinsurance agreements. The captive reinsurer is the grantor of the trust and we are the beneficiary of the trust. The trust agreement includes covenants regarding minimum and ongoing capitalization, required reserves, authorized investments and withdrawal of assets and is funded by ceded premiums and investment earnings on trust assets as well as capital contributions by the reinsurer. If certain conditions are met, the captive reinsurers are allowed to withdraw funds from the account. The captive reinsurers are also generally allowed to withdraw funds to pay taxes and certain operating expenses if capital levels allow. If certain capitalization requirements of the trust are not maintained, we may be allowed to terminate the trust agreement, although the captive reinsurer would have the right to dispute such action. Upon termination, we would receive all remaining trust assets, reassume all remaining risk and liabilities, and cease ceding premium to the captive reinsurer.

At December 31, 2009, we had approximately \$257 million in captive reinsurance trust balances with \$229 million of reserves ceded to those captives. At December 31, 2009, total ceded reserves and unpaid ceded losses exceeded the trust balances for the majority of our captive reinsurance agreements. In those cases, we limit the net reserve credit that we recognize in the financial statements to the trust balances because we have limited contractual rights to require additional capital contributions. At December 31, 2009, approximately \$131 million of reserves exceeded the available trust balance for which no benefit was recognized in our financial statements. As we are limited in our ability to recognize benefits from ceded losses to a captive reinsurer by the reinsurers' trust balance, we expect only a minimal benefit in future periods from these arrangements.

During 2009, we terminated three captive reinsurance arrangements and received approximately \$18.9 million of trust assets. We also commuted one captive reinsurance arrangement where the majority of the trust assets were remitted to the reinsurer. The terminations and commutation resulted in an increase in cash and invested assets and a corresponding decrease in reinsurance recoverable. The terminations and commutation had no material impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

Additionally, in March 2010 we entered into a commutation agreement with our largest captive reinsurance partner. Under terms of the commutation agreement, we will assume all liability for the existing and future claims covered by the reinsurance and trust agreement in exchange for the entire trust balance of approximately \$142.0 million. We do not expect the transaction will have any impact on the statement of operations for the first quarter of 2010. We are currently in discussion with other captive reinsurers regarding the termination or commutation of their treaties.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, approximately 53% and 58% of our Primary flow insurance in force was subject to captive reinsurance programs. We did not use captive mortgage reinsurance or other risk-sharing arrangements with Modified Pool insurance or Primary bulk insurance.

Certain states limit the amount of risk a mortgage insurer may retain with respect to coverage of a loan to 25% of the insured amount and, as a result, the deeper coverage portion of such insurance must be reinsured. TGAC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of TGIC that was formed to retain the premiums and related risk on deeper coverage business. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, TGAC assumed approximately \$154 million and \$189 million in risk from TGIC, respectively.

Contract Underwriting

Prior to entering into run-off, we provided fee-based contract underwriting services to certain, approved mortgage originators. Contract underwriting involved examining a prospective borrower's information contained in a lender's mortgage application file and making a determination as to whether the borrower should be approved for a mortgage loan subject to the lender's underwriting guidelines. We provided these contract underwriting services through our own employees, as well as independent contractors. These services were provided for loans that required mortgage insurance, as well as loans that did not require mortgage insurance. If it was determined that we failed to properly underwrite a loan subject to the lender's underwriting guidelines, we could be required to provide monetary or other remedies to the lender customer. While we ceased providing contract underwriting services in 2008, we generally retain potential liability for our previous underwriting activities for seven years from the date the services were provided. Historically, expenses for contract underwriting remedies were immaterial to our results of operations in part due to the favorable conditions in the residential real estate market. During 2009 and 2008, however, net expenses for contract underwriting remedies grew to approximately \$4.6 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, and we have established a reserve for contract underwriting remedies of \$3.0 million as of December 31, 2009.

Defaults and Claims

Defaults

The claim process on mortgage insurance begins with the lender's notification to the insurer of a default on an insured loan. We define a default as an insured loan that is reported to be in excess of two payments in arrears at the reporting date and all reported delinquencies that were previously in excess of two payments in arrears and have not been brought current. The master policies require lenders to notify us of default on a mortgage payment within ten days of either (i) the date on which the borrower becomes four months in default or (ii) the date on which any legal proceeding affecting the loan commences, whichever occurs first. Notification is required within forty-five days of default if it occurs when the first payment is due.

The incidence of default is affected by a variety of factors including, but not limited to, declining value in the underlying property, changes in borrower income, unemployment, divorce, illness and the level of interest rates. In addition, the mortgage insurance industry has little historical experience in projecting defaults in a market environment characterized by widespread declining house prices. We believe such price declines have precipitated a large number of strategic defaults. We believe these strategic defaults are more prevalent in mortgages that were originated during 2006 and 2007 during the peak of the housing boom, with little or no down payment, as well as those mortgages in the distressed states.

Borrowers may cure defaults by making all delinquent loan payments or by selling the property and satisfying all amounts due under the mortgage. Borrowers may also participate in loan modification programs such as HAMP. Under HAMP, eligible borrowers may have the terms of their mortgage modified and enter a trial modification period which lasts three months. If a borrower meets the eligibility requirements and makes all mortgage payments during the trial period, the loan would be reported to us as cured. These programs were in place for most of 2009, although activity was slow to develop. At December 31, 2009, we had been notified that approximately 8,000 of the loans that we insure were in some stage of participation in HAMP, although very few have successfully completed the trial modification period. We do not receive information on all of the loans participating in these programs or the current status of the participating loans on a timely basis and, therefore, we do not have the necessary information to determine the number of our policies in force that are participating in modification programs. This limits our ability to evaluate the ultimate success rate of HAMP and other such programs and, as a result, the potential impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Defaults that are not cured generally result in the submission of a claim to us. In very limited instances, we may advance the borrower the delinquent loan payments in order to cure the default. In such cases, we generally institute a repayment plan for the borrower. If the insured loan subsequently defaults and results in a submission of a claim, the unpaid amount of the advance reduces the claim amount.

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" below for a summary of our default statistics at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

Claims

Claims result from defaults that are not cured. During the default period, we work with the insured as well as the borrower in an effort to reduce losses through the loss mitigation efforts described below. The frequency of claims may not directly correlate to the frequency of defaults due in part to our loss mitigation efforts, the borrower's ability to overcome temporary financial setbacks and our ability to rescind coverage on the loan due to misrepresentation or program violations at origination. The likelihood that a claim will result from a default, and the amount of such claim, principally depend on the borrower's equity at the time of default and the borrower's (or the lender's) ability to sell the home for an amount sufficient to satisfy all amounts due under the mortgage, as well as the effectiveness of loss mitigation efforts. The time frame from when we first receive a notice of default until the ultimate claim is settled historically ranged from six to 18 months. Recently, the time frame between first notice of default to ultimate claim payment has increased for a variety of reasons including:

- government and private industry efforts to prevent foreclosures through loan modification programs and other initiatives;
- delays in submitting and processing claims by the servicers of the defaulted loans due to substantial volume increases in defaults; and
- our ongoing effort to identify fraud, misrepresentation or other underwriting violations on loans that are currently in default.

Historically, the settlement of claims is not evenly spread throughout the insurance coverage period. Prior to 2007, relatively few claims were settled during the first year following loan origination. A period of rising claim settlements historically followed that initial year of coverage. Thereafter, the number of claim settlements historically declined at a gradual rate, although the rate of decline could be affected by local economic conditions. We have experienced increased early default and claim activity on loans originated in 2006, 2007 and 2008 that differ significantly from historical levels. We believe this is primarily the result of: (1) deterioration in the housing and financial markets evidenced by a decline in home prices and reduced credit availability; (2) a larger percentage of loans originated with high LTVs during these years; and (3) lax underwriting standards by certain mortgage loan originators. It is difficult to project the future claim pattern peak of these books of business given the early accelerations, the risk composition of the underlying loans and the general conditions in the housing market. Furthermore, default and claim activity on loans originated prior to 2006 have adversely deviated from historical patterns as declining economic conditions, home price declines, and reduced credit have affected even these more seasoned loans.

Under the terms of our master policies, the lender is required to file a claim with us no later than 60 days after it has acquired the borrower's title to the underlying property through foreclosure, a negotiated short sale or a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure. A primary insurance claim amount includes (i) the amount of unpaid principal due under the loan; (ii) the amount of accumulated delinquent interest due on the loan (excluding late charges) to the date of claim filing; (iii) expenses advanced by the insured under the terms of the master policies, such as hazard insurance premiums, property maintenance expenses and property taxes prorated to the date of claim filing; and (iv) certain foreclosure and other expenses, including attorneys' fees. Such claim amounts are subject to review and possible adjustment by us. Our experience indicates that the claim amount on a policy generally ranges from 105% to 110% of the unpaid principal amount of a foreclosed loan.

Generally, within 60 days after the claim has been filed, we have the option of either (i) settling the coverage percentage of the claim as specified on the certificate of insurance (generally 12% to 37% of the claim), with the insured retaining title to the underlying property and receiving all proceeds from the eventual sale of the property, or (ii) settling the full claim amount in exchange for the lender's conveyance of good and marketable title to the property to us, and selling the property for our own account. During 2009, due to the extent of house price depreciation and the claim settlement provisions of the second Corrective Order we did not exercise the option to purchase properties in settlement of claims and we do not expect this will be a viable option going forward. At December 31, 2009, we did not hold any properties as a result of electing to settle the full amount of the claim compared to five properties with a combined fair value of approximately \$713,000 held at December 31, 2008.

Our master policies also exclude any cost or expense related to the repair or remedy of any physical damage (other than "normal wear and tear") to the property collateralizing an insured mortgage loan. Such physical damage may be caused by accident, natural occurrence or other conditions.

Rescission and Denial Activity

Generally, our master policies provide that we are not liable to settle a claim for loss if the application for insurance for the loan in question contains fraudulent information, misrepresentations, or other underwriting violations ("underwriting violations"). Where we find such underwriting violations, we may rescind, or cancel, coverage on the loan retroactive to the date the insurance was written. In cases where we do rescind coverage, we return all premiums paid on the policy. Prior to 2007, rescission activity was immaterial to our results. We believe this was primarily due to a favorable real estate market that provided significant loss mitigation opportunities.

Rescission activity began to increase noticeably in 2007. During 2008, we rescinded coverage on policies with a combined risk in force of \$244 million. During 2009, we rescinded coverage on policies with a combined risk in force of \$683 million. This activity was concentrated primarily in policies originated during 2006 and 2007. We also experienced a higher rescission rate with policies originated through the structured bulk channel.

Our master policy generally allows us to deny coverage on a filed claim if: (1) the insured property is sold without our permission prior to the due date of the claim settlement; or (2) if the claim was not timely filed. In cases where we deny a claim, we only return the unearned premium. Claim denial activity also increased in 2009, but not to the same degree as rescission activity.

If we rescind or deny coverage on an insured loan, the risk of default reverts to the policyholder, which has the right to challenge the decision. In 2009, we reversed very few of our decisions based on policyholder challenges. However, challenges to our decision to rescind or deny coverage may occur months or years after such decision was made and policyholders may challenge a decision multiple times. The increased level of rescission and denial activity by mortgage insurers has caused certain lenders and servicers to institute legal action to challenge the validity of rescissions and claim denials, and we are currently defending two such proceedings. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," for more information.

As a result of the increase in our rescission and denial activity, we believe we face an increased risk of litigation. Our liquidity, cash flow and financial performance would be adversely affected if our ability to rescind coverage or deny claim liability is materially limited or impaired. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors," for more information.

On September 4, 2009, Triad filed a complaint against American Home Mortgage ("AHM") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware seeking rescission of multiple master mortgage guaranty insurance policies and declaratory relief. The complaint seeks relief from AHM as well as all owners of loans insured under the master policies by way of a defendant class action. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," for more information.

Loss Mitigation

Once a default notice is received, we attempt to mitigate our loss. Loss mitigation techniques include preforeclosure sales, property sales after foreclosure, advances to assist distressed borrowers who have suffered a temporary economic setback, and the use of repayment schedules, refinances, loan modifications, forbearance agreements and deeds-in-lieu of foreclosure. When available, such mitigation efforts typically result in reduced losses from the coverage percentage stated in the certificate of insurance. Currently, our ability to employ loss mitigation techniques is severely limited. As a result, we generally settle claims at or even exceeding our risk in default. We believe the lack of mitigation opportunities is primarily the result of depressed housing prices.

In addition to loss mitigation techniques that reduce or eliminate claims, when we settle a claim we also may obtain deficiency judgments against borrowers in those states that allow such action so that we can recoup some of our losses. We have expanded use of this technique due to the current economic environment when allowed by certain jurisdictions and when borrowers appear to choose a strategic default. The availability and limitations on obtaining deficiency judgments vary state-by-state.

We continue efforts to identify, evaluate, and recommend additional loss mitigation activities.

Loss Reserves

We calculate our best estimate of the reserve for losses to provide for the estimated ultimate costs of settling claims on loans reported in default, and loans in default that are in the process of being reported to us, as of the date of our financial statements. In accordance with GAAP, we generally do not establish loss reserves for the estimated cost of settling claims on insured loans that are not currently in default. Our reserving process incorporates various components in a model that gives effect to current economic conditions and segments defaults by a variety of criteria. The criteria include, among others, policy year, lender, geography and the number of months that the loan has been in default, as well as whether the defaults were underwritten as flow business or as part of a structured bulk transaction. Additionally, we incorporate in the calculation of loss reserves the probability that a policy may be rescinded for underwriting violations due to borrower misrepresentation or program violations at origination. See the "Critical Accounting Policies" section of "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for a more detailed discussion of our loss reserving process. Detailed analysis of our activity in loss reserves is provided in the "Losses and Expenses" section of "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Gross Risk in Force

We had \$13.6 billion of gross risk in force as of December 31, 2009 compared to \$16.9 billion as of December 31, 2008. Gross risk in force includes risk from both Primary and Modified Pool insurance, prior to adjustment for risk ceded to captives in our Primary flow business and applicable stop loss limits and deductibles for Modified Pool contracts. An analysis of the quality of our insured portfolio is provided in the "Insurance and Risk in Force" section of "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Geographic Dispersion

The following table reflects the percentage of gross risk in force and the default rates on our book of business by location of property as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008.

	December 31,				
	2009		2008		
State	Gross Risk in Force %	Rate of Default	Gross Risk in Force %	Rate of Default	
California	13.3%	35.7%	14.6%	23.3%	
Florida	11.5%	39.3%	11.6%	25.9%	
Texas	6.8%	9.4%	6.5%	5.3%	
Arizona	4.6%	30.9%	5.2%	17.6%	
Illinois	4.1%	23.1%	3.9%	11.1%	
North Carolina	3.9%	12.3%	3.8%	5.6%	
Georgia	3.7%	17.2%	3.5%	8.5%	
New Jersey	3.4%	23.9%	3.1%	11.7%	
Virginia	3.3%	14.8%	3.3%	9.5%	
Colorado	3.1%	13.8%	3.2%	6.6%	
New York	3.0%	18.0%	2.7%	9.0%	
Washington	2.8%	16.3%	2.8%	6.7%	
Nevada	2.7%	40.0%	3.0%	21.5%	
Pennsylvania	2.6%	12.2%	2.5%	6.7%	
Maryland	2.5%	21.6%	2.4%	11.2%	
All Other	28.5%	14.5%	27.9%	8.0%	
Total Company	100.0%	20.1%	100.0%	11.7%	

The table above shows that California, Florida, Arizona, and Nevada contribute 32.1% of our gross risk in force as of December 31, 2009 compared to 34.4% at December 31, 2008. The decline in the percentage of the total risk in force in these states is primarily attributable to a higher level of claim and rescission activity. Our policies in these states continue to have higher default rates than the rest of the country and also have significantly higher average loan amounts. Furthermore, these states have also experienced some of the largest declines in home prices, which reduces the availability of loss mitigation opportunities for a default.

Regulation

Our insurance subsidiaries are subject to comprehensive, detailed regulation, principally for the protection of policyholders rather than for the benefit of stockholders, by the insurance departments of the various states in which each insurer is licensed to transact business. Although their scope varies, state insurance laws generally grant broad powers to supervisory agencies or officials to examine companies and to enforce rules or exercise discretion over almost every significant aspect of the insurance business. These include the licensing of companies to transact business and varying degrees of control over claims handling practices, reinsurance requirements, premium rates, the forms and policies offered to customers, financial statements, periodic financial reporting, permissible investments and adherence to financial standards relating to statutory surplus, dividends and other criteria of solvency intended to ensure the satisfaction of obligations to policyholders.

Because TGI is an insurance holding company and Triad is an Illinois-domiciled insurance company, the Illinois insurance laws regulate, among other things, certain transactions in TGI's common stock and certain transactions between Triad and TGI or its affiliates. Specifically, no person may, directly or indirectly, offer to acquire or acquire beneficial ownership of more than 10% of any class of outstanding securities of TGI or its subsidiaries unless such person files a statement and other documents with the Department and obtains the Department's prior approval. These restrictions generally apply to all persons controlling or under common control with the insurance companies. "Control" is presumed to exist if 10% or more of TGI's voting securities is owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by a person, although the Department may find that "control", in fact, does or does not exist where a person owns or controls either a lesser or greater amount of securities. Other states in addition to Illinois may regulate affiliated transactions and the acquisition of control of TGI or its insurance subsidiaries.

The insurance laws of Illinois generally limit the payments of dividends by an insurance company unless it has sufficient capital and surplus. Under the first Corrective Order, Triad is currently prohibited, and expects to be prohibited for the foreseeable future, from paying any dividends to TGI. Triad also has a \$25 million outstanding surplus note held by TGI. Under the terms of the first Corrective Order, Triad is prohibited from paying interest or principal on the surplus note until otherwise approved by the Department. In 2009, TGI wrote off the \$25 million surplus note and reversed accrued interest of \$4.4 million on its financial statements as an other-than-temporary impairment. This other-than-temporary impairment did not affect TGI's consolidated results of operations. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information.

Mortgage insurers are generally required by Illinois insurance laws to provide for a contingency reserve in an amount equal to at least 50% of earned premiums in its statutory financial statements. The contingency reserves must be maintained for a period of 10 years except in circumstances where prescribed levels of losses exceed regulatory thresholds. In addition, federal tax law permits mortgage guaranty insurance companies to deduct from taxable income, subject to certain limitations, the amounts added to contingency loss reserves. As a result of operating losses in 2007 and 2008, the previously established contingency reserve was released earlier than the scheduled ten years in an amount that offset the operating loss for federal tax reporting purposes. Accordingly, the previously purchased ten-year non-interest bearing United States Mortgage Guaranty Tax and Loss Bonds ("Tax and Loss Bonds") associated with the contingency reserve release were redeemed earlier than originally scheduled. The redemption of Tax and Loss Bonds primarily occurred in 2007 and 2008 and an immaterial amount was redeemed during 2009. As of December 31, 2009, Triad did not hold any Tax and Loss Bonds. We expect operating losses for tax purposes to continue and net operating loss carry forwards to be generated for federal income tax reporting purposes for which it will be unable to receive any immediate benefit in its statement of operations.

TGAC, organized as a subsidiary of TGIC under the insurance laws of the state of Illinois in December 1994, is subject to all Illinois insurance regulatory requirements applicable to TGIC.

Triad Re, a wholly-owned sponsored captive reinsurance company, was organized as a subsidiary of Triad under the insurance laws of the state of Vermont in November 1999. During 2009, the only participating reinsurer in Triad Re commuted its captive reinsurance agreement. As a result, Triad Re was liquidated in the fourth quarter of 2009.

TGIC and TGAC are each subject to examination of their affairs by the insurance departments of every state in which they are licensed to transact business. The Department periodically conducts financial condition examinations of insurance companies domiciled in Illinois and the results of the examinations are filed with all state insurance departments. The most recent examination of TGIC and TGAC for the fiscal years 2004 through 2007 was concluded in August 2008, and no adjustments or material recommendations were needed as a result of this examination.

Insurance departments of certain states generally prohibit the writing of new business if an insurer's net risk in force is greater than 25 times the insurer's total policyholders' surplus. This restriction is commonly known as the risk-to-capital requirement. Recently, certain state insurance regulators have specifically allowed mortgage insurers to reduce the risk outstanding by the amount of risk in default, for which reserves have been provided, in their calculation of risk-to-capital. The Department has not specifically permitted this practice. The Department has additional restrictions that limit our ability to write new business. At December 31, 2009, Triad's risk-to-capital ratio was 73.5-to-1. We ceased issuing commitments for mortgage insurance on July 15, 2008.

TGI and Triad are also indirectly impacted by regulations affecting purchasers of mortgage loans, such as the GSEs, and regulations affecting governmental insurers, such as the FHA and the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA"), as well as regulations affecting lenders. Triad is highly dependent upon federal housing legislation and other laws and regulations that affect the housing market. The GSEs were placed into conservatorship by the FHFA in August 2008. Furthermore, recent government initiatives to address the disruptions in the capital markets, the decline in home prices and increasing foreclosures involve the operations of the GSEs and the FHA. As of the date of this annual report on Form 10-K, we are unable to predict the impact that these recent government initiatives and the conservatorship of the GSEs will have on our future results of operations and prospects. Additional federal or state government regulations could be announced that may further affect our operations, either positively or negatively.

See "Corrective Orders" and "Recent Government Initiatives" under this Item 1 for additional information about regulatory restrictions and initiatives.

Available Information

Our web site is www.triadguaranty.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our web site does not constitute part of this annual report on Form 10-K. We have included our web site address as a factual reference and do not intend it as an active link to our web site. Through our web site we make available, free of charge, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after this material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). This material may be accessed by visiting the Investors/SEC Filings section of our web site at www.triadguaranty.com. These filings are also accessible on the SEC's website, www.sec.gov. You may read and copy any materials the Company files with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at (800) 732-0330.

Employees

As of February 26, 2010, we employed approximately 108 persons, with 106 persons being employed full-time. Employees are not covered by any collective bargaining agreement. We consider our employee relations to be satisfactory.

Executive Officers of the Registrant and its Primary Subsidiaries

Our executive officers are as follows:

Name	Position	Age
Kenneth W. Jones	President, Chief Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer of TGI and Triad and Director of Triad	52
Kenneth S. Dwyer	Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of TGI and Triad	59
Shirley A. Gaddy	Senior Vice President, Operations of Triad	57
Steven J. Haferman		48
Earl F. Wall	Senior Vice President, Secretary, and General Counsel of TGI and Triad and Director of Triad	52

Kenneth W. Jones has served as our President and Chief Executive Officer since October 2008, and also serves as our principal financial officer. Prior to his current position, Mr. Jones served as our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from April 2006 to October 2008. Mr. Jones has over 25 years of experience in the financial management of companies. Prior to joining Triad, he was employed by RBC Liberty Insurance Corporation, where he served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from November 2000 to December 2005. Previously, Mr. Jones was associated with The Liberty Corporation, where he held a number of management positions, most recently Vice President, Controller and Acting Chief Financial Officer. Before joining The Liberty Corporation, Mr. Jones was employed by Ernst & Young LLP for 14 years.

Kenneth S. Dwyer has served as our Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer since September 2003. Previously, Mr. Dwyer served as Vice President and Controller of Jefferson — Pilot Financial from 1997 to 2003. Prior to that, he was the Vice President and Controller of Pan-American Life Insurance. Before joining Pan-American Life, Mr. Dwyer was employed at Deloitte & Touche, LLP for 20 years.

Shirley A. Gaddy joined us in 1996 and has served as our Senior Vice President, Operations since April 2002. Previously, Ms. Gaddy was employed by Life of the South from 1995 to 1996 as Assistant Vice President. She was with Integon Life Insurance Corporation from March 1972 to December 1994, most recently as Assistant Vice President, Manager Credit Insurance. Ms. Gaddy has been in the insurance/mortgage industry for over 37 years.

Stephen J. Haferman has served as our Senior Vice President, Strategic Initiatives since July 2008. Previously, Mr. Haferman served as Vice President, Risk Management and Information Technology from March 2006 to July 2008. Mr. Haferman was previously employed by Cheryl and Company from February 2003 to March 2006, where he served as Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer. From June 2001 to January 2003, Mr. Haferman was employed by American Electric Power as Vice President, Marketing Information Management. From 1992 to 2001, he worked for Bank One Corporation in a number of divisions and a variety of senior management positions, including Senior Vice President, Direct Marketing for Bank One Retail; Senior Vice President, Technology Program Manager, Bank One Retail; and Vice President, Risk Department Manager. From 1988 to 1992, he worked for National City Bank where he was Risk Manager.

Earl F. Wall has served as our Senior Vice President since November 1999, General Counsel since January 1996, and Secretary since June 1996. Mr. Wall also served as a Vice President of TGI and Triad from 1996 until 1999. From 1982 to 1995, Mr. Wall was employed by Integon Life Insurance Corporation in a number of capacities including Vice President, Associate General Counsel, and Director of Integon Life Insurance Corporation and Georgia International Life Insurance Corporation, Vice President and General Counsel of Integon Mortgage Guaranty Insurance Corporation, and Vice President, General Counsel, and Director of Marketing One, Inc.

Officers of the Company serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our results could be affected by the risk factors discussed below. These factors may also cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by forward-looking statements made by us in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" or elsewhere. Investors should consider these factors carefully in reading this annual report on Form 10-K.

We reported a deficit in assets under GAAP at December 31, 2009 of \$706 million. In order to overcome this deficit in assets, our future net income on the remaining insurance in force must exceed \$706 million during the run-off period. There is substantial risk that the future net income during the run-off period will not exceed this amount, which could result in the institution of receivership proceedings for Triad and subsequently could lead us to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws.

During 2009, our GAAP net loss for the year amounted to \$596 million, which resulted in an accumulated deficit in assets of \$706 million at December 31, 2009. In order to overcome this deficit in assets, our future revenue in run-off must exceed future losses and expenses by at least \$706 million. Our total operating revenue, excluding realized investment gains and losses, declined to \$236 million in 2009 from \$297 million in 2008. Because we no longer write new mortgage insurance, we project our revenue will continue to decline as our insurance in force declines. Total losses and expenses also declined in 2009 to \$849 million from \$1,025 million in 2008. The uncertainty concerning future defaults makes it difficult to accurately predict the amount of our future losses and expenses, particularly in later years.

One of the most significant components of our net loss has been the increase in the reserve for losses. We calculate our best estimate of the reserve for losses to provide for the estimated ultimate costs of settling claims on loans reported in default, and loans in default that are in the process of being reported to us, as of the date of our financial statements. Our reserving process incorporates various components in a model that gives effect to current economic conditions and segments defaults by a variety of criteria. Frequency and severity are the two most significant assumptions in the establishment of our loss reserves. During 2009, we refined both the frequency and severity factors based upon actual settled loss development over the past year, and our expectation for future development. Economic conditions in the housing and mortgage industries continue to be depressed and we do not anticipate a meaningful recovery in the near-term. As a result of the current economic conditions, our loss mitigation opportunities remain limited.

The actual amount of our claim settlements may be substantially different from our loss reserve estimates. Our estimates could be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, further declines in home prices, specifically in certain geographic regions that have experienced only modest declines to date, continuing increases in the unemployment rate, and a decrease in the realized rescission rates compared to those utilized in our reserve methodology. Changes to our estimates of reserves could result in a significant impact to our results of operations and our deficit in assets, even in a stable economic environment.

If we are unable to satisfy TGI's future debt service obligations, TGI would likely be forced to seek bankruptcy protection, which would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows, and would effectively eliminate all remaining stockholder value.

In 1998, TGI completed a \$35.0 million private offering of notes with a single maturity of January 15, 2028. TGI contributed \$25.0 million of the net proceeds from the sale of the notes to Triad in exchange for a surplus note. The \$35.0 million outstanding long-term debt and \$2.8 million annual debt service are the obligations of TGI and not Triad. Historically, the primary source of funds for the TGI debt service has been the \$2.2 million of interest paid annually by Triad to TGI on the \$25.0 million surplus note. The terms of the \$25.0 million surplus note at Triad restrict the accrual or payment of interest if the statutory surplus at the time the scheduled interest payment is due falls below the level of the statutory surplus at origination of the surplus note. In the second quarter of 2008, the statutory surplus fell below the balance at origination of the surplus note and has remained below the balance, effectively prohibiting the payment of interest. Additionally, the Corrective Orders prohibit the payment of interest or principal on the surplus note without the prior approval of the Department. TGI has limited assets and even more limited sources of revenues. At this time, we do not expect that TGI will receive any further interest payments from Triad on the surplus note for the foreseeable future. In 2009, TGI wrote off the \$25 million surplus note and reversed

accrued interest of \$4.4 million on its financial statements as an other-than-temporary impairment. This other-than-temporary impairment did not affect TGI's consolidated results of operations. Without the payment of interest from Triad on the \$25.0 million surplus note, TGI's ability to pay its \$2.8 million annual debt service obligation is limited to its cash and invested assets, which amounted to an aggregate of approximately \$8.7 million as of December 31, 2009. Unless other sources of funds are obtained by TGI, TGI will likely default in the payment of interest due under its \$35 million notes within the next three years.

Additionally, Triad has historically reimbursed TGI for operating expenses incurred on behalf of the operating subsidiary under terms of a capital management agreement. Terms of the Corrective Orders require the approval of the Department for all intercompany transactions. Excluding the annual debt service obligations of \$2.8 million, TGI's cash expenses for 2009 were approximately \$1.9 million and all requested reimbursements were approved by the Department. However, if we are unable to obtain the Department's approval for Triad to reimburse future operating costs of TGI, then the limited assets of TGI will dissipate at a much greater pace, which would further jeopardize the ability of TGI to make the required interest payments on its \$35.0 million notes.

If TGI is unable to make the required debt service payments to the holders of the notes, it may be forced to seek protection under U.S. bankruptcy laws. A bankruptcy filing by TGI would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and would likely eliminate all remaining stockholder value.

Triad is operating under two Corrective Orders issued by the Department. Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders may result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings.

Triad has entered into two Corrective Orders with the Department. The first Corrective Order was entered into on August 5, 2008 and was implemented as a result of our decision to cease writing new mortgage guaranty insurance and to commence a run-off of our existing insurance in force. The second Corrective Order became effective on March 31, 2009, as amended on May 26, 2009, and was implemented in anticipation of Triad reporting a deficiency in policyholders' surplus under SAP at March 31, 2009 and to prevent the Department from having to seek receivership of Triad following the reporting of those results.

These Corrective Orders, among other things, include restrictions on the distribution of dividends or interest on notes payable to TGI by Triad, allow management to continue to operate Triad under close supervision, and include restrictions on the payment of claims. Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders or any other violation of the Illinois Insurance Code may result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings, including receivership proceedings for the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of Triad. If the Department were to seek receivership of Triad, TGI could be compelled to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws which would likely eliminate all remaining stockholder value.

The adverse conditions in the housing and mortgage markets and the high level of unemployment continue to have a negative impact on the development of the loans we insure. Although we regularly review and consider our methodology for recording our loss reserve estimates, these estimates are subject to uncertainties and are based on assumptions that we are required to make during this time of substantial economic uncertainty. As a result, settled claims may ultimately be substantially different than the loss reserves that we have recorded and such differences may have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Cure rates over the last year have decreased dramatically from the previous historically low levels of 2008. Additionally, during 2009 default rates increased and home price declines outside of our traditional distressed markets accelerated. In response to these developing economic trends, in 2009 we raised the frequency and severity assumptions utilized in our methodology for recording loss reserve estimates. Although our recorded loss reserves at December 31, 2009 reflect our best estimates as of such date, settled claims could be substantially different from the loss reserves that have been recorded and could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We calculate our best estimate of the reserve for losses to provide for the estimated ultimate costs of settling claims on loans reported in default, and loans in default that are in the process of being reported to us, as of the date of our financial statements. Our reserving process incorporates various components in a model that gives effect to current economic conditions and segments defaults by a variety of criteria. The criteria include, among others,

policy year, lender, geography, the number of months the loan has been in default, the probability the policy may be rescinded for underwriting violations, as well as whether the defaults were underwritten as flow business or as part of a structured bulk transaction.

Frequency and severity are the two most significant assumptions in the establishment of our loss reserves. Frequency is used to estimate the ultimate number of paid claims associated with the current inventory of loans in default. The frequency estimate assumes that historical experience, taking into consideration criteria such as those described in the preceding paragraph, and adjusted for current economic conditions that we believe will significantly impact the long-term loss development, provides a reasonable basis for forecasting the number of claims that will be paid. An important consideration in determining the frequency factor is the cure rate. In general, the cure rate is the percentage of reported defaults that ultimately are brought current (1) through payments of all past due amounts or (2) by disposing of the property securing the mortgage before foreclosure with no claim ever being filed because the proceeds of the sale satisfied the mortgage. During 2009, our cure rate continued its decline as home prices declined or remained depressed and the ability to dispose of the property through a sale before foreclosure diminished. If our assumptions regarding anticipated cure rates as well as other considerations used in the frequency factor vary from those actually experienced in the future, actual paid claims on the existing delinquent loans may exceed the reserves that we have established and require an additional charge to results of operations.

A growing consideration in the establishment of our frequency factor assumptions during 2009 was the impact of rescissions. Generally, a loan that is reported to be in default within the first 23 months of insurance is classified as an Early Payment Default (EPD) although we may investigate certain loans in default for non-compliance with programs, fraud or misrepresentation without regard to the length of time since the loan was insured. Terms of our master policies allow us to rescind coverage on an EPD for fraud or program violations that occurred during the mortgage loan origination process. When a certificate is rescinded, the treatment is similar to a cure for reserving purposes and we no longer provide a reserve on that loan. Due to the unusually high levels of rescissions on EPDs for which we have completed our investigation, our reserving methodology incorporates an expected rescission percentage on the EPDs that we are in the process of investigating. If our assumptions regarding anticipated rescission rates used in the frequency factor vary from those actually experienced in the future, actual paid claims on the existing delinquent loans may exceed the reserves that we have established and require an additional subsequent charge to results of operations.

Severity is the estimate of the dollar amount per claim that will be paid. The severity factors are estimates of the percentage of the risk in default that will ultimately be paid. The severity factors used in setting loss reserves are based on an analysis of the severity rates of recently paid claims, applied to the risk in force of the loans currently in default. An important component in the establishment of the severity factor is the expected value of the underlying home for a loan in default compared to the outstanding mortgage loan amount. If our assumptions regarding anticipated house prices as well as other considerations used in the severity factor vary from those actually experienced in the future, actual paid claims on the existing delinquent loans may exceed the reserves that we have established and require an additional charge to results of operations.

The frequency and severity factors are updated quarterly to respond to the most recent data. The estimation of loss reserves requires assumptions as to future events, and there are inherent risks and uncertainties involved in making these assumptions. Economic conditions that have affected the development of loss reserves in the past may not necessarily affect development patterns in the future in either a similar manner or degree. To the extent that possible future adverse economic conditions such as declining cure rates or declining housing prices alter those historical frequency and severity patterns, actual paid claims on the existing delinquent loans may be greater than the reserves that we have provided and require a charge to results of operations.

There is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

We have prepared our financial statements on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. However, there is substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. This uncertainty is based on the ability of Triad to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders, our recurring losses from operations and our deficit in assets at December 31, 2009. Our financial statements included in this annual report do not include any adjustments relating

to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or amounts of liabilities that might be necessary should we be unable to continue in existence.

The report of our independent registered public accounting firm dated March 17, 2010 on our consolidated financial statements for the two years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 notes that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we sold our information technology and operating platform to Essent Guaranty, Inc. ("Essent"), a new mortgage insurer, for up to \$30 million in cash and the assumption by Essent of certain contractual obligations. Furthermore, a number of our former information technology and operations employees have joined Essent. Under a services agreement, Essent is to provide us with ongoing information technology services, customer service and policy administration support. This transaction provides for potential additional risk including: (1) the future collection of both the fixed and contingent payments; and (2) the outsourcing of services vital to an efficient run-off.

Under the terms of the agreement, Essent acquired all of our proprietary mortgage insurance software and substantially all of the supporting hardware, as well as certain other assets, in exchange for up to \$30 million in cash and the assumption by Essent of certain contractual obligations. Approximately \$15 million of the consideration is fixed and up to an additional \$15 million is contingent on Essent writing a certain minimum amount of insurance in the five-year period following closing. If Essent is unable to write this minimum amount, we would not receive the additional \$15 million of the contingent purchase price which could impact our future cash flows.

As part of our agreement with Essent, substantially all of our former information technology, customer service, and policy administration support employees have joined Essent. Under a services agreement, these along with other Essent employees will provide ongoing information systems maintenance and services, customer service and policy administration support to Triad while also providing these services for Essent. These services are vital to our success in run-off and we no longer have direct management over these employees. While the services agreement contains service level requirements and other terms designed to ensure sufficient performance, the enforcement of such conditions could prove difficult and costly. Our financial condition and results of operation could be adversely impacted if the services provided are insufficient or not provided in a timely manner.

Our financial condition at December 31, 2009 has benefited substantially from significant rescission activity and denial of claims. If we do not continue to realize benefits from rescissions and denials at similar levels, or our ability to rescind or deny coverage were successfully challenged in litigation, then our financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We have experienced a significant increase in recent years in rescission activity and, to a lesser extent, claim denials and expect to rescind additional policies and deny claims in the future as we continue to investigate early payment defaults and identify instances of fraud, misrepresentation or other violations of our master policies. There can be no assurance that future rescissions and denials, which have positively impacted the level of our loss reserves at December 31, 2009, will continue to be realized at levels similar to 2009.

Any decision to rescind coverage may be challenged by the policyholder. Challenges to our decision to rescind or deny coverage may occur months or years after such decision was made and policyholders may challenge a decision multiple times. The increased level of rescission and denial activity by mortgage insurers has caused certain policyholders and loan servicers to institute legal actions to challenge the validity of rescissions and claim denials, and we are currently a defendant in two such proceedings.

On December 11, 2009, American Home Mortgage Servicing filed a complaint against Triad for damages, declaratory relief, and injunction in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas. The complaint alleges that Triad denied payment on legitimate claims on 15 mortgage insurance loans and seeks damages, a declaration that our mortgage insurance policies prohibit denial of claim without evidence of harm, and an injunction against future like denials.

On March 5, 2010, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Los Angeles County Superior Court of the State of California alleging breach of contract and seeking a declaratory judgment that bulk rescissions of flow loans is improper and that Triad is improperly rescinding loans under the terms of its master policies.

We believe it is likely that other lenders and mortgage servicers will challenge the ability of mortgage insurers to rescind and deny coverage, including the filing of additional lawsuits. While we intend to vigorously defend the two lawsuits described above and believe our rescissions and claim denials are wholly permissible under the terms of our master policies, other program documents and applicable law, no assurance can be given that we will be successful in the defense of these suits. An adverse court declaratory judgment regarding the interpretation of a master policy provision or the impermissibility of basing a rescission or claim denial on particular originator, lender or servicer conduct could set a precedent that has the effect of significantly restricting or limiting our ability to rescind policies and deny coverage of claims. This could result not only from legal proceedings in which we are the defendant, but also from suits pending against other mortgage insurers that are addressing policy provisions or the permissibility of rescission and denial practices that are similar to our own. Our liquidity, cash flow and financial performance would be adversely affected if our ability to rescind coverage or deny claim liability is materially limited or impaired in the future as a result of these legal challenges by policyholders and servicers.

Our operating cash flow consists of net premium received plus investment income less losses and expenses paid. In 2009, we experienced a deficit in operating cash flow of \$135 million. We have repositioned our investment portfolio in an attempt to match anticipated maturities with our expected cash flow needs. If the proceeds from maturities of securities coupled with other sources are insufficient to cover operating cash flow deficits, we could be forced to liquidate securities which, depending on market conditions, may result in unanticipated realized investment losses.

As it became evident early in 2008 that we would no longer be able to achieve tax benefits from the tax-exempt income provided by municipal securities, we developed a strategy to liquidate those securities and convert to higher-yielding taxable bonds. At the same time we were repositioning the portfolio to a higher yielding taxable portfolio, we also shortened the maturity of our portfolio to better match our expected cash needs resulting from the anticipated increase in claims. If our planned matching of investment maturities to anticipated cash needs fails to provide sufficient cash flow, then we could be forced to liquidate securities prior to maturity, which may result in unanticipated realized investment losses.

Consistent with industry practice, we provide reserves only for loans in default rather than on our estimate of the ultimate loss for all insured loans. As such, our results of operations in certain periods could be disproportionately affected by the timing of reported defaults.

Reserves are provided for the estimated ultimate costs of settling claims on both loans reported in default and loans in default that are in the process of being reported to us. We generally do not establish reserves until we are notified that a borrower has failed to make at least two payments when due. During 2009, the loans in default reported to us for which we provide gross reserves grew by 17,489 (43% increase) to 57,775 at December 31, 2009. GAAP precludes us from establishing loss reserves for future claims on insured loans that are not currently in default. As a result, our financial statements do not reflect our expected loss from policies not in default. An increase in the number of loans in default would require additional reserves and a charge to results of operations as they are reported to us.

Since 2007, the United States housing market has experienced a significant amount of home price depreciation which has had a direct negative impact on our results of operations and financial condition. During 2009, home prices continued to decline in the first half of the year, and while the decline moderated in the second half of the year, home prices generally remained depressed in most markets. If home prices continue to decline on a more significant or expanded geographic basis than what we have experienced to date, we may incur a higher level of losses from paid claims and also be required to increase our loss reserves on those defaults reported to us at December 31, 2009.

Previously, a primary component of our loss mitigation efforts included selling a property prior to foreclosure as well as purchasing the property in lieu of paying the coverage percentage specified in the insurance policy. The decline in home prices has negatively affected both of these mitigation options as the fair value of many of the borrowers' homes is actually less than the outstanding mortgage. If home values fail to appreciate or decline on a more significant and expanded geographic basis, the frequency of loans going into default and eventually resulting in a paid claim could increase and our ability to mitigate our losses on mortgages may be further reduced, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Because a significant portion of our business is sensitive to interest rates, a large increase in rates would cause higher monthly mortgage payments for certain borrowers that could potentially lead to a greater number of defaults, which would adversely impact our business.

At December 31, 2009, approximately 27.5% of our Primary gross risk in force and approximately 67.8% of our Modified Pool gross risk in force was comprised of adjustable-rate mortgage loans or "ARMs." Monthly payments on these loans are altered periodically through an adjustment of the interest rate. Many ARMs have a fixed interest rate for a stated period of time before being subjected to interest rate adjustments. As a result, some ARMs that we insure have not yet been subject to an interest rate adjustment. In periods of rising interest rates, a borrower's monthly payment with an ARM will most likely increase. A large increase in interest rates over a short period of time could lead to "payment shocks" for borrowers that could potentially lead to more reported defaults.

At December 31, 2009, approximately 11.0% of our Primary gross risk in force and 14.1% of our Modified Pool gross risk in force was comprised of pay option ARMs with the potential for negative amortization on the loan. These loans provide borrowers the option, for a stated period of time, to make monthly payments that do not cover the interest due on the loan. If the borrower chooses this payment option, the unpaid interest is added to the outstanding loan amount, which creates negative amortization. These pay option ARM loans may have a heightened propensity to default because of possible "payment shocks" after the initial low-payment period expires and because the borrower does not automatically build equity through loan amortization as payments are made. We already have experienced a substantially higher default rate on pay option ARMs than the remainder of our portfolio, even before many of these loans were scheduled to shift to amortizing payments. The risk of default may be further increased if the interest rate paid during the payment option period is significantly below current market rates. Additionally, the lack of long-term historical performance data associated with pay option ARMs across all market conditions makes it difficult to project performance and could increase the volatility of the estimates used in our reserve models. If interest rates increase and cause "payment shocks" to borrowers with ARMs, our default rate could increase, and this could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operating results.

Geographic concentration of our risk in force in certain distressed markets has resulted in increased defaults and higher risk in default from the significantly larger balances on mortgage loans in these states. Ongoing house price depreciation in these distressed markets could lead to further increases in reserves and paid claims, which could further negatively impact our financial performance.

At December 31, 2009, our risk in force for California, Florida, Arizona and Nevada, which we classify as "distressed markets," represented approximately 32% of our gross risk in force on a per policy basis. These distressed markets have experienced some of the most rapid home price depreciation since 2007 coupled with some of the highest foreclosure rates when compared to the rest of the country. Moreover, they represented 53% of our risk in default and 55% of our gross loss reserves. The default rate at December 31, 2009 in these distressed markets was 36.7% compared to 14.9% for the remainder of our portfolio excluding these distressed markets. If the housing markets remain at these depressed levels or drop further due to anticipated additional foreclosures for an extended period of time, we could experience even greater additional adverse effects on our operating results and financial condition due to the large concentration of our business in these distressed markets.

A large portion of our insurance in force consists of loans with high loan-to-value ratios, which could result in a greater number of defaults and larger claims than loans with lower loan-to-value ratios during and following periods of declining home prices.

At December 31, 2009, approximately 17.3% of our mortgage insurance in force consisted of insurance on mortgage loans with LTVs at origination greater than 95%. During and following periods of rapidly declining home prices such as occurred in 2007 and 2008, these loans have a greater propensity to default due to the decline in borrower's equity. Loans with greater than 95% LTV at origination have experienced a significantly greater default rate than lower LTVs as of December 31, 2009. Many of the high LTV loans also contain other risk factors such as geographic location in distressed markets and were originated with reduced documentation. Faced with mortgages that are greater than the value of the home, a number of borrowers are simply abandoning the property and walking away from the mortgage, without regard to their ability to pay. This limits the ability of the servicer to work with the borrowers to avoid defaults and foreclosure and increases the imbalance of the housing inventory for sale, which in

turn further depresses home prices. If we are required to pay a claim on a high LTV loan, our loss mitigation opportunities are limited during these periods of declining home prices and we generally are required to pay the full option payment, which is the highest amount that we could pay under our contracts with lenders. If we experience an increased rate of default and paid claims on high LTV loans, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Because we generally cannot cancel mortgage insurance policies or adjust renewal premiums due to changing economic conditions, unanticipated defaults and claims could cause our financial performance to suffer significantly.

We generally cannot cancel the mortgage insurance coverage that we provide or adjust renewal premiums during the life of a mortgage insurance policy, even as economic factors change. As a result, the impact of unanticipated changes, such as declining home prices and high levels of unemployment, generally cannot be offset by premium increases on policies in force or cancellation of insurance coverage. The premiums we charge may not be adequate to compensate us for the risks and costs associated with the insurance coverage provided to our customers, especially in distressed financial markets. An increase in the number or size of unanticipated defaults and claims could adversely affect our financial condition and operating results because we could not cancel existing policies or increase renewal premiums.

Our loss experience may increase as our policies continue to age.

Historically, we expected the majority of claims on insured loans in our portfolio to occur during the second through the fifth years after loan origination. However, in recent years, we experienced an earlier default and claim pattern. Previously, almost all of our loss experience would be complete after the fifth year as rising home prices over a five year period generally provided the borrower with enough equity to avoid foreclosure. However, with the unprecedented decline in home prices over the past three years, many borrowers now find themselves with no remaining equity, even with a significant down payment at origination. During 2009, we had an increase in the default rates for the 2003 through 2005 vintage years, which are books of business where previously we were expecting declines in the default rates. We believe our loss experience may increase as our policies age as a result of the significant decline in house prices over the last three years. If the claim frequency on our risk in force significantly exceeds the claim frequency that was assumed in setting our premium rates, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

If we failed to properly underwrite mortgage loans when we provided contract underwriting services, we may be required to provide monetary and other remedies to the customer.

Under the terms of our contract underwriting agreements, we agreed to indemnify the participating lender against losses incurred in the event that we failed to properly underwrite a loan in accordance with the lender's underwriting guidelines, subject to contractual limitations on liability. The indemnification may be in the form of monetary or other remedies. As a result, we assumed risk in connection with our contract underwriting services. Factors that could affect the performance of loans for which we contract underwrote, including but not limited to worsening economic conditions and falling home prices, could cause our contract underwriting liabilities to increase and have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Although we have established a reserve to provide for potential claims in connection with our contract underwriting services, we have limited historical experience in establishing reserves for these potential liabilities, and these reserves may not be adequate to cover liabilities that may arise.

If our lender partners for which we have entered into captive reinsurance arrangements cannot or choose not to fulfill their financial obligations, our benefits under the captive reinsurance treaties will be limited to the trust balances maintained within the reinsurance structures, which could have an adverse impact on our future results of operations.

An integral component of the reinsurance treaties includes trust accounts, which are established to support a portion of the reinsurer's obligations. As defaults increase and we reach the point where the attachment point is exceeded for individual vintage years, we cede reserves to the captive. When reserves are initially ceded to the captive, the requirement for additional trust balances generally increases. When the need for additional trust balances cannot be met through ceded reinsurance premiums, terms of our captive risk-sharing arrangements generally do not require additional capital contributions by the lender. Most lenders have not contributed any

additional capital that would allow these captive reinsurance structures to remain viable. As a result, at December 31, 2009, approximately \$131 million of additional reserves could have been ceded to lender captives if they had contributed more capital. We expect these captive structures will be of limited benefit going forward and, as a result, could have adverse financial results on our operations.

Loan servicers have experienced a significant increase in their workload due to the rapid growth in defaults and foreclosures. If the loan servicer fails to act proactively with delinquent borrowers in an effort to avoid foreclosure, then the number of delinquent loans eventually resulting in a paid claim could increase.

The loan servicer maintains the primary contact with the borrowers throughout the life of the loan but we can become involved with any potential loss mitigation. During periods of declining home prices and increased delinquencies, such as that currently being experienced in the mortgage business, it is important to us that the servicer is proactive in dealing with borrowers rather than simply allowing the loan to go to foreclosure. Historically, when a servicer becomes involved at an earlier stage of delinquency with workout programs and credit counseling, there is a greater likelihood that the loan will not go to foreclosure and will not result in a claim. During periods of increasing delinquencies, it becomes extremely important that the servicer be properly staffed and trained to assist borrowers to avoid foreclosure. From our perspective, it is also extremely important to involve us as part of the loss mitigation effort as early as possible. If loan servicers do not properly staff and train their personnel or enlist our assistance in loss mitigation efforts, then the number of loans going to foreclosure may increase, resulting in a greater number of claims that we are required to pay, which will have an adverse impact on our future operating results.

Triad is operating in run-off under Corrective Orders from the Department and the outlook for the legacy mortgage insurance industry remains uncertain. Maintaining experienced staff is critical to achieving a successful run-off.

We undertook significant actions in 2008 to eliminate all sales, marketing, and underwriting personnel as well as a number of personnel supporting those functions as we transitioned into run-off. In order to retain our key personnel, we have established a severance plan and a retention plan, both of which currently expire in 2012. The very nature of run-off, as well as the ongoing negative news related to the mortgage markets, has introduced a heightened level of stress and uncertainty among our remaining employees. If we fail to adopt or gain approval from the Department to replace severance or retention plans, we may be unable to keep key personnel. The loss of any key personnel could limit our ability to properly execute an efficient and effective run-off.

Loan modification and other similar programs may not provide material benefits to us.

The U.S. Treasury as well as several lenders have adopted programs to modify loans to make them more affordable to borrowers with the goal of reducing the number of foreclosures. At December 31, 2009, we had been notified of modifications involving loans with risk in force of approximately \$263 million.

One such program is the HAMP, which was announced by the US Treasury in early 2009. Some of HAMP's eligibility criteria require current information about borrowers, such as their current income and non-mortgage debt payments. Because the GSEs and servicers do not share such information with us, we cannot adequately determine with any degree of certainty the number of loans in our delinquent inventory that are eligible to participate in HAMP. Further, it takes several months from the time a borrower has made all of the payments during HAMP's three month "trial modification" period for the loan to be reported to us as a cured delinquency. We have been notified that approximately 8,000 of the loans that we insure were in some stage of participation in HAMP, although very few have successfully completed the trial modification period. We rely on information concerning HAMP provided to us by the GSEs and servicers. We do not receive all of the information from such sources that is required to determine with certainty the number of loans that are participating in, or have successfully completed, HAMP.

Even if a loan is modified, the effect on us of loan modifications depends on how many modified loans subsequently re-default, which in turn can be affected by changes in house prices. Re-defaults can result in losses for us that could be greater than we would have paid had the loan not been modified. Currently, we cannot predict with a high degree of confidence what the ultimate re-default rate will be, and, therefore, we cannot ascertain with confidence whether these programs will provide material benefits to us. In addition, because we do not know all of the parameters used to determine which loans are eligible for modification programs, our estimates of the number of

loans qualifying for modification programs are inherently uncertain. If legislation is enacted to permit a mortgage balance to be reduced in bankruptcy, we would still be responsible to pay the original balance if the borrower redefaulted on that mortgage after its balance had been reduced. Various government entities and private parties have enacted foreclosure moratoriums. A moratorium does not affect the accrual of interest and other expenses on a loan. Unless a loan is modified during a moratorium to cure the default, at the expiration of the moratorium additional interest and expenses would be due which could result in our losses on loans subject to the moratorium being higher than if there had been no moratorium.

We delisted our common stock from The NASDAQ Global Select Market ("NASDAQ") on December 28, 2009 and our common stock is currently traded on the OTC Bulletin Board ("OTCBB") and the Pink Sheets® Electronic OTC Market ("Pink Sheets"). Our move from NASDAQ to the OTCBB and Pink Sheets could result in reduced liquidity for our stockholders or otherwise make it more difficult for them to execute transactions in our common stock.

NASDAQ is a stock exchange that has specific quantitative and qualitative listing and maintenance standards. Companies listed on NASDAQ have reporting obligations and maintain an ongoing regulatory relationship with NASDAQ. The OTCBB and the Pink Sheets facilitate quotation of securities not listed on an exchange and have very few quantitative or qualitative listing or maintenance standards, although companies traded on the OTCBB must remain current in their filings with the SEC.

Since December 28, 2009, the average daily trading volume of our common stock has decreased by approximately 77% compared to the year-to-date period ended December 24, 2009. Furthermore, our common stock has experienced large relative price swings on minimal volume since delisting. We believe the liquidity of our common stock has been adversely affected as a result of the delisting from NASDAQ and it has become more difficult for investors to trade our common stock. If the small trading volumes on the OTCBB and Pink Sheets persist or decline even further, our stockholders could face periods of reduced liquidity for our common stock.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 101 South Stratford Road, Winston-Salem, NC 27104. This five-story office building totals 79,254 square feet and we currently lease approximately 68,932 square feet under a lease that will expire in 2012. All staff functions are located within this office complex. We currently sublease space on two floors of this facility to Essent, totaling approximately 20,937 square feet under a sublease that will expire in 2012. We believe this property is suitable and adequate for its present circumstances.

On December 1, 2009, we completed the sale of our information technology and operating platform, including substantially all of our computer hardware to Essent. We also entered into a service agreement on December 1, 2009 with Essent to provide systems maintenance and development services, including disaster recovery services and certain other technology services.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in litigation and other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business as well as the matters identified below.

On September 4, 2009, Triad filed a complaint against AHM in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware seeking rescission of multiple master mortgage guaranty insurance policies ("master policies") and declaratory relief. The complaint seeks relief from AHM as well as all owners of loans insured under the master policies by way of a defendant class action. Triad alleged that AHM failed to follow the delegated insurance underwriting guidelines approved by Triad, that this failure breached the master policies as well as the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and that these breaches were so substantial and fundamental that the intent of the master policies could not be fulfilled and Triad should be excused from its obligations under the master policies. The total amount of risk originated under the AHM master policies, accounting for any applicable stop loss

limits associated with modified pool contracts, was \$1.6 billion, of which \$1.1 billion remains in force at December 31, 2009. Triad continues to accept premiums and process claims under the master policies but, as a result of this action, Triad ceased remitting claim payments to companies servicing loans originated by AHM. Both premiums and claim payments subsequent to the filing of the complaint have been segregated pending resolution of this action. Triad has not recognized any benefit in its financial statements pending the outcome of the litigation.

On November 4, 2009, AHM filed an action in the Bankruptcy Court seeking to recover \$7.6 million of alleged preferential payments made to Triad. AHM alleges that such payments constitute a preference and are subject to recovery by the bankrupt estate. The time period in which to respond to this request has been tolled pending settlement discussions in the above-referenced AHM matter. In the event a settlement is not successfully concluded, Triad intends to vigorously defend this matter.

On December 11, 2009, American Home Mortgage Servicing filed a complaint against Triad for damages, declaratory relief, and injunction in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas. The complaint alleges that Triad denied payment on legitimate claims on 15 mortgage insurance loans and seeks damages, a declaration that our mortgage insurance policies prohibit denial of claim without evidence of harm, and an injunction against future like denials. Triad intends to vigorously defend this matter.

On February 6, 2009, James L. Phillips served a complaint against Triad Guaranty Inc., Mark K. Tonnesen and Kenneth W. Jones in the United States District Court, Middle District of North Carolina. The plaintiff purports to represent a class of persons who purchased or otherwise acquired the common stock of the Company between October 26, 2006 and April 1, 2008 and the complaint alleges violations of federal securities laws by the Company and two of its present or former officers. The court has appointed lead counsel for the plaintiff and an amended complaint was filed on June 22, 2009. We filed our motion to dismiss the amended complaint on August 21, 2009 and the plaintiff filed its opposition to the motion to dismiss on October 20, 2009. Our reply was filed on November 19, 2009 and we are awaiting the Court's decision on our motion to dismiss.

On March 5, 2010, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Los Angeles County Superior Court of the State of California alleging breach of contract and seeking a declaratory judgment that bulk rescissions of flow loans is improper and that Triad is improperly rescinding loans under the terms of its master policies. Triad intends to vigorously defend this matter.

Item 4. (Removed and Reserved).

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market information

The Company's common stock traded on The NASDAQ Global Select Market® ("NASDAQ") until December 28, 2009, at which time the Company's delisting from NASDAQ became effective. The Company's decision to delist its common stock from NASDAQ was primarily due to the Company's belief that it would not be able to maintain (or regain) compliance with certain required NASDAQ listing rules. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of the Company's common stock as reported by NASDAQ during the periods indicated.

			2009		2008			
					High	Low	High	Low
First Quarter								
Second Quar	ter			and I.	. \$1.40	\$0.16	\$ 5.43	\$0.73
Third Quarte	r	 			. \$1.82	\$0.58	\$ 4.49	\$0.35
Fourth Quart	er	 			. \$1.36	\$0.25	\$ 2.00	\$0.28

Effective December 28, 2009, the Company's common stock began trading on the OTC Bulletin Board® and the Pink Sheets® Electronic OTC Markets under the symbol "TGIC." At December 31, 2009, 15,258,128 shares were issued and outstanding.

Holders

As of March 1, 2010, the number of stockholders of record of the Company's common stock was approximately 301. In addition, there were approximately 3,490 beneficial owners of shares held by brokers and fiduciaries.

Dividends

Payments of future dividends are subject to declaration by the Company's Board of Directors. Payment of dividends is dependent on the ability of Triad to pay dividends to TGI. Under the Corrective Orders, Triad is prohibited from paying dividends to TGI without the prior approval of the Department. In addition, the insurance laws of the State of Illinois impose certain restrictions on dividends that an insurance subsidiary can pay its parent company. These restrictions, based on SAP, include requirements that dividends may be paid only out of statutory earned surplus and that limit the amount of dividends that may be paid without prior approval of the Department. In addition to these statutory limitations on dividends, Illinois regulations provide that a mortgage guaranty insurer may not declare any dividends except from undivided profits remaining on hand over and above the amount of its policyholder reserve. Currently, we have no intention to pay dividends. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources" in Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" for a more detailed discussion of dividend payment restrictions.

Issuer purchases of equity securities and unregistered sales of equity securities

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The information required by this Item 6 is not required to be provided by issuers that satisfy the definition of "smaller reporting company" under SEC rules.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion is intended to provide information that the Company believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of the Company's consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes contained herein. In addition, the current depressed market conditions in residential housing markets coupled with elevated unemployment rates have subjected our business, financial condition and results of operations to substantial risks, many of which are summarized under Item 1A. "Risk Factors," above, which should be read in conjunction with the following discussion.

Certain of the statements contained in this annual report on Form 10-K are "forward-looking statements" and are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements include estimates and assumptions related to economic, competitive, regulatory, operational and legislative developments and typically are identified by use of terms such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "predict," "potential," "continue" and similar words, although some forward-looking statements are expressed differently. These forward-looking statements are subject to change, uncertainty and circumstances that are, in many instances, beyond our control and they have been made based upon our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effect on us. Actual developments and their results could differ materially from those expected by us, depending on the outcome of a number of factors, including: the possibility that the Illinois Department of Insurance may take various actions regarding Triad if it does not operate its business in accordance with its revised financial and operating plan and the Corrective Orders, including seeking receivership proceedings; our ability to operate our business in run-off and maintain a solvent run-off; our ability to continue as a going concern; the possibility of general economic and business conditions that are different than anticipated; legislative, regulatory, and other similar developments; changes in interest rates, employment rates, the housing market, the mortgage industry and the stock market; the possibility that there will not be adequate interest in the Company's common stock to ensure efficient pricing; and the relevant factors described in Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and in the "Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995" section below, as well as in other reports and statements that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Forward-looking statements are based upon our current expectations and beliefs concerning future events and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect the impact of circumstances or events that arise after the date the forward-looking statements are made, except as required by the federal securities laws.

Overview

Triad Guaranty Inc. ("TGI") is a holding company that historically provided private mortgage insurance coverage in the United States through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation ("TGIC"). Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "Triad" in this annual report on Form 10-K refer to the operations of TGIC and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Assurance Corporation ("TGAC"). References to "we," "us," "our," and the "Company" refer collectively to the operations of TGI and Triad. TGIC is an Illinois-domiciled insurance company and TGAC is an Illinois-domiciled reinsurance company. The Illinois Department of Insurance (the "Insurance Department") is the primary regulator of both TGIC and TGAC. The Illinois Insurance Code grants broad powers to the Insurance Department and its director (collectively, the "Department") to enforce rules or exercise discretion over almost all significant aspects of our insurance business. Triad ceased issuing new commitments for mortgage guaranty insurance coverage on July 15, 2008 and is operating its remaining business in run-off. As used in this annual report on Form 10-K, the term "run-off" means writing no new mortgage insurance policies and continuing to service existing policies. Servicing includes: receiving premiums on policies that remain in force; cancelling coverage at the insured's request; terminating policies for non-payment of premium; working with borrowers in default to remedy the default and/or mitigate our loss; reviewing policies for the existence of misrepresentation, fraud or non-compliance with stated programs; and

settling all legitimate filed claims per the provisions of the two Corrective Orders issued by the Department. The first Corrective Order was issued in August 2008. The second Corrective Order was issued in March 2009 and subsequently amended in May 2009. These Corrective Orders, among other things, include restrictions on the distribution of dividends or interest on notes payable to TGI by Triad, allow management to continue to operate Triad under close supervision, and include restrictions on the payment of claims. Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders may result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings, including receivership proceedings for the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of Triad.

We have historically provided Primary and Modified Pool mortgage guaranty insurance coverage on U.S. residential mortgage loans. We classify insurance as Primary when we are in the first loss position and the loan-to-value amount, or LTV, is 80% or greater when the loan is first insured. We classify all other insurance as Modified Pool. The majority of our Primary insurance has been delivered through the flow channel, which is defined as loans originated by lenders and submitted to us on a loan-by-loan basis. We have also historically provided mortgage insurance to lenders and investors who seek additional default protection (typically secondary coverage or on loans for which the individual borrower has greater than 20% equity), capital relief, and creditenhancement on groups of loans that are sold in the secondary market. Insurance provided on these individual transactions was provided through the structured bulk channel. Those individual loans in the structured bulk channel in which we are in the first loss position and the LTV ratio is greater than 80% are classified as Primary. All of our Modified Pool insurance has been delivered through the structured bulk channel. Our insurance remains effective until one of the following events occurs: the policy is cancelled at the insured's request; coverage is cancelled due to pre-determined aggregate stop loss limits being met for certain Modified Pool transactions; we terminate the policy for non-payment of premium; the policy defaults and we satisfy our obligations under the insurance contact; or we rescind or deny the policy for violations of provisions of a master policy.

In run-off, our revenues principally consist of:

- earned renewal premiums from the remaining insurance in force, net of:
 - · reinsurance premiums ceded, primarily for captive reinsurance, and
 - refunds paid or accrued resulting from the cancellation of insurance in force or for coverage rescinded or anticipated to be rescinded due to violations of certain provisions of a master policy;
- · investment income; and
- proceeds from the sale of assets other than the sale of securities.

We also realize investment gains and investment losses on the sale and impairment of securities, with the net gain or loss reported as a component of revenue.

In run-off, our expenses consist primarily of:

- settled claims net of any losses ceded to captive reinsurers;
- changes in reserves for estimated future claim payments on loans that are currently in default net of any reserves ceded to captive reinsurers;
- general and administrative costs of servicing existing policies;
- other general business expenses; and
- interest expense.

Our results of operations in run-off depend largely on:

- the conditions of the housing, mortgage and capital markets that have a direct impact on default rates, mitigation efforts, cure rates and ultimately the amount of claims settled;
- the overall general state of the economy and job market;
- · persistency levels on our remaining insurance in force;

- · operating efficiencies; and
- the level of investment yield, including realized gains and losses, on our investment portfolio.

Our results of operations in run-off could also be impacted significantly by recent federal government and private initiatives to stabilize the housing and financial markets. See Item I, "Business" and the discussion below for further details on these initiatives.

Persistency is an important metric in understanding our premium revenue, especially in run-off as no new business is being written and our overall premium base declines over time. Generally, the longer a policy remains on our books, or "persists", the greater the amount of premium revenue we will earn from the policy. Cancellations result primarily from the borrower refinancing or selling insured mortgaged residential properties, from policies being rescinded due to fraud, misrepresentation or other underwriting violations, from a servicer choosing to cancel the insurance, from the payment of a claim, and, to a lesser degree, from the borrower achieving prescribed equity levels, at which point the lender no longer requires mortgage guaranty insurance.

Corrective Orders

Triad has entered into two Corrective Orders with the Department. The first Corrective Order was entered into on August 5, 2008 and remains in effect. This Corrective Order was implemented as a result of our decision to cease writing new mortgage guaranty insurance and to commence a run-off of our existing insurance in force as of July 15, 2008. Among other things, that Corrective Order:

- Required Triad to submit a corrective plan to the Department;
- Prohibits all stockholder dividends from Triad to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Prohibits interest and principal payments on Triad's surplus note to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Restricts Triad from making any payments or entering into any transaction that involves the transfer of assets to, or liabilities from, any affiliated parties without the prior approval of the Department;
- Requires Triad to obtain prior written approval from the Department before entering into certain transactions with unaffiliated parties;
- Requires Triad to meet with the Department in person or via teleconference as necessary; and
- Requires Triad to furnish to the Department certain reports, agreements, actuarial opinions and information on an ongoing basis at specified times.

We submitted a corrective plan to the Department as required under the initial Corrective Order. The corrective plan included, among other items, a five-year statutory financial projection for Triad and a detailed description of our planned course of action to address our financial condition. The financial projections that form the basis of our corrective plan were prepared in accordance with Statutory Accounting Principles ("SAP") set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code. We received approval of the corrective plan from the Department in October 2008.

Following the approval of the initial corrective plan, in the first quarter of 2009 we revised the assumptions initially utilized as a result of continued deteriorating economic conditions impacting our financial condition, results of operations and future prospects. The revised assumptions produced a range of potential ultimate outcomes for our run-off, but included projections showing that absent additional action by the Department or favorable changes in our business, we would have reported a deficiency in policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP as early as March 31, 2009. If this statutory insolvency had occurred, the Department likely would have instituted a receivership proceeding against Triad, which in turn would likely have led to the institution of bankruptcy proceedings by TGI. In an effort to protect existing policyholders, the Department issued the second Corrective Order effective on March 31, 2009, as amended on May 26, 2009. The second Corrective Order stipulates or prescribes:

• Effective June 1, 2009, all valid claims under Triad's mortgage guaranty insurance policies are settled 60% in cash and 40% by recording a DPO;

- At March 31, 2009, Triad was required to adjust surplus and reserves reflecting the impact of the second Corrective Order on future settled claims;
- The DPO requires that we accrue a carrying charge based on the investment yield earned by Triad's investment portfolio;
- Triad will establish an escrow account at least equal to the DPO balance and any associated carrying charges;
- Triad will require that any risk or obligation of any captive reinsurer must be paid in full, and will deposit any excess reinsurance recovery above the 60% cash payment into an escrow account;
- Payment of the DPO and the carrying charge is subject to Triad's future financial performance and requires the approval of the Department;
- Procedures to account for the impact of the second Corrective Order in the financial statements prepared in accordance with SAP;
- Upon payment of a claim under these provisions, Triad is deemed to have fully satisfied its obligations under the respective insurance policy;
- Other restrictions and requirements affecting the payment and transferability of the DPOs and associated carrying charge; and
- Certain reporting requirements.

The DPO recording requirements of the second Corrective Order became effective on June 1, 2009. At December 31, 2009, the recorded DPO, including a carrying charge of \$2.1 million, amounted to \$168.4 million. The recording of a DPO does not impact reported settled losses as we continue to report the entire amount of a claim in our statement of operations. The accounting for the DPO on a SAP basis is similar to a surplus note which is reported as a component of statutory surplus; accordingly, any repayment of the DPO or the associated carrying charge requires approval of the Department. However, in our financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") included in this report, the DPO is reported as a liability.

Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders or any other violation of the Illinois Insurance Code may result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings, including the institution by the Department of receivership proceedings for the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of Triad. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information.

Triad is also subject to comprehensive regulation by the insurance departments of the various other states in which it is licensed to transact business. Currently, the insurance departments of the other states are working with the Department in the implementation of the Corrective Orders.

Recent Events Affecting our Business

Our operating results and financial condition continue to be negatively impacted by the adverse conditions present in the housing and mortgage markets, including, but not limited to, declines in home prices and a restrictive credit environment, combined with high levels of unemployment and the recessionary economic environment in general. We believe these conditions will persist for an extended period of time and will continue to have an adverse impact on our financial results.

Prior to the second Corrective Order, our recurring losses from operations and resulting decline in policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP increased the likelihood that Triad would be placed into receivership and raised substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The positive impact on surplus resulting from the second Corrective Order has resulted in Triad reporting a policyholders' surplus in its SAP financial statements of \$122.8 million at December 31, 2009, as opposed to a deficiency in policyholders' surplus of \$597.8 million on the same date had the second Corrective Order not been implemented. While implementation of the second Corrective Order has deferred the institution of an involuntary receivership proceeding, no assurance can be given that the Department will not seek receivership of Triad in the future

and there continues to be substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The Department may seek receivership of Triad based on its determination that Triad will ultimately become insolvent or for other reasons stated above. If the Department were to seek receivership of Triad, TGI could be compelled to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws. Our consolidated financial statements that are presented in this report do not include any adjustments that reflect the financial risks of Triad entering receivership proceedings and assume that we will continue as a going concern. We expect losses from operations to continue and our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the successful implementation of the revised corrective plan. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information about our financial solvency and going concern risks and uncertainties.

On September 4, 2009, we filed a complaint against American Home Mortgage ("AHM") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware seeking rescission of multiple master mortgage guaranty insurance policies ("master policies") and declaratory relief. The complaint seeks relief from AHM as well as all owners of loans insured under the master policies by way of a defendant class action. We alleged that AHM failed to follow the delegated insurance underwriting guidelines approved by Triad, that this failure breached the master policies as well as the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and that these breaches were so substantial and fundamental that the intent of the master policies could not be fulfilled and Triad should be excused from its obligations under the master policies. The total amount of risk originated under the AHM master policies, accounting for any applicable stop loss limits associated with modified pool contracts, was \$1.6 billion, of which \$1.1 billion remains in force at December 31, 2009. We continue to accept premiums and process claims under the master policies but, as a result of this action, we ceased remitting claim payments to companies servicing loans originated by AHM. Both premiums and claim payments subsequent to the filing of the complaint have been segregated pending resolution of this action. We have not recognized any benefit in our financial statements pending the outcome of the litigation. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings" for more information.

On December 1, 2009, we sold our information technology and operating platform to Essent Guaranty, Inc. ("Essent"), a new mortgage insurer. Under the terms of the agreement, Essent acquired all of our proprietary mortgage insurance software and substantially all of the supporting hardware, as well as certain other assets, in exchange for up to \$30 million in cash and assumption by Essent of certain contractual obligations. Approximately \$15 million of the consideration is fixed and up to an additional \$15 million is contingent on Essent writing a certain minimum amount of insurance in the five-year period following closing. On December 1, 2009, we received the initial \$10 million installment of the purchase price. Essent has established its operations and technology center in Winston-Salem, North Carolina and a number of our former information technology and operations employees have joined Essent as contemplated by the agreement. At the closing of the transaction with Essent, we also entered into a services agreement, pursuant to which Essent is providing ongoing information systems maintenance and services, customer service and policy administration support to Triad. Triad may, at any time during the period beginning two years and ending seven years after the closing of the transaction with Essent, obtain a copy of the program object code, source code and documentation relating to the proprietary mortgage insurance software developed by Triad and sold in the transaction, solely for its own internal business purposes. Should Triad exercise this option, the services agreement would terminate and any remaining contingent amounts owed under the purchase agreement would no longer be payable to Triad. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information on the risks associated with this transaction.

At December 31, 2009, we reported a deficit in assets under GAAP of \$706.4 million compared to a deficit in assets of \$136.7 million at December 31, 2008. A deficit in assets occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under GAAP and is not necessarily a measure of insolvency. The growth in the deficit in assets is the result of the substantial increase in loss reserves and settled claims over the past two years, reflecting the continued decline in housing and mortgage loan conditions. We will have to earn in excess of \$706.4 million on a GAAP basis during the remaining run-off period and continue to meet our debt obligations in order to become financially solvent and continue as a going concern. We expect to continue to report a deficit in assets for the foreseeable future. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information about our financial solvency and going concern risks and uncertainties.

We have identified a substantial number of underwriting or program violations and borrower's misrepresentations in the defaults reported to us. As a result, we have subsequently rescinded or cancelled coverage on these

policies at a rate substantially greater than we have historically experienced. While we expect to continue to settle all legitimate claims, we expect the elevated level of rescission activity will continue in 2010 based on the number of policies under review and the number of occurrences of master policy violations identified during 2009. The impact of rescissions on reserves provided and accruals for anticipated premium refunds has been significant. See "Update on Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" in this report for additional discussion on rescissions.

There have been numerous news reports on the elevated level of rescission and denial activity by the private mortgage insurance industry and the effect on lenders and legal action has been initiated against certain mortgage insurers. On December 11, 2009, American Home Mortgage Servicing filed a complaint against Triad for damages, declaratory relief, and injunction in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas. The complaint alleges that Triad denied payment on legitimate claims on 15 mortgage insurance loans and seeks damages, a declaration that our mortgage insurance policies prohibit denial of claim without evidence of harm, and an injunction against future like denials. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," for more information.

As a result of the increase in our rescission and denial activity, we believe we face an increased risk of litigation. Any impediment to our ability to rescind coverage for underwriting violations would be detrimental to our success in run-off. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors," for more information.

In December 2009, we delisted our common stock from The NASDAQ Stock Market. We decided to delist our common stock because of our belief that we would be unable to regain compliance prior to the expiration of the grace period with at least one of the two NASDAQ continued listing requirements that we were out of compliance with at the time and our inability to transfer our listing to another NASDAQ tier. As a result of the delisting, we are currently quoted on the over-the-counter market on the OTC Bulletin Board® and the Pink Sheets® under the symbol "TGIC." We believe there may be certain risks in investing in over-the-counter stocks that are not present in stocks listed on a stock exchange such as NASDAQ. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors," for more information.

Since the latter part of 2008, several programs have been initiated by the federal government and implemented through the government sponsored entities ("GSEs") and lenders that are, in general, designed to prevent foreclosures and provide relief to homeowners and to the financial markets. These programs involve both modifications to the original terms of existing mortgages and complete refinancings. These programs are designed to provide a means for borrowers to qualify for lower payments by modifying the interest rate or extending the term of the mortgage. Several of these programs have subsequently been expanded or extended and may continue to change as the Federal government continues to seek ways to help prevent foreclosures. While we are actively working with both servicers and the GSEs in the implementation of these programs, they are in the early stages of development and the results to date have not been meaningful to our operations. To a large degree, the benefit we receive from these programs is dependent on the efforts of servicers and the GSEs. If a loan is modified or refinanced as part of one of these programs, we intend to maintain insurance on the loan and are subject to the same ongoing risk if the policy were to re-default. We have seen only a marginal positive impact from these programs through December 31, 2009. The ultimate impact of these government programs on our future results of operations and prospects are unknown at this time. This uncertainty around the impact of these programs is amplified by the complexity of the programs, our reliance on loan servicers to implement the programs, and conditions within the housing market and the economy, among other factors. See Item 1A, "Risk Factors" for more information.

Consolidated Results of Operations

Following is selected financial information for the last two years:

	Decem		
4. 19 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2009	2008	% Change
	(Dollars in the	usands, except	per share data)
Earned premiums	\$ 179,658	\$ 257,423	(30)
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses	807,627	923,301	(13)
Net loss	(595,632)	(631,127)	(6)
Diluted loss per share	\$ (39.70)	\$ (42.27)	(6)

Veer Ended

The primary driver for the 2009 net loss continues to be the high level of net losses and loss adjustment expenses ("LAE") combined with a large drop in earned premiums. The level of net losses and LAE was primarily impacted by the continued depressed economic conditions, particularly those related to unemployment as well as the housing and mortgage markets.

Net losses and LAE are comprised of settled claims and LAE as well as the increase in the loss and LAE reserves net of any reinsurance recoverables. Net losses and LAE were \$807.6 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009 and were composed of net settled claims and LAE of \$535.1 million and an increase in net loss and LAE reserves of \$272.5 million. Net settled losses and LAE increased by \$277.3 million or 108% during the year ended December 31, 2009 compared to the respective period of 2008 as the number of settled claims and average settled loss continued to increase. This increase was mitigated somewhat by increased rescission activity. The growth in net loss and LAE reserves during 2009 primarily reflects a 43% and 33% increase in the number of reported loans in default and risk in default, respectively, although this was offset somewhat by an increase in the rescission factor used in the estimate of loss reserves as well as an increased benefit realized from modified pool stop loss limits.

Earned premiums decreased in 2009 compared to 2008 primarily due to paid refunds and expected refunds of premium from rescission activity as well as the decline in insurance in force. Paid refunds and the increase in the accrual for expected refunds of premium totaled \$76.5 million during 2009 compared to \$27.4 million during 2008.

Certain segments of our insured portfolio continue to perform more adversely when compared to the rest of the portfolio. These segments include:

- Loans on properties in California, Florida, Arizona, and Nevada (collectively referred to as "distressed markets") At December 31, 2009, the default rate for the distressed markets was 36.8% compared to 14.9% for the remaining portfolio and the risk in default in the distressed markets comprised 52.5% of the gross risk in default while only comprising 32.2% of total risk in force. We believe the adverse performance of the distressed markets was, in part, due to non-sustainable levels of house price appreciation in the years prior to 2007 and the subsequent unprecedented depreciation in house prices that has continued. In general, the non-distressed markets have not experienced the significant collapse in house prices that have occurred in the distressed markets. During 2009, however, risk in default in the non-distressed markets grew 59.6% compared to a growth rate of 16.0% in the distressed markets. We believe the growing deterioration in the non-distressed markets is a result of high unemployment, although the general depressed conditions in house prices and credit markets have also had an adverse impact. Defaults in the distressed markets also comprised a large percentage of paid claims and rescinded policies which mitigated the growth rate in risk in default in these markets.
- Policies originated in 2006 and 2007 At December 31, 2009, the default rate for these policy years was 27.1% and 26.6%, respectively, compared to 14.4% for the other policy years combined. Defaults in these policy years comprised 70.2% of our gross risk in default while only comprising 55.7% of our total risk in force. All policy years, however, experienced a large increase in default rates in 2009.

We describe our results of operations in greater detail in the discussion that follows. The information is presented in four categories: Production; Insurance and Risk in Force; Revenues; and Losses and Expenses.

Production

On July 15, 2008, we ceased issuing commitments for mortgage insurance. Our future production, if any, will consist of certificates issued from commitments for mortgage insurance that were entered into prior to July 15, 2008 and will be immaterial to our results of operations. In 2009, we wrote \$42.9 million of new insurance compared to \$3.5 billion in 2008. All production in 2009 and 2008 was from our Primary flow channel.

Insurance and Risk in Force

The following table provides detail on our direct insurance in force at December 31, 2009 and 2008:

	December 31,			
	2009	2008	% Change	
	(Dollars in mill		lions)	
Primary insurance:				
Flow primary insurance	\$32,856	\$39,370	(17)	
Structured bulk insurance	3,064	3,902	(21)	
Total Primary insurance	35,920	43,272	(17)	
Modified Pool insurance	14,584	19,312	(24)	
Total insurance	\$50,504	\$62,584	(19)	

Historically, cancellation of insurance coverage has been primarily due to refinance or sales activity and has an inverse correlation to the movement in mortgage rates. Although mortgage rates remain at historically low levels, refinance activity has been minimal for the past two years. We believe this is primarily due to the general inability of borrowers to refinance or sell their homes as a result of stricter underwriting guidelines by lenders as well as the decline in home prices since 2007.

The decline in insurance in force in 2009 and 2008 reflects the lack of writing new business as well as the cancellation of insurance coverage resulting from claim settlement and rescission activity. Furthermore, during the fourth quarter of 2009, insurance coverage was terminated on four Modified Pool transactions when pre-determined aggregate stop loss limits in the contracts were met. A small portion of our Modified Pool contracts contain provisions that terminate coverage and the contract when cumulative settled losses reach the stop loss limit. No future premium is received following the termination of one of these Modified Pool contracts. We expect that several other Modified Pool transactions will also reach their respective stop loss limits during 2010 and terminate, which would result in an estimated decline in premiums of approximately \$3.8 million from what was earned in 2009. The majority of our Modified Pool contracts do not terminate when settled losses reach the stop loss limit.

This decline in insurance in force was moderated by very strong persistency over recent periods. Primary insurance persistency was 82.9% at December 31, 2009 compared to 86.6% at December 31, 2008. Modified pool insurance persistency was 75.5% at December 31, 2009 compared to 88.3% at December 31, 2008 and was impacted by the cancellation of the Modified Pool transactions. While interest rates available currently in the marketplace are lower than those on our existing portfolio, we do not believe that factor will have a significant impact on persistency in the immediate future as many borrowers are unable to meet more stringent underwriting guidelines regarding equity or debt-to-income levels to facilitate a refinancing or sell an existing property.

Given the lack of production during 2009 and the high level of persistency, the composition of our risk in force has remained relatively consistent with that of a year ago. Additionally, while our exposure to the distressed markets expressed as a percentage of our total risk in force remained relatively constant during 2009, the contribution to losses from the distressed markets has been disproportionally higher.

Our portfolio contains significant exposure to Alt-A loans, loans with the potential for negative amortization ("pay option ARM"), as well as interest only loans. An inherent risk in both a pay option ARM loan and an interest only loan is the impact of the scheduled milestone in which the borrower must begin making amortizing payments. These payments can be substantially greater than the minimum payments required before the milestone is met. An additional risk to a pay option ARM loan is that the payment being made may be less than the amount of interest accruing, creating negative amortization on the outstanding principal of the loan. We define Alt-A loans as loans that have been underwritten with reduced or no documentation verifying the borrower's income, assets, or employment and where the borrower has a FICO score greater than 619. We have found a substantial amount of misrepresentation and fraud on the Alt-A loans in our portfolio. Due in part to recent conditions in the housing markets, the Alt-A loans, pay option ARM loans, and interest only loans have, as a group, performed significantly worse than the remaining prime fixed rate loans through December 31, 2009.

We believe that a policy with a high LTV, all else being equal, will have a greater risk of default than a policy with a low LTV, especially in periods with declining or depressed home prices. We have not been provided with the "mark-to-market" LTV of our insured portfolio. To the extent that an insured loan in our portfolio has experienced a significant decline in the underlying value, and we believe this to be the case for a large percentage of our insured portfolio, the "mark-to-market" LTV of the policy may be substantially higher than the LTV at origination.

The premium rates we charge vary depending on the perceived risk of a loan and generally cannot be changed after issuance of coverage. The premium rates charged for business originated in 2005, 2006 and 2007, and specifically for high risk products including pay options ARMs and Alt-A loans, may not generate ongoing premium revenue sufficient to cover future losses.

The following table shows direct risk in force as of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008 by year of loan origination. Business originated in 2006 and 2007 continues to comprise the majority of our risk in force. This is due to the significant amounts of production during these two years as well as the large number of policies that have been cancelled from prior origination years. In general, policies originated during these years have significantly higher amounts of average risk per policy than policies originated prior to 2006. Furthermore, policies originated during these vintage years have also exhibited higher default and claim rates than preceding vintage years. For additional information regarding these vintage years, see "Losses and Expenses," below.

		December 31, 2009			December 31, 2008			
	Prim	ary	Modified Pool		Primary		Modifie	d Pool
	Gross Risk in Force*	Percent	Gross Risk in Force*	Percent	Gross Risk in Force*	Percent	Gross Risk in Force*	Percent
				(Dollars in	n millions)			
2004 and before	\$2,018.3	21.4%	\$ 712.8	16.9%	\$ 2,435.7	21.6%	\$ 801.1	14.2%
2005	1,207.3	12.9	1,494.6	35.5	1,405.6	12.5	1,899.0	33.8
2006	1.907.2	20.4	1.336.7	31.8	2,386.0	21.2	2,111.6	37.7
2007	3,649.2	39.0	664.8	15.8	4,376.5	38.9	802.6	14.3
2008	506.0	6.3	· · · · <u>-</u>		654.7	5.8		
Total	*****	100.0%	\$4,208.8	100.0%	<u>\$11,258.5</u>	100.0%	\$5,614.3	100.0%

^{*} Gross risk in force is on a per policy basis and does not account for risk ceded to captive reinsurers or applicable stop-loss amounts and deductibles on Modified Pool structured bulk transactions.

Approximately 53% of our Primary flow insurance in force was subject to captive reinsurance arrangements at December 31, 2009 compared to 55% at December 31, 2008. Under captive reinsurance programs, reinsurance companies that are affiliates of the lenders assume a portion of the risk associated with the lender's insured book of business in exchange for a percentage of the premium. The risk reinsured by the captive is supported by assets held in trust and we are the beneficiary. At December 31, 2009, we had approximately \$257 million in captive reinsurance trust balances with \$229 million of reserves ceded to those captives. The majority of the captive reinsurance arrangements have trust balances below the reserves ceded under the contracts. In those cases, the net reserve credit that we recognize in our financial statements is limited to the trust balances because we have no contractual right to require additional capital contributions. As a result, we expect limited benefit in future periods from these arrangements.

During 2009, we terminated three captive reinsurance arrangements and received approximately \$18.9 million of trust assets. We also commuted one captive reinsurance arrangement and the majority of the trust assets were remitted to the reinsurer. The terminations and commutation resulted in an increase in cash and invested assets and a corresponding decrease in reinsurance recoverable. The terminations and commutation had no material impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

Additionally, in March 2010 we entered into a commutation agreement with our largest captive reinsurance partner. Under terms of the commutation agreement, we will assume all liability for the existing and future claims covered by the reinsurance and trust agreement in exchange for the entire trust balance of approximately \$142.0 million. We do not expect the transaction will have any impact on the statement of operations for the

first quarter of 2010. We are currently in discussion with other captive reinsurers regarding the termination or commutation of their treaties.

Revenues

A summary of the individual components of our revenue for the past two years follows:

	Year Ended December 31,		-	
	2009	2008	% Change	
	(Do	llars in thousan	ids)	
Direct premium written before the impact of refunds	\$293,485	\$343,668	(15)	
Less:			` ,	
Cash refunds primarily related to rescissions		(11,436)	303	
Change in refund accruals primarily related to rescissions	_(30,403)	_(15,922)	91	
Direct premium written.	217,012	316,310	en e	
Ceded premium written	(40,872)	(60,777)	(33)	
Net premium written	176,140	255,533	(31)	
Change in unearned premiums	3,518	1,890	86	
Earned premiums	<u>\$179,658</u>	\$257,423	(30)	
Net investment income	\$ 44,133	\$ 39,580	12	
Net realized investment (losses) gains	\$ 1,354	\$ (26,559)	(105)	
Other income	\$ 12,666	\$ 8	158,225	
Total revenues	\$237,811	\$270,452	(12)	

The decrease in direct premium written in 2009 is the result of the impact of premium refunds from rescissions and a 19.3% decline in insurance in force over the one-year prior period. Rescission activity increased substantially during 2009 compared to 2008. When we rescind coverage on a policy, the entire previously paid premium is refunded. Cash premium refunded during 2009, primarily due to rescission activity, was 15.7% of direct premium written before the impact of refunds compared to 3.3% for 2008. We also establish an accrual for expected premium refunds on policies that are currently under investigation for rescission. During 2009, the rescission factors used in our reserve methodology were incrementally increased, which also caused corresponding increases in the accrual for anticipated premium refunds. The increases in rescission factors were based upon actual substantially increased rescission activity than what we had previously utilized in our reserve methodology. At December 31, 2009 we accrued \$47.5 million of premium refunds on our balance sheet compared to \$17.1 million at December 31, 2008.

Ceded premium written is comprised primarily of premiums written under excess of loss reinsurance treaties with captives. Ceded premium during 2009 decreased over 2008 due to: (1) a decrease in insurance in force subject to captive reinsurance as a result of policy cancellations and the termination or commutation of certain reinsurance arrangements; and (2) the establishment of an accrual to account for the rescission of coverage on policies subject to captive reinsurance and the expected refunds of premiums previously ceded. The premium cede rate decreased slightly to 18.8% for 2009 compared to 19.2% for 2008.

Other income in 2009 primarily represents the gain recognized on the sale of the rights to the mortgage insurance operating system and certain hardware to Essent. The gain recognized reflects the guaranteed sales price; future contingent consideration was not considered in calculating the gain.

Net investment income grew by 11.5% during 2009 compared to 2008, primarily due to the accretion of discount of previously impaired securities. Average invested assets at cost or amortized cost decreased by less than 1% in 2009 as a result of negative operating cash flow and the write down of other-than-temporarily impaired securities. When a performing asset is impaired and the resulting book value is below the par value, Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 320, Investments — Debt and Equity Securities ("ASC 320"), provides that the investment income in subsequent periods will be

increased by the accretion of the revised discount amount of the impairment over the remaining expected life of the security. For a further discussion, see "Investment Portfolio."

Losses and Expenses

A summary of the significant individual components of losses and expenses and the year-to-year percentage changes follows:

	Year Ended De		
	2009	2008	% Change
and the second s	(Doll	ars in thousand	s)
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses:			
Net settled claims	\$515,413	\$237,080	117
Net change in loss reserves		665,549	(59)
Loss adjustment expenses	40000	20,672	(5)
Total	\$807,627	<u>\$923,301</u>	(13)
Policy acquisition costs	\$	\$ 39,416	(100)
Other operating expenses (net of acquisition costs deferred)	\$ 35,911	\$ 58,709	(39)
Loss ratio	449.5%	358.7%	25
Expense ratio	20.4%	24.8%	(18)
Combined ratio	469.9%	383.5%	23

Net losses and LAE are comprised of settled claims and LAE as well as the increase in the loss and LAE reserve during the period.

The following table provides details on the amount of settled claims and the number of settled claims of both Primary and Modified Pool insurance for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008:

化二氯化二甲基甲基乙基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲基甲	Year Ended l	December 31,		
	2009	2008	% Change	
and the second s	(Do	llars in thousar	ıds)	
Net settled claims:				
Primary insurance	\$360,613	\$190,836	89	
Modified Pool insurance	214,837	46,742	360	, d
Total direct settled claims	575,450	237,578	142	
Ceded Paid Losses	(60,037)	(498)	11,958	
Total net settled claims	\$515,413	\$237,080	117	
Number of claims settled:	23 T			
Primary insurance	6,117	3,662	67	
Modified Pool insurance	3,175	758	319	
Total	<u>9,292</u>	4,420	110	

The number of claims settled during 2009 increased over 2008 primarily as a result of the aging of the default inventory. Another contributing factor to the increase in settled claims was the end of certain lender and GSE foreclosure moratoriums that had previously delayed the completion of the foreclosure process, which is generally necessary before a claim can be filed. Average severity, which is calculated by dividing total direct settled claims by the number of claims settled, increased to \$61,900 in 2009 from \$53,800 in 2008 reflecting a larger percentage of our paid claims from the more recent vintage years, specifically the 2006 and 2007 vintage years, and the distressed markets, both of which reflect larger loan balances (see tables below for more detail).

The following table shows the average loan size and average risk per policy by vintage year. Policies originated during 2006 and 2007 comprised approximately 67.3% of our 2009 settled claims compared to 38.4% in 2008.

		December	r 31, 2009		December 31, 2008			
	Pr	imary	Modified Pool Primary Modifi		lified Pool Primary Modified Pool			
Vintage Year	Average Loan Size	Average Insured Risk	Average Loan Size	Average Insured Risk	Average Loan Size	Average Insured Risk	Average Loan Size	Average Insured Risk
2004 and Prior	\$115,009	\$29,588	\$137,459	\$40,939	\$117,899	\$29,994	\$140,513	\$41,805
2005	154,263	40,777	172,011	55,570	156,011	40,983	177,143	57,679
2006	200,178	51,909	263,390	66,617	207,918	53,710	263,356	69,310
2007	202,948	54,421	268,527	78,303	207,159	55,755	272,745	79,194
2008	202,737	46,761			204,341	46,952		<u> </u>
Overall Average	\$167,720	\$43,745	\$200,165	\$57,765	\$171,463	\$44,612	\$208,361	\$60,572

The following table shows the average loan size and average risk per policy for the distressed markets compared to the remainder of the portfolio. Policies from the distressed markets comprised 54.5% of our 2009 settled claims compared to 31.1% in 2008.

•		December	r 31, 2009		December 31, 2008			
	Pri	mary	Modif	ied Pool	Pri	mary	Modif	ied Pool
	Average Loan Size	Average Insured Risk						
Distressed States:								
California	\$321,759	\$79,797	\$328,631	\$87,058	\$338,511	\$84,726	\$332,252	\$88,693
Florida	196,021	51,909	203,540	55,475	202,670	53,737	211,933	58,047
Arizona	191,560	49,974	197,569	60,096	199,468	52,504	204,922	63,292
Nevada	219,335	58,382	219,730	68,718	243,600	65,888	227,631	72,041
Average distressed states	\$229,695	\$59,308	\$253,891	\$69,887	\$242,075	\$62,856	\$260,512	\$72,499
Average non-distressed states	\$153,181	\$40,095	\$166,741	\$50,223	\$154,678	\$40,275	\$172,285	\$52,321
Overall Average	\$167,720	\$43,745	\$200,165	\$57,765	\$171,463	\$44,612	\$208,361	\$60,572

Average severity in 2009 continued to be influenced by our reduced ability to mitigate claims. The decline in home prices since 2007 across almost all markets, with significant declines in the distressed markets, combined with reduced mortgage credit availability have continued to negatively impact our ability to mitigate losses through the sale of properties. Policies originated in 2006 and 2007 have been particularly impacted by the decline in home prices as these borrowers have had less time to build up equity before the decline in prices. We expect our ability to mitigate losses will continue to be adversely affected by the continued pressure on home prices combined with the limited availability of credit in the U.S. financial markets. A greater concentration of settled claims in distressed markets or more recent policy years will exacerbate this effect.

We expect that, in general, the number and amount of settled claims will increase in 2010. Longer-term future claim settlement activity, however, remains uncertain due to rescission activity as well as government and other efforts to stem the level of foreclosures. During 2009, we rescinded coverage on loans with \$683 million of risk in default compared to \$244 million of risk in default during 2008. We believe the majority of the rescinded risk in default would have ultimately proceeded to foreclosure and resulted in settled claims. At December 31, 2009, approximately 30% of the policies in our default inventory were under review for fraud or misrepresentation and we currently expect a significant percentage of these to be rescinded. The degree to which policies are rescinded could have a substantial impact on settled claim activity and our results of operations in 2010.

Several programs initiated by the federal government are, in general, designed to prevent foreclosures and provide relief to homeowners and to the financial markets. One such program is the HAMP, which provides incentives to borrowers, servicers, and lenders to modify loans with the modifications jointly paid for by lenders and the U.S. government. This program was in place for most of 2009, although activity was slow to develop. At December 31, 2009, we had been notified that approximately 8,000 of the loans that we insure were in some stage of participation in HAMP, although very few have successfully completed the trial modification period. We rely on information concerning HAMP provided to us by the GSEs and servicers. We do not believe that we receive timely

information on all of the loans participating in these programs nor the current status of the participating loans and we do not have the necessary information to determine the number of our policies in force that would be eligible for such modification programs. This affects our ability to evaluate the ultimate success rate of HAMP and other such programs and, therefore, the impact on our results of operations and financial condition. If HAMP and/or similar programs prove to be effective in preventing ultimate foreclosure, future settled claim activity could be reduced.

The table below provides a trend analysis of the gross cumulative incurred loss incidence rate by book year (calculated as cumulative gross losses settled plus loss reserves, excluding the impact of modified pool and captive structures, divided by policy risk originated, in each case for a particular book year) as it has developed for each three-month period beginning September 30, 2008.

A Section of the Control of the Cont	Quarter Ended								
Book Year	December 31, 2009	September 30, 2009	June 30, 2009	March 31, 2009	December 31, 2008	September 30, 2008			
2000 & Prior	1.02%	1.01%	1.00%	0.99%	0.99%	0.98%			
2001	1.50%	1.46%	1.44%	1.42%	1.42%	1.38%			
2002	2.13%	2.08%	2.01%	1.94%	1.92%	1.87%			
2003	2.17%	2.04%	1.86%	1.70%	1.66%	1.59%			
2004	4.37%	3.97%	3.50%	2.86%	2.52%	2.21%			
2005	10.93%	10.51%	8.85%	6.71%	5.30%	4.45%			
2006	15.10%	16.41%	15.19%	10.46%	9.39%	7.83%			
2007	14.82%	13.42%	12.05%	7.72%	6.46%	5.66%			
2008	4.29%	3.66%	2.83%	1.83%	1.30%	0.60%			
End of Period Cummulative Total:	7.25%	7.10%	6.39%	4.63%	4.03%	3.49%			

Prior to 2007, the policies that we insured historically defaulted for a variety of reasons, but primarily due to loss of employment, divorce, or illness of a mortgage holder. Historically, we expected the gross cumulative incurred loss incidence rate for a specific book year to also increase over time as the incidence of default is relatively low in the first few years of development, typically reaches its peak in the second through the fifth year after loan origination, and will moderately increase over time as a small number of policies continue to default.

However, in addition to the above factors, the incidence of default in the current environment has been and continues to be adversely impacted by the significant decline in home prices throughout the United States. The more recent book years particularly have been impacted and, as the above table indicates, the 2005, 2006 and 2007 book years are exhibiting significantly adverse performance compared to the more developed earlier book years. We do not expect this adverse performance to subside and expect the gross cumulative incurred loss incidence rate of these book years to ultimately be significantly higher than our previous books of business.

Approximately 14.6% of our insurance in force at December 31, 2009 is comprised of pay-option ARM loans, the majority of which were originated in 2005, 2006 and 2007. The performance of these loans has been, in general, worse than that of our other insured loans. As described above, the structure of a pay-option ARM loan poses certain inherent risks, including the potential for payment shock and negative amortization. Historically, the performance of pay-option ARM loans has benefitted from, and the risk has been mitigated by, home price appreciation and the ability to refinance before amortizing payments are required. We do not believe these historical mitigating factors are present to any meaningful degree in the current environment.

We are not provided with information on whether a borrower is required to make amortizing payments but we are provided information on the accumulation of negative amortization. The majority of our pay-option ARM loan portfolio has accumulated negative amortization and we believe the majority of this portfolio is approaching the milestone where amortizing payments will be required. As a result, our pay-option ARM loans may face a significant payment shock in the current and future periods which increases our risk of loss.

Net losses and LAE also include the change in reserves for losses and LAE. The following table shows the change in reserves for losses and LAE for 2009 and 2008:

en e		Year Ended December 31,		%	
		2009	2008	Change	
		(Doll	ars in thousand	is)	
Increase in reserve for losses and LAE on a grobenefit of captives and Modified Pool structure		\$698,468	\$875,959	(20)	
Less:					
Ceded reserves to captive reinsurers		72,370	149,531	(52)	
Impact of Modified Pool structures		349,265	48,059	627	
Net increase in reserve for losses and loss adjus	tment expenses	\$276,833	\$678,369	(59)	

The reserve for losses and LAE on a gross basis, before the benefit of captives and Modified Pool structures, increased by 53.9%, or \$698.5 million, during 2009. This increase was primarily due to a 43.4% increase in the number of policies in default as well as an increase in the severity factor utilized in our reserve estimation. The increase in reserve for losses and LAE on a gross basis was also impacted by an increase in the overall frequency factor used in estimating reserves as cures of loans in default continued to drop dramatically. However, the overall frequency factor increase was mitigated somewhat by an increase in the rescission factor component reflecting an increase in the number of policies currently in default that we expect to rescind. The rescission factor incorporated in the loss reserve calculation mitigated the increase in gross reserves and LAE by 30.1% at December 31, 2009 compared to 18.9% at December 31, 2008.

The increase in net loss and LAE reserves was mitigated substantially by stop loss levels in Modified Pool transactions and, to a lesser degree, by captive reinsurance structures. We do not provide reserves on Modified Pool defaults where the cumulative incurred losses to date for the related transaction have exceeded the stop loss limit. The benefit received from Modified Pool stop loss levels accounted for 56.1% of the change in gross reserves and LAE in 2009 compared to 4.4% in 2008. The table below reports on the performance and remaining risk exposure of vintage year modified pool transactions. A significant portion of the Modified Pool transactions from the 2005, 2006 and 2007 policy years have reached the transactions' stop loss limit on an incurred basis given the adverse development of this business. As a result, additional new defaults on this Modified Pool business will have a limited net impact on future results.

	De	cember 31, 20	09	December 31, 2008		
Vintage Year	Gross Risk in Force	Total Stop Loss	Remaining Stop Loss	Gross Risk in Force	Total Stop Loss	Remaining Stop Loss
			(Dollars in	n millions)		
2003 and Prior	\$ 224.5	\$176.4	\$157.6	\$ 253.9	\$181.7	\$170.7
2004		164.8	96.5	566.0	164.9	138.5
2005	1,461.8	260.4	11.5	1,863.1	261.0	132.9
2006	1,423.5	366.6	38.9	2,229.2	389.8	139.0
2007	717.0	109.0	5.9	869.1	117.6	39.3
			1 15		the second secon	

Ceded reserves to captive reinsurers served to reduce the change in gross reserves and LAE by \$76.3 million during 2009 compared to \$149.7 million during 2008. At December 31, 2009, the majority of our captive reinsurance arrangements had total ceded reserves, combined with any unpaid ceded claims, that exceeded the respective trust balance. In those cases, the net reserve credit that we recognize in our financial statements is limited to the trust balance. Given this limitation, we do not expect any material benefit from these arrangements in future periods.

The following table provides further information about our loss reserves, absent the impact of reserves ceded to the lender sponsored captive reinsurers, carried on our balance sheet at December 31, 2009, and December 31, 2008:

	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2008
	(Dollars in	thousands)
Primary insurance:		÷
Reserves for reported defaults	\$1,088,776	\$ 728,981
Reserves for defaults incurred but not reported	44,454	65,671
Total Primary insurance	1,133,230	794,652
Modified Pool insurance:		
Reserves for reported defaults	340,504	344,112
Reserves for defaults incurred but not reported	41,492	31,539
Total Modified Pool insurance	381,996	375,651
Reserve for loss adjustment expenses	21,817	17,537
Total reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses	<u>\$1,537,043</u>	<u>\$1,187,840</u>

The following table shows that the percentage of gross risk in force, gross risk in default, and gross reserves in the four distressed market states at December 31, 2009 has decreased since December 31, 2008. However, the distressed market states continue to comprise the majority of gross risk in default and gross reserves at December 31, 2009.

	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2008
% of Gross Risk In Force:		
California	13.3%	14.6%
Florida	11.5%	11.6%
Arizona	4.6%	5.2%
Nevada	2.7%	3.0%
Total Distressed Market States	32.1%	34.4%
% of Gross Risk in Default:		
California	21.1%	25.1%
Florida	20.2%	23.1%
Arizona	6.5%	7.2%
Nevada	4.8%	5.0%
Total Distressed Market States	52.6%	60.4%
% of Gross Reserves:		4.5
California	20.8%	24.4%
Florida	21.6%	23.5%
Arizona	7.2%	7.4%
Nevada	5.3%	5.0%
Total Distressed Market States	54.9%	60.3%

While defaults from the distressed markets continue to comprise the majority of risk in default, risk in default from policies in the non-distressed markets increased by 59.6% during 2009 compared to an increase of 16.0% in the distressed markets. We believe the growing deterioration in the non-distressed markets is primarily a result of high unemployment and the slower, more gradual decline in home prices. Defaults in the distressed markets also comprised a large percentage of settled claims and rescinded policies, which mitigated the slowing growth rate in risk in default in these markets.

Certificates originated during 2007 and 2006 comprise 61.4% of the number of loans in default, but 70.2% of the risk in default at December 31, 2009. Both measures are down slightly from 2008 year-end levels due primarily to a large amount of claim activity attributable to the 2006 policy year and rescission activity attributable to both the 2006 and 2007 policy years. The difference in percentages of loans in default and risk in default primarily reflects the higher loan amounts associated with these policy years.

To illustrate the impact of the changes in the frequency and severity factors utilized in the reserve model, the following table details the amount of risk in default and the reserve balance as a percentage of risk in default at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. The table also provides the impact of the rescission factor, which is a component of the frequency factor utilized in the reserve model, on gross case reserves at the respective periods.

	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2008
		millions)
Gross risk on loans in default	\$3,638	\$2,729
Risk expected to be rescinded on loans in default	(725)	<u>(405</u>)
Risk in default net of expected rescissions	<u>\$2,913</u>	\$2,324
Gross case reserve	\$2,427	\$1,385
Gross case reserves on loans expected to be rescinded	_(540)	(239)
Gross case reserves net of expected rescissions	<u>\$1,887</u>	\$1,146
Gross case reserves net of expected rescissions as a percentage of gross risk in default(1)	51.9%	42.0%
Gross case reserves net of expected rescissions as a percentage of gross	•	
risk in default, net of expected rescissions	64.6%	49.3%
Percentage decrease in gross case reserves from rescission factor	22.2%	17.3%

⁽¹⁾ Reflects gross case reserves, which excludes IBNR, ceded reserves and the benefit from Modified Pool structures, as a percentage of risk in default for total delinquent loans.

The following table shows default statistics as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

	December 31, 2009	December 31, 2008
Total business:		
Number of insured loans in force	287,026	345,055
Number of loans in default	57,775	40,286
Percentage of loans in default (default rate)	20.13%	11.68%
Primary insurance:		
Number of insured loans in force	214,164	252,368
Number of loans in default	38,023	24,241
Percentage of loans in default	17.75%	9.61%
Modified Pool insurance:		
Number of insured loans in force	72,862	92,687
Number of loans in default	19,752	16,045
Percentage of loans in default	27.11%	17.31%

The percentage of total loans in default, or default rate, increased to 20.1% as of December 31, 2009 from 11.7% at December 31, 2008, an overall increase of 71.8% during 2009. The number of loans in default includes all reported delinquencies that are in excess of two payments in arrears at the reporting date and all reported delinquencies that were previously in excess of two payments in arrears and have not been brought current. The default rate is affected by the number of policies in default as well as the number of policies in force. Because we are

no longer issuing commitments for mortgage insurance, we expect the number of policies in force to continue to decrease, which can lead to an increase in our default rate.

Expenses and Taxes

Other operating expenses decreased 38.8% during 2009 compared to 2008, which is primarily attributable to exit costs incurred during the first half of 2008 in connection with the transition of our business to run-off.

At the end of the first quarter of 2008, we established a premium deficiency reserve because the present value of our estimated future settled losses and expenses, net of the present value of our estimated future renewal premiums, exceeded our existing net reserves. Subsequent to the first quarter of 2008, the quarterly review of our outstanding book of business has not resulted in the need to establish any further premium deficiency. This is primarily due to the large increases in our recorded loss reserves.

At the end of the first quarter of 2008, we wrote off the remaining deferred policy acquisition costs ("DAC") asset balance of \$34.8 million because the estimated gross loss in the remaining portfolio no longer supported the asset value. Subsequently, we have not capitalized any cost to acquire new business.

Interest expense increased by \$2.5 million or 69.6% in 2009 compared to 2008. Interest expense in 2009 included the accrual of \$2.1 million related to the DPO liability and \$1.2 million related to an accrual for interest on an IRS assessment. We have paid the tax portion of the IRS assessment in order to stop the accrual of interest and have appealed the IRS assessment.

The income tax benefit recognized in 2009 of \$16.1 million primarily represents the reduction of the valuation allowance applied to the deferred tax assets as a result of the growth in unrealized gains. In the fourth quarter of 2009, changes in the tax law allowed net operating losses to be carried back five years as opposed to two years, thereby allowing the recoupment of additional taxes. Going forward, we expect to continue to incur operating losses for tax purposes and generate net operating loss carry forwards for federal income tax reporting purposes for which we will effectively be unable to receive any immediate benefit in our Statements of Operations.

Our effective tax rate was 2.7% for 2009 compared to 16.4% for 2008. The effective tax rate for 2009 reflects our inability to recognize tax benefits, except for the change in unrealized investment gains as noted above, as we provide a valuation allowance on almost the entire deferred tax asset generated from the net operating loss carry forwards.

Financial Position

Total assets were \$1.1 billion at both December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008. Total cash and invested assets declined to \$833.3 million at December 31, 2009 from \$935.4 million as a result of negative operating cash flow during 2009. Other assets increased by \$96.3 million primarily due to an \$82.7 million increase in reinsurance recoverable under captive reinsurance agreements.

Total liabilities increased substantially to \$1.8 billion at December 31, 2009 from \$1.3 billion at December 31, 2008. The increase in total liabilities was primarily due to the \$349.2 million increase in loss and LAE reserves and the establishment of the DPO which totaled \$168.4 million, including a carrying charge of \$2.1 million, at December 31, 2009.

Investment Portfolio

The majority of our assets are included in our investment portfolio. Our goal for managing our investment portfolio is to optimize investment returns, provide liquidity when necessary, preserve capital and adhere to regulatory requirements. We have established a formal investment policy that describes our overall quality and diversification objectives and limits. We classify our entire investment portfolio as available for sale. All investments are carried on our balance sheet at fair value.

Historically, the majority of our investment portfolio was comprised of tax-preferred state and municipal fixed income securities. Because we did not expect to realize the tax benefits normally associated with holding tax-preferred state and municipal fixed income securities, we restructured our investment portfolio beginning in 2008

by moving into taxable publicly-traded securities, primarily corporate debt obligations, asset-backed securities, and mortgage-backed securities. Because we anticipate negative cash flow from operations in 2010 due to the expected increase in claims paid, we expect the proceeds from the maturity and sale of securities during 2010 will be used to fund the shortfall. In connection with the restructuring of our investment portfolio, we shortened the portfolio duration to better match the maturities with our anticipated cash needs. We have completed the majority of the restructuring and at December 31, 2009, we had \$95.7 million of tax-preferred state and municipal fixed income securities remaining in our portfolio. Risks are involved in attempting to restructure our remaining tax-preferred portfolio, including execution risk in the selling and buying of securities, additional credit risk in moving from primarily insured, highly rated municipal bonds to lower rated corporate bonds, and uncertainty surrounding mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities.

The following table shows the makeup of our investment portfolio and the transition since one year ago:

	December	31, 2009	December	31, 2008
	Amount	Percent	Amount	Percent
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Fixed maturity securities:				
U. S. government and agencies	\$ 25,260	3.1%	\$ 7,996	0.9%
Foreign government and corporate debt	10,302	1.3%	17,312	1.9%
Corporate debt	500,999	61.7%	477,056	53.3%
Residential mortgage-backed	107,406	13.2%	126,679	14.1%
Asset-backed	39,392	4.9%	65,749	7.3%
State and municipal bonds	101,471	12.5%	159,394	17.8%
Total fixed maturities	784,830	96.7%	854,186	95.4%
Equity securities		0.0%	583	0.1%
Total available-for-sale securities	784,830	96.7%	854,769	95.5%
Short-term investments	26,651	3.3%	40,653	4.5%
and the state of the	<u>\$811,481</u>	100.0%	\$895,422	100.0%

The decline in the amount of the investment portfolio is primarily due to the use of the proceeds from maturities and the sale of securities to fund the negative cash flow from operations in 2009. We expect to continue to have negative cash flow from operations for the immediate future, which will further reduce the level of our investment portfolio. Terms of the second Corrective Order require that Triad establish a separate custody account with investments at least equal to the unpaid DPOs. At December 31, 2009, approximately 21% of our invested assets were supporting the DPOs and related accrued interest.

The following table shows the operating results of our investment portfolio for the last two years:

	•	****		100			Yea	r Ended D	ecember 31,
								2009	2008
									thousands)
Average investmen	ts at cost	or amort	tized cos	st		· • • • •	 \$8	25,447	\$828,142
Pre-tax net investm	nent inco	me					 \$	44,133	\$ 39,580
Book yield					, .			5.5%	4.6%
Pre-tax realized in									

The increase in the book yield in 2009 was primarily attributable to impairment losses recognized in previous periods, with a subsequent accretion of discount to maturity in 2009. The pre-tax realized investment gains in 2009 were primarily attributable to the sale of previously-impaired securities, offset in part by further write downs of other-than-temporary impaired securities. The 2009 realized investment gains reflect improved market conditions after the first quarter of 2009. The realized investment losses in 2008 were primarily attributable to write downs due to other-than-temporary impairments.

Unrealized Gains and Losses

The following table summarizes by category our unrealized gains and losses in our securities portfolio at December 31, 2009:

	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Fixed maturity securities:				
U. S. government and agencies	\$ 24,957	\$ 303	\$	\$ 25,260
Foreign government and corporate debt	9,991	311		10,302
Corporate debt	468,998	32,001		500,999
Residential mortgage-backed	102,392	5,014	******	107,406
Asset-backed	36,844	2,548		39,392
State and municipal bonds	94,967	6,504		101,471
Subtotal, fixed maturities	738,149	46,681	_	784,830
Short term investments	26,650	1		26,651
Total securities	<u>\$764,799</u>	\$46,682	<u>\$</u>	\$811,481

Given our recurring losses from operations, strict regulatory oversight of our operations, and the significant doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern, we no longer have the ability to hold impaired assets for a sufficient time to recover their value. As a result, we recognize an impairment loss on all securities whose amortized cost is greater than the market value and thus have no unrealized losses at December 31, 2009.

The unrealized gains are partly due to the recovery in value of previously impaired fixed income securities. These unrealized gains do not necessarily represent future gains that we will realize. Changing conditions related to specific securities, overall market interest rates, or credit spreads, as well as our decisions concerning the timing of a sale, may impact values we ultimately realize. Taxable securities typically exhibit greater volatility in value than tax-preferred securities; accordingly, we expect greater volatility in unrealized gains and realized losses in future periods. Volatility also may increase in periods of uncertain market or economic conditions.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is inherent in an investment portfolio. One way we attempt to limit the inherent credit risk in our portfolio is to maintain investments with relatively high ratings. The following table shows our investment portfolio by credit ratings for the last two years.

	December 31, 2009		December 31, 2008	
	Amount	Percent	Amount	Percent
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Fixed Maturities:				
U.S. treasury and agency bonds	\$ 25,260	3.2%	\$ 20,168	2.4%
AAA	169,326	21.6	236,975	27.7
AA	160,399	20.4	183,916	21.5
A	391,141	49.8	381,936	44.7
BBB	24,014	3.1	25,203	3.0
BB	1,817	0.2	1,239	0.1
В		_	619	0.1
CCC	-		1,523	0.2
CC and lower	239	0.0	48	0.0
Not rated	12,634	1.6	2,559	0.3
Total fixed maturities	<u>\$784,830</u>	100.0%	\$854,186	100.0%
Equity Securities:				
Preferred stocks:				
A	\$ —	_%	\$ 429	73.6%
BBB	 .		133	22.8
C		. <u> </u>	21	3.6
Total equity securities	<u>\$</u>	%	\$ 583	100.0%

We evaluate the credit risk of a security by analyzing the underlying credit qualities of the security. We also seek value in enhancements provided by financial guaranty insurers to our tax-preferred state and municipal fixed income securities which may benefit the credit rating. However, given the decline in our holdings of tax-preferred securities, the value of enhancements provided by financial guaranty insurers compared to the total portfolio has reduced considerably. Taxable securities generally do not have such credit enhancements and the credit rating reflects only the securities' underlying credit qualities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and assume that we will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. However, our ability to continue as a going concern will be dependent on our ability to comply with terms of the Corrective Orders. If we are unable to comply with the terms of the Corrective Orders, the Department may institute legal proceedings to place Triad in receivership. If Triad were placed into receivership, all of the assets and future cash flows of Triad would be allocated to Triad's policyholders to pay insurance claims and the administrative expenses of the receivership, and none of such assets or cash flows would be available to TGI and its stockholders. As Triad is the Company's primary source of current and potential future cash flow, if Triad were placed in receivership proceedings by the Department, TGI would likely be forced to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws and it is likely that no funds would ever be available for distribution to our stockholders. The report of our independent registered public accounting firm with respect to our December 31, 2009 and 2008 financial statements included a statement that they believe there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

Beginning on June 1, 2009 pursuant to the second Corrective Order, all valid claims under Triad's mortgage guaranty insurance policies have been settled 60% in cash and 40% by the recording of a DPO. Effective July 1, 2009, the DPO accrues a carrying charge based on the investment yield earned by Triad's investment portfolio and payment of both the DPO and the carrying charge is subject to Triad's future financial performance and requires the approval of the Department. On June 1, 2009, following the implementation of the second Corrective Order, Triad settled claims of \$415.8 million through the payment of \$249.5 million in cash and the recording of a DPO of \$166.3 million. At December 31, 2009, the total amount of DPOs was \$166.3 million, and accrued carry charges were \$2.1 million. The DPOs are supported by a segregated custodial account containing primarily corporate securities which are included in our total invested assets. The specific terms of the Corrective Order requiring the recording of a DPO has and will continue to positively impact our operating cash flows. However, because we remain obligated to pay the DPOs and will accrue a carrying charge on the DPOs based on the investment yield earned by Triad's investment portfolio, we do not expect any ultimate financial benefit to us from recording a DPO.

On December 1, 2009, we sold our information technology and operating platform to Essent, a new mortgage insurer. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, Essent acquired all of our proprietary mortgage insurance software and substantially all of the supporting hardware, as well as certain other assets, in exchange for up to \$30 million in cash and the assumption by Essent of certain contractual obligations. Approximately \$15 million of the consideration is fixed and up to an additional \$15 million is contingent on Essent writing a certain minimum amount of insurance in the five-year period following closing. During the 2009 fourth quarter, we received the initial \$10 million installment of the purchase price. Essent has established its operations and technology center in Winston-Salem, North Carolina and a number of our former information technology and operations employees have joined Essent as contemplated by the agreement. At the closing of the transaction with Essent, we also entered into a services agreement, pursuant to which Essent is providing ongoing information systems maintenance and services, customer service and policy administration support to Triad. Until December 2010, we pay a predetermined amount for each month of service; after December 2010 the fees will be based on the number of policies in force. During the initial five-year term of the services agreement, the fees we pay to Essent will be at least \$150,000 per month.

Generally, our sources of operating funds consist of premiums written and investment income. Operating cash flow has historically been applied to the payment of claims, interest, expenses and prepaid federal income taxes in the form of ten-year non-interest bearing United States Mortgage Guaranty Tax and Loss Bond ("Tax and Loss Bond") purchases. During the period that we were reporting positive results of operations and prior to our decision to enter into voluntary run-off, we purchased Tax and Loss Bonds to take advantage of a special contingency reserve deduction available to mortgage guaranty companies under the U.S. tax code. We recorded the Tax and Loss Bonds on our balance sheet as prepaid federal income taxes. Purchases of Tax and Loss Bonds are essentially a prepayment of federal income taxes that are scheduled to become payable in ten years, when the contingency reserve is scheduled to be released, and the respective Tax and Loss Bonds are scheduled to mature. The scheduled proceeds from the maturity of the Tax and Loss Bonds were anticipated to be utilized to fund the income tax payments when they became due. However, beginning in 2007 and continuing into 2008, we made the decision to redeem our Tax and Loss Bonds earlier than scheduled due to our operating losses generated in those years, which has provided a source of operating funds. During 2008, we redeemed essentially all of our remaining Tax and Loss Bonds, which amounted to approximately \$116.0 million.

During 2009, we had a deficit in operating cash flow of \$134.9 million compared to positive operating cash flow of \$147.1 million in 2008, which was aided significantly by the redemption of the Tax and Loss Bonds. The decline in operating cash flow in 2009 would have been \$303.3 million had the second Corrective Order not stipulated the payment in cash of 60% of each settled claim and the establishment of a DPO for the remainder of each claim. The decline in operating cash flow in 2009 compared to 2008 reflects the lack of any material redemption of Tax and Loss Bonds, a substantial increase in settled claims, and a decline in net premiums received. The operating cash flow shortfall in 2009 was funded through sales and maturities of short-term investments and other longer term investment securities. See "Investment Portfolio" for more information.

Net cash received from premiums was \$207.6 million during 2009 compared to \$274.7 million in 2008. This decrease is due to the overall decline in insurance in force as well as premium refunds related to rescission activity. Premium refunds were \$46.1 million in 2009 compared to \$10.3 million in 2008. We anticipate more refunds of

premiums related to rescission activity in 2010 and have established a \$47.5 million premium refund liability at December 31, 2009 to account for anticipated rescission activity.

Net cash paid for claims and LAE, after accounting for the impact of the DPO, increased to \$373.2 million during 2009 from \$241.9 million during 2008. Net cash paid for claims and LAE in 2009 benefited from \$51.2 million of reimbursed paid claims primarily from captive reinsurers. Cash outflows on settled claims in 2009 were reduced by \$166.3 million, the amount of the DPO. While the DPO requirement will mitigate the actual cash paid on claims in any period in the short run, we expect that the amount of settled claims and the related cash paid will continue to increase in subsequent quarters, and the increase may be substantial.

We expect negative cash flow from operations to continue in 2010 because we expect claims and expenses will exceed our net premium and investment income. We anticipate that the cash necessary to meet the negative operating cash flow will be funded by the scheduled maturities of invested assets and, if needed, sales of other assets in our investment portfolio.

At December 31, 2009, the Company reported a deficit in assets of \$706.4 million compared to a deficit in assets of \$136.7 million at December 31, 2008. A deficit in assets occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets and the primary factor contributing to the deficit has been our historical net losses from operations. We expect to continue to report a deficit in assets for the foreseeable future.

Insurance Company Specific

The insurance laws of the State of Illinois impose certain restrictions on dividends that an insurance subsidiary, such as Triad, can pay its parent company. As discussed above, the Corrective Orders prohibit the payment of dividends by Triad to TGI without prior approval from the Department, which is highly unlikely for the foreseeable future.

Included in policyholders' surplus of the primary insurance subsidiary, TGIC, is a surplus note of \$25 million payable to TGI. The Corrective Orders prohibit the accrual of and payment of the interest on the surplus note without prior approval by the Department, which has broad discretion to approve or disapprove any such payment. We do not expect that TGIC will be able to pay any principal or interest on this note for the foreseeable future. In 2009, TGI wrote off the \$25 million surplus note and reversed accrued interest of \$4.4 million on its financial statements as an other-than-temporary impairment. This other-than-temporary impairment did not affect TGI's consolidated results of operations.

Triad's ability to incur any material operating and capital expenditures, as well as its ability to enter into any new contracts with unaffiliated parties, also requires the Department's approval (except for certain operating expenditures that have been preapproved by the Department).

Triad cedes business to captive reinsurance affiliates of certain mortgage lenders, primarily under excess of loss reinsurance agreements. Generally, reinsurance recoverables on loss reserves and unearned premiums ceded to these captives are backed by trust accounts where Triad is the sole beneficiary. When we terminate or commute a captive reinsurance agreement, all reinsurance coverage terminates, Triad ceases to cede premium to the reinsurer, and the supporting trust agreement is terminated and the assets are distributed per terms of the agreement resulting in an increase in cash and invested assets and a corresponding decrease in reinsurance recoverable. During 2009, we terminated three captive reinsurance treaties and received approximately \$18.9 million of trust assets. We also commuted one captive reinsurance treaty where the majority of the trust assets were remitted to the reinsurer. Additionally, in March 2010 we entered into a commutation agreement with our largest captive reinsurance partner. Under terms of the commutation agreement, we will assume all liability for the existing and future claims covered by the reinsurance and trust agreement in exchange for the entire trust balance of approximately \$142.0 million. We do not expect the transaction will have any impact on the statement of operations for the first quarter of 2010. We are currently in discussion with other captive reinsurers regarding the termination or commutation of their treaties.

At December 31, 2009, we had approximately \$257 million in captive reinsurance trust balances. We received approximately \$41.0 million in reimbursed settled losses from captive reinsurance during 2009, which includes the assets received from the termination of the captive agreements, and expect further reimbursement in 2010. Due to

the adverse performance of the reinsured policies and the general under-capitalization of the trusts supporting our captive reinsurance agreements, we expect the majority of the trust assets to eventually be delivered to Triad by means of reimbursed settled losses or through the termination of the agreements.

Triad ceased writing new mortgage commitments on July 15, 2008 and is operating its business in run-off. The risk-to-capital ratio, which is utilized as a measure by many states and regulators of an insurer's capital adequacy and ability to underwrite new business, is no longer relevant for Triad because we are operating in run-off.

Statutory capital, for the purpose of computing the net risk in force to statutory capital ratio historically included both policyholders' surplus and the special contingency reserve. However, due to the ongoing operating losses, all of the contingency reserve has been released and therefore statutory capital consists solely of policyholders' surplus. Statutory surplus at December 31, 2009 amounted to \$122.8 million compared to \$88.0 million one year earlier. The increase in statutory policyholders' surplus at December 31, 2009 compared to December 31, 2008 was primarily the result of the recording of the DPO under the second Corrective Order. As a result of the implementation of the DPO requirement, Triad reported policyholders' surplus in its SAP financial statements of \$122.8 million at December 31, 2009, as compared to a deficiency in policyholders' surplus of \$597.8 million had the DPO requirement not been implemented.

Holding Company Specific

TGI has very limited sources of cash flow. TGI's \$35 million outstanding long-term debt is the obligation of TGI and not of Triad. Debt service amounts to \$2.8 million per year and is paid by TGI. The primary source of funds for TGI debt service has historically been the interest paid by Triad to TGI on the \$25 million surplus note, which has provided \$2.2 million on an annual basis. We do not expect this source of cash to be available for the foreseeable future. In 2009, TGI wrote off the \$25 million surplus note and reversed accrued interest of \$4.4 million on its financial statements as an other-than-temporary impairment. This other-than-temporary impairment did not affect TGI's consolidated results of operations. Excluding the surplus note receivable from Triad, total cash and invested assets at TGI totaled \$8.7 million at December 31, 2009. While we currently believe that the cash resources on hand at TGI will be sufficient to cover the required debt service for 2010 and 2011 on the \$35 million long-term debt, we cannot provide any assurance that these or any future debt service payments will be made and the ultimate ability of TGI to repay the entire \$35 million is subject to substantial risks and cannot be assured unless a source of funds is secured. The ability of TGI to pay the debt service with funds obtained from Triad, whether in the form of dividends, payments on the surplus note or otherwise, will require the approval of the Department, and it is unlikely that such approval will be sought or obtained in the foreseeable future.

We may from time to time seek to retire or purchase our outstanding debt through cash purchases or exchanges for equity securities, in open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases or exchanges, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors and the amounts involved may be material.

As part of the sale of the information technology and operating platform to Essent, TGI also sold the software related to the establishment of Canadian operations and received approximately \$0.4 million and accrued an additional \$0.2 million for software owned exclusively by TGI. Additionally, under the terms of the agreement, TGI may receive an additional \$0.6 million in contingent payments through 2014.

Triad has historically reimbursed TGI for a majority of its operating cash expenses under a management agreement. Pursuant to the Corrective Orders, we are required to submit to the Department a request for reimbursement of these expenses on a quarterly basis. During 2009, TGI cash expenses were approximately \$1.9 million and all requested reimbursements, which include the majority of these expenses, were approved. TGI's cash expenses range from approximately \$250,000 to \$600,000 per quarter depending on certain activities and include legal, director, accounting, and consulting fees. There can be no assurance these quarterly expenditures will not increase in the future. If the Department prohibits or limits the reimbursement by Triad of TGI's operating expenses, the cash resources of TGI will be adversely affected.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations

We had no material off-balance sheet arrangements at December 31, 2009.

We lease office facilities and office equipment at our Winston-Salem location under operating leases with minimum lease commitments that are set to expire in 2012. Terms of the Essent agreement provided for the sub-lease of certain office space from Triad (representing approximately 40% of the space for which Triad is committed to) at the same rates for which Triad is paying. We had no capitalized leases or material purchase commitments at December 31, 2009. Our long-term debt has a single maturity date of 2028.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section are those that we consider to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial statements because they inherently involve significant judgments and uncertainties. In developing these estimates, we make subjective and complex judgments that are inherently uncertain and subject to material change as facts and circumstances develop. Although variability is inherent in these estimates, we believe the amounts provided are appropriate based on the facts available upon compilation of the financial statements. Also, see Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for a complete discussion of our significant accounting policies.

Reserve for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses ("LAE")

We calculate our best estimate of the reserve for losses to provide for the estimated costs of settling claims on loans reported in default, as of the date of our financial statements. Additionally, we provide a reserve for loans in default that are in the process of being reported to us (incurred but not reported) using an estimate based on the percentage of actual reported defaults. Our reserving process incorporates various components in a model that gives effect to current economic conditions and segments defaults by a variety of criteria. The criteria include, among others, policy year, lender, geography and the number of months the policy has been in default, as well as whether the defaults were underwritten as flow business or as part of a structured bulk transaction. Beginning in 2007, we incorporated in the calculation of loss reserves the probability that a policy may be rescinded for underwriting violations.

Frequency and severity are the two most significant assumptions in the establishment of our loss reserves. Frequency is used to estimate the ultimate number of paid claims associated with the current inventory of loans in default. The frequency estimate assumes that long-term historical experience, taking into consideration criteria such as those described in the preceding paragraph, and adjusted for current economic conditions that we believe will significantly impact the long-term loss development, provides a reasonable basis for forecasting the number of claims that will be paid. Our expectations regarding future rescissions have been incorporated into the frequency factor. Severity is the estimate of the dollar amount per claim that will be paid based upon the amount of risk in default on each particular loan. The severity factors used are based on an analysis of the severity rates of recently paid claims, applied to the risk in force of the loans currently in default. The frequency and severity factors are updated quarterly. Economic conditions and other data upon which these factors are based may change more frequently than once a quarter and the impact of the change may not be perceived immediately. Therefore, significant changes in reserve requirements may become evident three or more months following the underlying events that would necessitate the change.

The estimation of loss reserves requires assumptions as to future events, and there are inherent risks and uncertainties involved in making these assumptions. Economic conditions that have affected the development of loss reserves in the past may not necessarily affect development patterns in the future in either a similar manner or degree. Furthermore, the current conditions of the economy and the mortgage market are substantially different than those we have witnessed before and, as such, we believe our estimates are susceptible to a larger degree of variation than those established in previous financial statements.

During 2009, we raised the severity factor for all loan categories above 100% (we can pay greater than 100% of the covered risk due to interest and certain foreclosure costs that we are required to pay under terms of our policies). To provide a measure of the sensitivity on pretax income and loss reserves carried on the balance sheet, we have provided the following table that quantifies the impact of reasonable percentage increases and decreases in the average frequency and severity factors as of December 31, 2009:

Effect on Pret Changes in A	
Decrease in Factors Resulting in a (Decrease) in Pretax Loss	Increase in Factors Resulting in an Increase in Pretax Loss
(Dollars in	thousands)
\$(337,969)	\$273,938
\$ (91,709)	\$ 86,335
\$(418,255)	\$346,328
	Changes in A Decrease in Factors Resulting in a (Decrease) in Pretax Loss (Dollars in \$(337,969) \$ (91,709)

The impact on loss reserves on the balance sheet would be to decrease reserves for favorable developments and to increase reserves for unfavorable developments. There would be no impact on liquidity resulting from the change in reserves. However, there would be an ultimate change in cash or invested assets equal to the increase or decrease in the actual claims ultimately paid related to the change in reserves. We believe that a 20% increase or decrease in frequency is reasonably possible based on potential ongoing changes in the housing markets, unemployment rates, rescission activity, and cultural changes regarding the choice of defaulting on a mortgage even when the borrower has the ability to pay. We believe there is a much greater propensity during 2010 for an increase in the frequency factor given the current conditions. Our loss severity is ultimately limited by the coverage percentage on individual loans but can increase from the current elevated levels. We believe that a 5% increase or decrease in severity is reasonably possible based on potential changes in future economic conditions and past experience. Economic conditions that could give rise to an increase in the frequency rate could be a sudden increase or a prolonged period of elevated unemployment rates, further deterioration in home prices especially in geographical areas that had previously been immune to such downward trends, or increased cultural or social acceptance of strategic defaults. Conversely, an improved housing market or a sustained period of economic and job growth could potentially decrease the frequency rate. Any factor that would affect our ability to sell a home of a borrower in default prior to foreclosure would affect our severity. The most prominent of these would be the value of the underlying home. Government and private industry programs designed to stem the level of foreclosure could also impact frequency and severity and the impact of these programs would most likely have a positive effect on our severity and frequency factors.

We have noted that our loss reserves as well as our reported premium income have both been reduced based on the estimate of future rescissions in the existing default portfolio. In general, a rescission occurs when we determine that fraud, misrepresentation or other specified violations occurred in the origination of a loan. When these violations are identified, insurance coverage from the date of issuance is cancelled and the entire previously paid premium is refunded.

During 2009, we experienced a much higher level of rescission activity than in previous years. This activity has been concentrated in policies originated in 2006 and 2007. We have also identified concentrations with specific lenders and by delivery channel. We incorporate a factor in our computation of loss reserves to account for expected rescissions, based upon the status of our investigation of defaults in progress and our actual experience. The effect of the factor is to reduce the loss reserve by reflecting the probability that we may rescind coverage on a certificate. The rescission factor is a significant component of the frequency factor utilized in the calculation of our loss reserves and resulted in a reduction to our gross reserves of approximately \$540 million at December 31, 2009 compared to \$239 million at December 31, 2008.

We also account for the impact of expected rescissions on revenue by establishing an accrual for expected premium refunds. In establishing this accrual, we consider the probability that a policy will be rescinded, which is consistent with the factor used in the calculation of loss reserves. In estimating the impact of expected rescissions on loss reserves and premium income, we rely on recent historical experience but also use a substantial amount of judgment.

While rescission activity has been significantly elevated in 2009 from our historical experience, our recent level of rescission activity is not necessarily indicative of future trends. Furthermore, our ability to rescind a policy may be adversely impacted by legal challenges from policyholders of our right to rescind policies. The increased level of rescission and claims denial activity by mortgage insurers has caused certain policyholders and loan servicers to institute legal actions to challenge the validity of rescissions and claim denials, and we are currently a defendant in two such proceedings. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," for further information. We believe it is likely that other lenders and mortgage servicers will challenge the ability of mortgage insurers to rescind and deny coverage, including filing of additional lawsuits. An adverse court decision against us or another mortgage insurer could set a precedent that has the effect of significantly restricting or limiting our ability to rescind policies or deny coverage of claims and require a corresponding decrease in our rescission factor.

Investments

Valuing our investment portfolio involves a variety of assumptions and estimates, particularly for investments that are not actively traded. We rely on external pricing sources for highly liquid, publicly traded securities and use an internal pricing matrix developed by our outside investment advisors for less frequently traded and privately placed securities. This matrix relies on our judgment concerning (a) the discount rate we use in calculating expected future cash flows, (b) credit quality and (c) expected maturity.

Given our recurring losses from operations and the significant doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern, we may no longer have the ability to hold impaired assets for a sufficient time to recover their value. As a result, we recognized an impairment loss on all securities that were in an unrealized loss position since December 31, 2008 and continuing through 2009.

Safe Harbor Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other portions of this report contain forward-looking statements relating to future plans, expectations and performance, which involve various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the following:

- a deeper or more prolonged recession in the United States coupled with the continued decline in home prices
 and increased unemployment levels could increase defaults and limit opportunities for borrowers to cure
 defaults or for us to mitigate losses, which could have an adverse material impact on our business or results
 of operations;
- the possibility that the Department may take various actions regarding Triad if it does not operate its business
 in accordance with its revised financial and operating plan and the Corrective Orders, including instituting
 receivership proceedings, which would likely eliminate all remaining stockholder value;
- · our ability to operate our business in and maintain a solvent run-off;
- our ability to continue as a going concern;
- the ability of TGI to pay its debt service with funds obtained from Triad, whether in the form of dividends, payments on the surplus note or otherwise, will require the approval of the Department, and it is unlikely that such approval will be sought or, if sought, will be obtained in the foreseeable future;
- if Triad is not permitted or is otherwise unable to provide funds to TGI, the available resources of TGI will be insufficient to satisfy future debt service obligations on its \$35 million outstanding long-term debt;
- our ability to rescind coverage or deny claims could be restricted or limited by legal challenges from policyholders and loan servicers;

- our loss reserve estimates are subject to uncertainties and are based on assumptions that are currently volatile
 in the housing and mortgage industries and, therefore, settled claims may be substantially different from our
 loss reserves;
- · we may not continue to realize benefits from rescissions at the levels that we have recently experienced;
- if house prices continue to fall, particularly in non-distressed markets, or remain depressed, additional borrowers may default and claims could be higher than anticipated;
- if unemployment rates continue to rise or remain at high levels, especially in those areas that have already experienced significant declines in house prices, defaults and claims could be higher than anticipated;
- further economic downturns in regions where we have larger concentrations of risk and in markets already distressed could have a particularly adverse effect on our financial condition and loss development;
- the impact of programs and legislation affecting modifications and refinancings of mortgages could materially impact our financial performance in run-off;
- our financial condition and performance in run-off could be affected by legislation adopted in the future impacting the mortgage industry, the GSEs specifically, or the financial services industry in general;
- if the GSEs or our lender customers choose to cancel the insurance on policies that we insure, our financial performance in run-off could be adversely affected;
- a significant decline in interest rates coupled with an increase in available credit could increase refinancings and decrease the persistency of renewal premiums and the quality of our insurance in force;
- if we have failed to properly underwrite mortgage loans under contract underwriting service agreements, we may be required to assume the costs of repurchasing those loans or face other remedies;
- the possibility that there will not be adequate interest in our common stock to ensure efficient pricing on the over the counter markets; and
- our ability to lower operating expenses to the most efficient level while still providing the ability to mitigate losses effectively during run-off, which will directly impact our financial performance in run-off.

Accordingly, actual results may differ from those set forth in these forward-looking statements. Attention also is directed to other risks and uncertainties set forth in documents that we file from time to time with the SEC.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information required by this Item 7A is not required to be provided by issuers that satisfy the definition of "smaller reporting company" under SEC rules.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Financial Statements and Supplementary Data are presented in a separate section of this report and are incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure None.

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures

Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic reports to the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow

timely decisions regarding required disclosure based upon the definition of "disclosure controls and procedures" set forth in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment to the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As of December 31, 2009, an evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, management has concluded that disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2009 were effective in ensuring that material information required to be disclosed in this Form 10-K was recorded, processed, summarized, and reported on a timely basis.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

On December 1, 2009, we sold our information technology and operating platform to Essent, a new mortgage insurer. Essent has established its operations and technology center in Winston-Salem, North Carolina and a number of our former information technology and operations employees have joined Essent as contemplated by the agreement. Under a services agreement, Essent is providing ongoing information systems maintenance and services, customer service and policy administration support to Triad. The outsourcing of these functions constituted a change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2009. The same controls that were in place before the outsourcing to Essent remain in place. Testing and validation of these controls were performed through and subsequent to year-end and we found that they remained intact and were operating effectively. Therefore, management has concluded that these changes during the fourth quarter of 2009 did not materially affect, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that the transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States; (3) provide reasonable assurance that our receipts and expenditures are being made in accordance with authorization of our management and directors; and (4) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention of or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring (including internal auditing practices) and actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009. Management based this assessment on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in "Internal Control — Integrated Framework" issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based upon this assessment, management determined that, as of December 31, 2009, we maintained effective internal control over financial reporting.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permits us to provide only management's report in this annual report.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Certain information called for by this Item is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings "Election of Directors," "Executive Officers," "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" and "Corporate Governance," and is hereby incorporated by reference.

For information regarding our executive officers, reference is made to the section entitled "Executive Officers" in Part I, Item 1 of this Report.

Code of Ethics

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics for our principal executive and senior financial officers which is available at our website at: http://www.triadguaranty.com. This Code of Ethics supplements our Code of Conduct applicable to all employees and directors and is intended to promote honest and ethical conduct, full and accurate reporting and compliance with laws as well as other matters.

To the extent permissible under applicable law, the rules of the SEC or applicable listing standards, we also intend to post on our website any waiver of or amendment to the Code of Ethics that requires disclosure under applicable law, SEC rules or applicable listing standards.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information called for by this Item is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings "Executive Compensation" and "Director Compensation," and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information called for by this Item is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings "Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans" and "Principal Holders of Common Stock," and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information called for by this Item is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings "Certain Transactions" and "Corporate Governance — The Board of Directors," and is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information called for by this Item is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the heading "Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fee Information," and is hereby incorporated by reference.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

- (a) (1) and (2) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report and is incorporated herein by reference.
- (a) (3) Listing of Exhibits The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as the "Exhibit Index" of this report and is incorporated herein by reference.
 - (b) Exhibits Please see Exhibit Index.
- (c) Financial Statement Schedules The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this report and is incorporated herein by reference.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Triad Guaranty Inc.

By:	/s/ Kenneth W. Jones
	Kenneth W. Jones
A 11 1	President and Chief Executive Officer

March 19, 2010

Signature

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on the 19th day of March, 2010, by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

Chairman of the Board
President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
(
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
Director
Director
Director
Director

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

ITEM 8, ITEM 15(a)(1) and (2), (3), (b), and (c)
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES
INDEX TO EXHIBITS

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
CERTAIN EXHIBITS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
TRIAD GUARANTY INC.
WINSTON-SALEM, NORTH CAROLINA

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(Item 15(a) (1) and (2))

Consolidated Financial Statements Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	60
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008	61
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2009 and 2008	01
Consolidated Statements of Operations for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009	62
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009	e 63
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009	64
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	65
Financial Statement Schedules	
Schedules at and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009	. •
Schedule I — Summary of Investments — Other Than Investments in Related Parties	89
Schedule II — Condensed Financial Information of Registrant	90
Schedule IV — Reinsurance	98
All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in	n amoun
sufficient to require submission of the schedules, or because the information required is included in the co financial statements and notes thereto.	nsolidate
	onsolidate
financial statements and notes thereto.	nsolidate
financial statements and notes thereto.	nsolidate
financial statements and notes thereto.	nsolidate
financial statements and notes thereto.	nsolidate
financial statements and notes thereto.	nsolidate

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Triad Guaranty Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Triad Guaranty Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders' (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at item 15(a). These financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Triad Guaranty Inc. at December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2009 in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that Triad Guaranty Inc. will continue as a going concern. As more fully described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company is operating the business in run-off under Corrective Orders with the Illinois Department of Insurance and has reported a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2009 and has a Stockholders' deficiency in assets at December 31, 2009. These conditions raise substantial doubt about Triad Guaranty Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The 2009 consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP ...

Atlanta, Georgia March 19, 2010

TRIAD GUARANTY INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	Decemb	oer 31,
	2009 (Dollars in thouper shar	
ASSETS	per snar	c uata)
Invested assets:		
Securities available-for-sale, at fair value:		
Fixed maturities (amortized cost: \$738,149 and \$844,964)	\$ 784,830	\$ 854,186
Equity securities (cost: \$0 and \$566)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	583
Short-term investments	26,651	40,653
Total invested assets	811,481	895,422
Cash and cash equivalents	21,839	39,940
Real estate acquired in claim settlement		713
Accrued investment income	9,048	10,515
Property and equipment, at cost less accumulated depreciation (\$18,191 and		
\$25,294)	3,515	7,747
Reinsurance recoverable, net	233,499	150,848
Other assets	45,444	25,349
Total assets	<u>\$1,124,826</u>	\$1,130,534
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT	,	
Liabilities:		
Losses and loss adjustment expenses	\$1,537,043	\$1,187,840
Unearned premiums	12,153	15,863
Amounts payable to reinsurers	7	719
Long-term debt	34,540	34,529
Deferred payment obligation	168,386	<i></i>
Accrued interest	2,476	1,275
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	76,579	26,974
Total liabilities	1,831,184	1,267,200
Commitments and contingencies — Note 5	1,031,104	1,207,200
Stockholders' deficit:		
Preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share — authorized 1,000,000 shares; no	*	
shares issued and outstanding		
Common stock, par value \$0.01 per share — authorized 32,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 15,258,128 and 15,161,259 shares	153	151
Additional paid-in capital	113,848	112,629
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of income tax liability of \$18,575 and \$3,265	30,782	6,063
Accumulated deficit	(851,141)	(255,509)
Deficit in assets	(706,358)	(136,666)
Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit	<u>\$1,124,826</u>	\$1,130,534

See accompanying notes.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

The Application of the Committee of the	Year Ended December 31		
	2009	2008	
	(Dollars in thousands, except personal share data)		
Revenue:		,	
Premiums written:			
Direct	\$ 217,012	\$ 316,310	
Ceded	(40,872)	(60,777)	
Net premiums written	176,140	255,533	
Change in unearned premiums	3,518	1,890	
Earned premiums	179,658	257,423	
Net investment income	44,133	39,580	
Net realized investment gains (losses)	1,354	(26,559)	
Other income	12,666	8	
	237,811	270,452	
Losses and expenses:			
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses	807,627	923,301	
Interest expense	6,034	3,557	
Policy acquisition costs	. —	39,416	
Other operating expenses	35,911	58,709	
	849,572	1,024,983	
Loss before income tax benefit	(611,761)	(754,531)	
Income tax benefit:			
Current	(2,818)	(2,012)	
Deferred	(13,311)	(121,392)	
	(16,129)	(123,404)	
Net loss	\$ (595,632)	\$ (631,127)	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Loss per common and common equivalent share:	e (30.50)	40.07	
Basic and diluted	<u>\$ (39.70)</u>	\$ (42.27)	
Shares used in computing loss per common and common equivalent share:			
Basic and diluted	15,002,275	14,929,692	
	* .		

TRIAD GUARANTY INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY

	Common Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	Retained Earnings (Accumulated Deficit)	Total
		(Dollars in thousands)			
Balance at January 1, 2008	149	109,679	13,405	375,618	498,851
Net loss				(631,127)	(631,127)
Other comprehensive income-net of tax		*1			
Change in unrealized (losses) on investments	-		(3,264)	********	(3,264)
Foreign currency translation adjustment			(4,078)		(4,078)
Other comprehensive loss					(7,342)
Comprehensive loss					(638,469)
Share-based compensation		4,257			4,257
Tax effect of exercise of non-qualified stock options and vesting of restricted stock		(1,305)) —	. بسطين	(1,305)
Net issuance of restricted stock under stock incentive plan	2	(2))	مادماندند مادانداندنداندنداندنداندندندندندندندندند	
Balance at December 31, 2008	151	112,629	6,063	(255,509)	(136,666)
Net loss			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(595,632)	(595,632)
Other comprehensive income-net of tax Change in unrealized gains on investments		-	24,719		24,719
Other comprehensive loss					24,719
Comprehensive loss					(570,913)
Share-based compensation		1,221	water		1,221
Net issuance of restricted stock under stock incentive plan		(2)		مثلث الله الله الله الله الله الله الله ا
Balance at December 31, 2009	<u>\$153</u>	\$113,848	\$30,782	<u>\$(851,141)</u>	<u>\$(706,358)</u>

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

	Year Ended December 31,	
	(Dollars in thousands)	
Operating activities	(201111)	······································
Net loss	\$(595,632)	\$(631,127)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:	1()/	, .
Losses, loss adjustment expenses and unearned premium reserves	345,493	825,971
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	49,605	16,395
Deferred payment obligation	168,386	· · . .
Income taxes recoverable	(10,473)	(1,234)
Reinsurance, net	(83,363)	(150,839)
Accrued investment income	1,467	(286)
Policy acquisition costs deferred		(3,173)
Policy acquisition costs	(1.254)	39,416
Net realized investment (gains) losses Provision for depreciation	(1,354)	26,559
Accretion of discount on investments	2,402	4,951
Deferred income taxes	(1,812) (13,311)	2,737 (121,392)
Prepaid federal income taxes	15,311)	115,993
Real estate acquired in claim settlement, net of write-downs	713	10,147
Accrued interest	1,201	(80)
Other assets	392	8,878
Other operating activities		4,222
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities	(134,910)	147,138
Investing activities	(101,010)	1-17,150
Securities available-for-sale:	***	
Purchases — fixed maturities	(182,251)	(839,372)
Sales — fixed maturities	215,645	633,928
Maturities — fixed maturities	67,781	40,473
Sales — equities	762	287
Purchases of other investments	(873)	
Net change in short-term investments.	13,915	14,074
Disposal (purchases) of property and equipment	1,830	(1,296)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	116,809	(151,906)
Repayment of revolving credit facility		(80,000)
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation		15
Net cash used in financing activities		(79,985) (118)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	(18,101)	(84,871)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	39,940	124,811
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$ 21,839	\$ 39,940
Supplemental schedule of cash flow information Cash paid (received) during the period for:		
Income taxes and United States Mortgage Guaranty Tax and Loss Bonds Interest	\$ 7,721 \$ 2,766	\$(122,111) \$ 3,631
		,

See accompanying notes.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS December 31, 2009

1. Accounting Policies

Business

Triad Guaranty Inc. ("TGI") is a holding company which, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation ("TGIC"), historically has provided mortgage insurance coverage in the United States. Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "Triad" in this annual report on Form 10-K refer to the operations of TGIC and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Assurance Corporation ("TGAC"). References to the "Company" refer collectively to the operations of TGI and Triad. Mortgage insurance allows buyers to achieve homeownership with a reduced down payment, facilitates the sale of mortgage loans in the secondary market and protects lenders from credit default-related expenses. Triad ceased issuing new commitments for mortgage guaranty insurance coverage on July 15, 2008 and is operating its business in run-off under two Corrective Orders issued by the Illinois Department of Insurance (the "Department"). The first Corrective Order was issued in August 2008. The second Corrective Order was issued in March 2009 and subsequently amended in May 2009. As used in these financial statements, the term "run-off" means writing no new mortgage insurance policies, but continuing to service existing policies. Servicing existing policies includes: receiving premiums on policies that remain in force; cancelling coverage at the insured's request; terminating policies for non-payment of premium; working with borrowers in default to remedy the default and/or mitigate our loss; reviewing policies for the existence of misrepresentation, fraud or non-compliance with stated programs; and settling all legitimate filed claims per the provisions of the two Corrective Orders issued by the Department. The term "settled," as used in these financial statements in the context of the payment of a claim, refers to the satisfaction of Triad's obligations following the submission of valid claims by our policyholders. Prior to June 1, 2009, valid claims were settled solely by a cash payment. Effective on and after June 1, 2009, valid claims are settled by a combination of 60% in cash and 40% in the form of a deferred payment obligation ("DPO"), as discussed further in this Note 1. The Corrective Orders, among other things, allow management to continue to operate Triad under the close supervision of the Department, include restrictions on the distribution of dividends or interest on notes payable to TGI by Triad, and include restrictions on the payment of claims.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), which vary in some respects from statutory accounting practices which are prescribed or permitted by the various state insurance departments in the United States.

Accounting Standards Codification

In June 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 168, *The FASB Accounting Standards Codification and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles* ("SFAS 168"). SFAS 168 establishes the "FASB Accounting Standards Codification" (the "Codification" or "Accounting Standards Codification" ("ASC")), which was officially launched on July 1, 2009, and became the primary source of authoritative GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities. Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the authority of Federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for SEC registrants. The subsequent issuances of new standards will be in the form of Accounting Standards Updates ("ASUs") that will be included in the Codification. SFAS 168 is included in ASC 105-10, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("ASC 105-10"), and is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009. The Company adopted the Codification for the interim period ended September 30, 2009. As the Codification is neither expected nor intended to change GAAP, the adoption of SFAS 168 did not have any effect on the Company's accounting policies nor did it have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the amounts of Triad Guaranty Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, TGIC, including TGIC's wholly-owned subsidiary, TGAC. Triad Re Insurance Corporation ("Triad Re") was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Triad as of December 31, 2008 and was liquidated during the fourth quarter of 2009. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Investments

All fixed maturity and equity securities are classified as "available-for-sale" and are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net of tax, are reported as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Effective on and subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company has recognized an impairment loss on all securities for which the fair value was less than the amortized cost at the balance sheet date because the Company is no longer in a position to retain a security until it recovers value due to the ongoing losses and the regulatory oversight. Fair value generally represents quoted market value prices for securities traded in the public market or prices analytically determined using bid or closing prices for securities not traded in the public marketplace. Realized investment gains or losses are determined on a specific identification basis. Prior to December 31, 2008, the Company evaluated its investments regularly to determine whether there were declines in values that were other-than-temporary. When the Company determined that a security had experienced an other-than-temporary impairment, the impairment loss was recognized in the period as a realized investment loss.

Short-term investments are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments, both readily convertible to known amounts of cash and having maturities of twelve months or less upon acquisition by the Company and are not used to fund operational cash flows of the Company.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash equivalents to be short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are used to fund operational cash flow needs.

Other Income

Other income in 2009 primarily represents the gain recognized on the sale of the rights to the mortgage insurance operating system and certain hardware to Essent Guaranty, Inc. ("Essent"). The gain recognized reflects the guaranteed sales price; future contingent consideration was not considered in calculating the gain.

Real Estate Acquired in Claim Settlement

Real estate is sometimes acquired in the settlement of claims as part of the Company's effort to mitigate losses. The real estate is carried at the lower of cost or fair value at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses from the holding or disposition of real estate acquired in claim settlement are recorded in net losses and LAE. The Company did not hold any properties at December 31, 2009, and held only five properties at December 31, 2008 that were subsequently disposed of in 2009.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Premium Deficiency Reserve and Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Prior to run-off, the costs of acquiring new business, principally sales compensation and certain policy underwriting and issue costs, that are primarily related to the production of new business, were capitalized as deferred policy acquisition costs. Amortization of such policy acquisition costs was charged to expense in proportion to premiums recognized over the estimated policy life.

The Company historically prepared an analysis to determine if the deferred policy acquisition costs on our balance sheet were recoverable against the future profits of the existing book of business. In the first quarter of 2008, the Company determined that a premium deficiency existed in its book of business, and thus the entire unamortized balance of deferred policy acquisition costs of \$39.4 million was written off as non-recoverable. Subsequently, there has been no capitalization of acquisition costs.

Property and Equipment

We periodically review the carrying value of our long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable. For long-lived assets to be held and used, impairments are recognized when the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.

Property and equipment is recorded at cost and is depreciated principally on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, generally three to five years, of the depreciable assets. Property and equipment primarily consists of computer hardware, software, furniture, and equipment. Certain assets relating to the mortgage insurance operating platform along with computer hardware to support it were sold in the fourth quarter of 2009.

Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

Reserves are provided for the estimated costs of settling claims on loans reported in default and loans in default that are in the process of being reported to the Company. Consistent with industry accounting practices, the Company does not establish loss reserves for future claims on insured loans that are not currently in default. Loss reserves are established by management using a process that incorporates various components in a model that gives effect to current economic conditions and segments defaults by a variety of criteria. The criteria include, among others, policy year, combined loan-to-value, number of payments missed, and default status (bankruptcy, fore-closure, claim expected, etc.). The Company also incorporates in the calculation of loss reserves the probability that a policy may be rescinded for underwriting violations.

Frequency and severity are the two most significant assumptions in the establishment of the Company's loss reserves. Frequency is used to estimate the ultimate number of paid claims associated with the current defaulted loans. The frequency estimate assumes that long-term historical experience, taking into consideration criteria such as those described in the preceding paragraph, and adjusted for current economic conditions that the Company believes will significantly impact the long-term loss development, provides a reasonable basis for forecasting the number of claims that will be paid. An important determinant of the frequency factor is the Company's estimate of the number and amount of reported defaults that we anticipate will be rescinded due to fraud, misrepresentation, or program violations at the loan origination. Severity is the estimate of the dollar amount per claim that will be paid. The severity factors are estimates of the percent of the risk in force that will be paid. The severity factors used are based on an analysis of the severity rates of recently paid claims, applied to the risk in force of the loans currently in default. The frequency and severity factors are updated quarterly.

The estimation of loss reserves requires assumptions as to future events, and there are inherent risks and uncertainties involved in making these assumptions. Economic conditions that have affected the development of

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

loss reserves in the past may not necessarily affect development patterns in the future in either a similar manner or degree. As adjustments to these liabilities become necessary, such adjustments are reflected in current operations.

Reinsurance

Certain premiums and losses are assumed from and ceded to other insurance companies under various reinsurance agreements. Reinsurance premiums, loss reimbursement, and reserves related to reinsurance business are accounted for on a basis consistent with that used in accounting for the original policies issued and the terms of the reinsurance contracts. The Company may receive a ceding commission in connection with ceded reinsurance. If so, the ceding commission is earned on a monthly pro rata basis in the same manner as the premium and is recorded as a reduction of other operating expenses.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

Federal tax law permits mortgage guaranty insurance companies to deduct from taxable income, subject to certain limitations, the amounts added to contingency loss reserves. Generally, the amounts so deducted must be included in taxable income in the tenth subsequent year. This deduction is allowed only to the extent that non-interest bearing United States Mortgage Guaranty Tax and Loss Bonds ("Tax and Loss Bonds") are purchased and held in an amount equal to the tax benefit attributable to such deduction. The Company accounts for these purchases as a prepayment of federal income taxes. As a result of ongoing operating losses, the previously established contingency reserve has been completely released earlier than the originally scheduled ten years. Accordingly, the previously purchased Tax and Loss Bonds associated with the contingency reserve release were redeemed early in 2008.

The Company uses the provisions of ASC 740, *Income Taxes* ("ASC 740") to account for and report tax positions taken or expected to be taken in its tax return that directly or indirectly affects amounts reported in its financial statements, including the accounting and disclosure for uncertainty in tax positions. During 2009, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") completed an examination of the Company's 2007, 2006 and 2005 federal returns. In connection with the examination, the IRS has assessed a total of \$7.7 million of alternative minimum tax (the "AMT"). The Company disagrees with the agent's findings and the matter is currently under appeal. The Company recorded this assessment as a current tax accrual of \$5.5 million in 2008 and as an additional \$2.2 million in 2009. The Company also deposited \$7.7 million with the U.S. Treasury to stop the accrual of interest until the matter can be heard by the Appellate Division. The *Worker, Homeownership and Business Assistance Act of 2009*, which was passed by Congress in November 2009, among other things, extends the period for which net operating losses ("NOL") can be carried back to recover previous taxes paid from two years to five years. Due to the significant tax loss generated in 2008 and 2009, the Company expects to be able to recover all of the AMT assessed for the years under examination and also expects to recover approximately \$4.0 million of regular tax paid from tax years 2005 and 2006. The Company recognized a current tax benefit of \$2.8 million in 2009 related to these items.

If the Company determines that any of its deferred tax assets will not result in future tax benefits, a valuation allowance must be established for the portion of those assets that are not expected to be realized. At December 31, 2009, the Company established a valuation allowance of approximately \$349.7 million against a \$367.0 million deferred tax asset. Based upon a review of the Company's anticipated future taxable income, including all other

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

available evidence, both positive and negative, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that the \$349.7 million of the gross deferred tax assets will not be realized.

The Company's policy for recording interest and penalties, if any, associated with audits is to record such items as a component of income before taxes. Penalties would be recorded in "other operating expenses" and interest paid or received would be recorded as interest expense or interest income, respectively, in the statement of operations.

Income Recognition

The Company writes policies that are guaranteed renewable contracts at the policyholder's option on single premium, annual premium, and monthly premium bases. The Company does not have the option to re-underwrite these contracts. Premiums written on a monthly basis are earned in the month coverage is provided. Premiums written on annual policies are earned on a monthly pro rata basis. Single premium policies covering more than one year are amortized over the estimated policy life in accordance with the expiration of risk.

Cancellation of a policy generally results in the unearned portion of the premium paid being refunded to the policyholder. However, many of the annual paying policies are paid by the lender and are non-refundable. The cancellation of one of these policies would impact earned premium through the release of the unearned premium reserve at the time of the cancellation. The amounts earned through the cancellation of annual paying policies are not significant to earned premium. Through the claim and default investigation process, the Company has rescinded coverage on an increasing number of insurance polices due to fraud or misrepresentation by the borrower or program violations by the lender at origination. Historically, in the rare circumstances when a policy was rescinded, the entire premium paid to date was refunded to the policyholder and a charge to premium income was made in the period when the rescission was made. In recognition of the increasing amount of rescissions, the Company records an accrual to recognize the anticipated premium refunds due to future rescissions embedded in the existing default portfolio.

Significant Customers

Since the Company has been in run-off since July 15, 2008, the Company is not issuing commitments for any new insurance and, therefore, does not have customers in the traditional sense, only renewal premiums on existing policies.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company utilizes the provisions of ASC 715, Compensation — Retirement Benefits ("ASC 715") in the accounting for "share-based" compensation to employees and non-employee directors. ASC 715 requires companies to recognize in the statement of operations the grant-date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation. See Note 12 for further information related to share-based compensation expense.

(Loss) Earnings Per Share ("EPS")

Basic and diluted EPS are based on the weighted-average daily number of shares outstanding. For the year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the basic and diluted EPS denominators are the same weighted-average daily number of shares outstanding. In computing diluted EPS, only potential common shares that are dilutive — those that reduce EPS or increase loss per share — are included. Exercise of options and unvested restricted stock are not assumed if the result would be antidilutive, such as when a loss from operations is reported.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). For the Company, other comprehensive income (loss) is composed of unrealized gains or losses on available-for-sale securities, net of income tax, and the unrealized gains or losses on the change in foreign currency translation in

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2008, net of income taxes. The components of comprehensive income (loss) are displayed in the following table, along with the related tax effects:

en la companya di mangantan di Kabupatèn Banggaran Kabupatèn Banggaran Kabupatèn Banggaran Kabupatèn Banggaran	2009	2008
Market Committee Com		thousands)
Unrealized gain (losses) arising during the period, before taxes	\$ 39,384	\$(31,580)
Income tax (expense) benefit	(13,784)	11,053
Unrealized gains (losses) arising during the period, net of taxes	25,600	(20,527)
Less reclassification adjustment:	Trip to	
Gain (Loss) realized in operations	1,354	(26,559)
Income tax (expense) benefit.	(473)	9,296
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in operations	881	(17,263)
Change in unrealized losses on investments	24,719	(3,264)
Foreign currency translation adjustment, before taxes.	<u> </u>	(5,531)
Income tax benefit		1,453(1)
Foreign currency translation adjustment, after taxes	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(4,078)
Other comprehensive income (loss)	\$ 24,719	\$ (7,342)

⁽¹⁾ Tax effect calculated from unrealized gain on subsidiary of \$4,151.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU No. 2010-06, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820): Improving Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements ("ASU 2010-06"). ASU 2010-06 requires new disclosures and clarifies existing disclosure requirements about fair value measurement as set forth in Codification Subtopic 820-10. ASU 2010-06 amends Codification Subtopic 820-10 to now require that (1) a reporting entity must disclose separately the amounts of significant transfers in and out of Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and describe the reasons for the transfers; (2) in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs, a reporting entity should present separately information about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements and (3) a reporting entity should provide disclosures about the valuation techniques and inputs used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring fair value measurements. ASU 2010-06 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements in the roll forward of activity in Level 3 fair value measurements. Those disclosures are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2010, and for interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company plans to include the disclosures required by ASU 2010-06 in the notes to its consolidated financial statements effective January 1, 2010, except for the disclosures related to Level 3 fair value measurements, which it plans to include in the notes to its consolidated financial statements effective January 1, 2011.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-17, Consolidations (Topic 810) — Improvements to Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities ("ASU 2009-17"). ASU 2009-17 codifies SFAS 167, Amendments to FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), and amends the consolidation guidance related to a variable interest entity ("VIE"). Primarily, the current quantitative analysis used under ASC 810, Consolidations, will be eliminated and replaced with a qualitative approach that is focused on identifying the variable interest that has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the performance of the VIE and absorb losses or receive returns that could potentially be significant to the VIE. In addition, this new accounting standard will require an ongoing reassessment of the primary beneficiary of the VIE, rather than reassessing the primary beneficiary only

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

upon the occurrence of certain pre-defined events. ASU 2009-17 will be effective as of the beginning of the annual reporting period that begins after November 15, 2009, and requires the reconsideration of all VIEs for consolidation in which an entity has a variable interest upon the effective date of these amendments. The Company plans to adopt the provisions of ASU 2009-17 effective January 1, 2010, and does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on its consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-16, Transfers and Servicing (Topic 860) — Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets ("ASU 2009-16"). ASU 2009-16 formally codifies SFAS 166, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets. ASU 2009-16 eliminates the concept of a qualifying special-purpose entity ("SPE") and removes the scope exception for a qualifying SPE from ASC 810, Consolidations. As a result, previously unconsolidated qualifying SPEs must be re-evaluated for consolidation by the sponsor or transferor. In addition, this accounting update amends the accounting guidance related to transfers of financial assets in order to address practice issues that have been highlighted by the events of the recent economic decline. ASU 2009-16 is effective as of the beginning of the annual reporting period that begins after November 15, 2009. The recognition and measurement provisions will be applied to transfers that occur on or after the effective date and all qualifying SPEs that exist on and after the effective date must be evaluated for consolidation. The Company plans to adopt the provisions of ASU 2009-16 effective January 1, 2010, and does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on its consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-05, Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures: Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value ("ASU 2009-05"), which provides clarification on measuring liabilities at fair value when a quoted price in an active market is not available. ASU 2009-05 is effective for the reporting period ending December 31, 2009. The adoption of ASU 2009-05 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Effective June 30, 2009, the Company adopted ASC 855-10, Subsequent Events ("ASC 855-10"). ASC 855-10 is based upon the same principles that exist within the auditing standards and thus formally establishes accounting standards for disclosing those events occurring after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are issued or available to be issued. The statement requires public entities to evaluate subsequent events through the date that the financial statements are issued, while all other entities should evaluate subsequent events through the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. ASC 855-10 categorizes subsequent events into recognized subsequent events (or historically Type I events) and nonrecognized subsequent events (or historically Type II events). The statement also enhances disclosure requirements for subsequent events. ASC 855-10 was effective upon issuance. The adoption of ASC 855-10 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Effective June 30, 2009, the Company adopted new guidance included under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ("ASC 820"). This new guidance under ASC 820 requires disclosures of the fair value of financial instruments for interim reporting periods of publicly traded companies in addition to the annual disclosure required at year-end. The provisions of the new standard were effective for the interim periods ending after June 15, 2009. The Company has presented the necessary disclosures herein in Note 7, "Fair Value Measurement."

Effective June 30, 2009, the Company adopted ASC 320, *Investments*— *Debt and Equity Securities* ("ASC 320-10"). Under ASC 320, an other-than-temporary impairment is recognized when an entity has the intent to sell a debt security or when it is more likely than not that an entity will be required to sell the debt security before its anticipated recovery in value. The new guidance does not amend existing recognition and measurement guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities and is effective for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. The adoption of ASC 320 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Effective June 30, 2009, the Company adopted new guidance under ASC 820, which provides guidance related to: (1) estimating fair value when the volume and level of activity for an asset or liability have significantly

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

decreased in relation to normal market activity for the asset or liability, and (2) circumstances that may indicate that a transaction is not orderly (e.g., a forced liquidation or distressed sale). This new guidance was effective prospectively for interim and annual reporting periods ending after June 15, 2009. The adoption of the new guidance under ASC 820 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted ASC 805-10, *Business Combinations* ("ASC 805-10"), which is intended to improve reporting by creating greater consistency in the accounting and financial reporting of business combinations, resulting in more complete, comparable and relevant information for investors and other users of financial statements. To achieve this goal, the new standard requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all (and only) the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction; establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and expands the disclosure requirements for material business combinations. The adoption of ASC 805-10 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted ASC 810, Consolidations ("ASC 810"). ASC 810-10-65, Transition and Open Effective Date Information, is intended to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency of financial information provided to investors by requiring all entities to report noncontrolling (minority) interests in subsidiaries in the same way as equity in the consolidated financial statements. Moreover, ASC 810 eliminates the diversity that currently exists in accounting for transactions between an entity and noncontrolling interests by requiring that they be treated as equity transactions. The presentation and disclosure requirements of ASC 810 were applied retrospectively. The adoption of ASC 810 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

2. Going Concern

The Company prepares its financial statements presented in this annual report on Form 10-K in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). The financial statements for Triad that are provided to the Department and that form the basis for our corrective plan required by the Corrective Orders were prepared in accordance with Statutory Accounting Principles ("SAP") as set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code or prescribed by the Department. The primary differences between GAAP and SAP for Triad at December 31, 2009 were the methodology utilized for the establishment of reserves and the reporting requirements relating to the DPO stipulated in the second Corrective Order. A deficit in assets occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under GAAP. A deficiency in policyholders' surplus occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under SAP. A deficit in assets is not necessarily a measure of insolvency. However, the Company believes that if Triad were to report an other-than-temporary deficiency in policyholders' surplus under SAP, Illinois law may require the Department to seek receivership of Triad, which could lead TGI to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws. The second Corrective Order attempts to mitigate the possibility of a deficiency in policyholders' surplus by providing for the settlement of claims 60% in cash and 40% in the form of a DPO, which is accounted for as a component of policyholders' surplus under SAP.

The Company has prepared its financial statements on a going concern basis under GAAP, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. However, there is substantial doubt as to the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. This uncertainty is based on, among other things, the possible inability of Triad to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders, the Company's recurring losses from operations and the Company reporting an increasing deficit in assets as of the end of the last two years. The Company's financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or amounts of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in existence.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The Company incurred significant operating losses in 2009 and 2008 which resulted in a deficit in assets of \$706.4 million at December 31, 2009. The ongoing operating losses and the deficit in assets is primarily the result of increased defaults and higher reserves relating to the mortgages that the Company has insured. Contributing to the defaults and claims have been declines in U.S home prices, particularly in certain distressed markets, tightened credit markets, rising unemployment, and the overall effects of the economic recession in the United States. Additionally, the Company is unable to offset these operating losses with revenue from new, potentially more profitable, business as Triad is operating in run-off under the two Corrective Orders issued by the Department and can no longer issue commitments for new insurance.

As noted above, effective on and after June 1, 2009, valid claims are settled by a combination of 60% in cash and 40% in the form of a deferred payment obligation ("DPO"). Absent the accounting treatment required by the recording of the DPO, Triad would have reported a deficiency in policyholders' surplus of \$597.8 million at December 31, 2009. Payment of the carrying charges and the DPO will be subject to Triad's future financial performance and will require approval of the Department. Failure to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders could result in the imposition of fines or penalties or subject Triad to further legal proceedings, including receivership proceedings for the conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of Triad. Any actions like this would lead TGI to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws. The ability to successfully comply with the Corrective Orders and maintain statutory solvency by management is unknown at this time and is dependent upon many factors, including improved macroeconomic conditions in the United States.

3. Investments

The cost or amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and the fair value of investments at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

	December 31, 2009			
	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
•		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Available-for-sale securities:			1.0	
Fixed maturity securities:				
U.S. government and agencies	\$ 24,957	\$ 303	\$ —	\$ 25,260
Foreign government and corporate debt	9,991	311		10,302
Corporate debt	468,998	32,001	. · ·	500,999
Residential mortgage-backed	102,392	5,014		107,406
Asset-backed	36,844	2,548		39,392
State and municipal bonds	94,967	6,504		101,471
Total fixed maturity securities	738,149	46,681	· . <u> </u>	784,830
Short-term investments	26,650	1		26,651
	<u>\$764,799</u>	\$46,682	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$811,481</u>

 $\label{eq:triad} \textbf{TRIAD GUARANTY INC.}$ NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

and the second of the second o	December 31, 2008			** .
and the second of the second o	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Available-for-sale securities:				
Fixed maturity securities:				* *
U. S. government and agencies	\$ 7,646	\$ 350	\$	\$ 7,996
Foreign government and corporate debt	17,010	302	_	17,312
Corporate debt	474,572	2,484	nan kar <u>ala</u> n	477,056
Residential mortgage-backed	123,394	3,285	********	126,679
Asset-backed	65,667	82		65,749
State and municipal bonds	156,675	2,719	· · ·	159,394
Total fixed maturity securities	844,964	9,222		854,186
Equity securities	566	17	<u>-</u>	583
Short-term investments	40,565	. 88	·	40,653
the description of the second	<u>\$886,095</u>	<u>\$9,327</u>	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$895,422</u>

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investments in fixed maturity securities, at December 31, 2009, are summarized by stated maturity as follows:

	Availabl	e-for-Sale
	Amortized Cost	Value Fair
	(Dollars in	thousands)
Maturity:		
One year or less	\$119,736	\$122,790
After one year through five years	390,428	416,759
After five years through ten years	86,939	93,897
After ten years	<u>141,046</u>	151,384
Total	\$738,149	\$784,830

Actual and expected maturity for certain securities may differ from stated maturity due to call and prepayment provisions.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Realized Gains (Losses) Related to Investments

The details of net realized investment gains (losses) including other-than-temporary impairments are as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,	
	2009	2008
	(Dollars	in thousands)
Securities available-for-sale:		
Fixed maturity securities:		
Gross realized gains	\$ 7,087	\$ 10,262
Gross realized losses	(5,820)	(38,570)
Equity securities:		
Gross realized gains	71	44
Gross realized losses	(111)	(1,705)
Foreign currency gross realized gains	85	3,404
Other investment gains	42	6
Net realized gains (losses)	\$ 1,354	<u>\$(26,559)</u>

Gross realized gains in 2009 were primarily attributable to the sale of previously-impaired securities. Gross realized losses in 2009 and 2008 were primarily attributable to the write downs of other-than-temporary impaired securities.

Major categories of the Company's net investment income are summarized as follows:

	Year Ended December 3	
	2009	2008
	(Dollars in	thousands)
Income:		
Fixed maturities	\$44,563	\$37,549
Preferred stocks	14	127
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments	659	2,973
	45,236	40,649
Expenses	(1,103)	(1,069)
Net investment income	<u>\$44,133</u>	\$39,580

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, investments with an amortized cost of \$8.7 million and \$8.9 million, respectively, were on deposit with various state insurance departments to satisfy regulatory requirements. At December 31, 2009, investments with an amortized cost of \$168.4 million were supporting our DPOs as required pursuant to the second Corrective Order.

4. Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs ("DAC")

Prior to the need for the establishment of a premium deficiency initially recognized at March 31, 2008, the Company capitalized costs to acquire new business as DAC and recognized these as expenses against future gross profits. In accordance with GAAP, an analysis was prepared to determine if the DAC asset on the balance sheet was recoverable against the future profits in the existing book of business. At March 31, 2008, the Company determined that the net present value of the estimated future cash flows on the remaining book of business exceeded the recorded reserves (net of the unamortized DAC) which required the establishment of a premium deficiency reserve.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The actual mechanics of recording the premium deficiency reserve required that the Company first reduce the DAC balance to zero before recording any additional premium deficiency reserve. Therefore, the Company wrote down the DAC asset by \$39.4 million in the first quarter of 2008. The Company has not capitalized any costs to acquire new business subsequent to the first quarter of 2008, but has included the limited amount of such costs in the line item "Other operating costs" on its statement of operations.

5. Reserve for Losses and LAE

Activity for the reserve for losses and LAE for 2009 and 2008 is summarized as follows:

	2009	2008
	(Dollars in thousands)	
Balance at January 1,	\$1,187,840	\$ 359,939
Less: reinsurance recoverables	(156,837)	(7,305)
	1,031,003	352,634
Incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses net of reinsurance recoveries (principally in respect of default notices received in):		
Current year	719,666	873,568
Deficiency on prior years	87,961	49,733
Total incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses	807,627	923,301
Loss and loss adjustment expense payments net of reinsurance recoveries (principally in respect of default notices received in):		
Current year	40,085	38,974
Prior years	490,708	205,958
Total loss and loss adjustment expense payments	530,793	244,932
Net ending balance at December 31,	1,307,837	1,031,003
Reinsurance recoverables	229,206	156,837
Balance at December 31,	\$1,537,043	<u>\$1,187,840</u>

The foregoing reconciliation shows deficiencies in the reserve for losses and LAE at December 31, 2009 and 2008. The deficiencies recognized in 2009 and 2008 were reflective of increased frequency and severity factors subsequent to the previous year end caused by the continuous decline in the housing markets.

The Company provided reserves on reported defaults using assumptions that estimate the projected "frequency" (percentage of defaults that will ultimately be paid as claims) and "severity" (percentage of our exposure on each individual default that will ultimately be paid as a claim). The Company's estimates utilized in the reserve process for frequency and severity are impacted by historical trends adjusted for changing market conditions. Declines in home prices at a faster rate than anticipated, the impact of a higher unemployment rate than anticipated, an unanticipated slowdown of the overall economy, or social and cultural changes that are more accepting of mortgage defaults even when the borrower has the ability to pay can impact the actual frequency and severity realized during the year compared to those utilized in the reserve assumptions at the beginning of the year. Changes in the frequency and severity factors are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate and are reported as an expense in the year in which external factors caused the change in assumptions. Due to the rapid decline in home prices in 2008 and changes in the mortgage markets that reduced borrowers' ability to refinance loans, the Company adjusted its assumptions regarding both frequency and severity in 2009 and 2008. The adjustments that were made to the frequency factor had the biggest impact because a larger percentage of loans that initially defaulted are now expected to result in a paid claim. Offsetting this increase somewhat was the impact from an anticipated increase in the number of policies rescinded, which resulted in a slight reduction in the frequency factor overall. The lack of

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

mitigation opportunities due to declining house prices, further reduced by an excess of housing inventory, also impacted the severity factor.

6. Commitments

The Company leases its office facilities and equipment under operating leases. Net rental expense for all leases was \$0.6 million for 2009 and \$2.8 million for 2008. Net rental expense included an additional \$1.0 million in 2008 in connection with the abandoned lease expense associated with certain exit cost accruals. During 2009, the accrual for abandoned lease expense was decreased by approximately \$0.4 million as tenants were identified for the abandoned space earlier than originally anticipated. Net rental expense for 2009 reflects this adjustment as well as the rents collected from other tenants. Future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases, excluding amounts from tenants that sublet from the Company, at December 31, 2009 are as follows:

duding unloaned from total and a series of the series of t	December 31, 2009
	(Dollars in thousands)
2010	\$1,571
2011	1,471
2012	1,377
2013	
	<u>\$4,419</u>

The Company leases facilities for its corporate headquarters under an operating lease that is scheduled to expire in 2012. Approximately 40% of the office lease space has been sublet at the same rate paid by Triad to a company that acquired the mortgage insurance operating platform, including computer software and hardware, and is now providing technology and other services back to Triad. The Company remains primarily liable for the full amounts under the existing lease.

7. Federal Income Taxes

Income tax benefit differed from the amounts computed by applying the Federal statutory income tax rate to income before taxes as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,	
	2009	2008
	(Dollars in thousands)	
Income tax benefit computed at statutory rate	\$(214,116)	\$(263,015)
(Decrease) increase in taxes resulting from:		
Tax-exempt interest	(1,806)	(7,353)
Valuation allowance	204,373	145,335
Other	(4,580)	1,629
Income tax benefit	\$ (16,129)	<u>\$(123,404)</u>

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are presented below:

	2009	2008
	(Dollars in thousands)	
Deferred tax assets		
Unearned premiums	\$ 2,084	\$ 3,924
Impairments on securities	7,229	11,258
Losses and loss adjustment expenses	248,398	92,431
Net operating loss carryforwards and other credits	104,883	39,635
Other	4,380	2,784
Total deferred tax assets	366,974	150,032
Valuation allowance	(349,708)	(145,335)
Net deferred tax assets	17,266	4,697
Deferred tax liabilities		
Unrealized investment gains	16,576	3,265
Other	690	1,432
Total deferred tax liabilities	17,266	4,697
Net deferred tax liability	\$	\$

If the Company determines that any of its deferred tax assets will not result in future tax benefits, a valuation allowance must be established for the portion of these assets that are not expected to be realized. At December 31, 2009, the Company established a valuation allowance of approximately \$349.7 million against a \$367.0 million deferred tax asset. Based upon a review of the Company's anticipated future taxable income, and also including all other available evidence, both positive and negative, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not that the \$349.7 million of the gross deferred tax assets will not be realized.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had a net operating loss ("NOL") carryforward on a regular tax basis of approximately \$300.2 million. Of this amount, \$197.9 million expires, if unused, in 2028 and \$102.3 million expires in 2029. The amount and timing of realizing the benefit of NOL carryforwards depends on future taxable income and limitations imposed by tax laws. The benefit of the NOL carryforward has not been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

During 2009, the IRS completed an examination of the Company's 2007, 2006 and 2005 federal returns. In connection with the examination, the IRS has assessed a total of \$7.7 million of AMT. The Company disagrees with the agent's findings and the matter is currently under appeal. The Company recorded this assessment as a current tax accrual of \$5.5 million in 2008 and as an additional \$2.2 million in 2009. The Company also deposited \$7.7 million with the U.S. Treasury to stop the accrual of interest until the matter can be heard by the Appellate Division. The Worker, Homeownership and Business Assistance Act of 2009, which was passed by Congress in November 2009, among other things, extends the period for which NOLs can be carried back to recover previous taxes paid from two years to five years. Due to the significant tax loss generated in 2008 and 2009, the Company expects to be able to recover all of the AMT assessed for the years under examination and also expects to recover approximately \$4.0 million of regular tax paid from tax years 2005 and 2006. The Company recognized a current tax benefit of \$2.8 million for 2009 related to these items.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

8. Insurance in Force, Dividend Restriction, and Statutory Results

At December 31, 2009, approximately 58% of the Company's direct risk in force was concentrated in 10 states, with approximately 13% in California, 12% in Florida, 7% in Texas, 5% in Arizona, 4% each in Illinois, North Carolina and Georgia, and 3% each in Virginia, Colorado, and New Jersey. California, Florida and Arizona, which collectively represent 30% of direct risk in force, have been especially hard hit with home price depreciation at a rate greater than the rest of the country. Nevada, which represented 3% of direct risk in force at December 31, 2009, has also seen significant home price depreciation. The Company has experienced substantial increases in the default rate in these four states during 2009 and believes this is primarily the result of home price depreciation. A prolonged economic downturn with continued house price depreciation in areas where the Company has large concentrations of risk in force would result in higher incurred losses.

Insurance regulations generally limit the writing of mortgage guaranty insurance to an aggregate amount of insured risk no greater than twenty-five times the total of statutory capital, which is defined as the statutory surplus plus the statutory contingency reserve. The Corrective Orders under which Triad is currently operating specifically prohibit the writing of new insurance by Triad. The Risk-to-Capital ratio of Triad is substantially greater than the 25:1 regulatory guideline.

Triad has entered into two Corrective Orders with the Department. The first Corrective Order was entered into on August 5, 2008 and remains in effect. This Corrective Order was implemented as a result of the Company's decision to cease writing new mortgage guaranty insurance and to commence a run-off of its existing insurance in force as of July 15, 2008. Among other things, that Corrective Order:

- · Required Triad to submit a corrective plan to the Department;
- · Prohibits all stockholder dividends from Triad to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Prohibits interest and principal payments on Triad's surplus note to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Restricts Triad from making any payments or entering into any transaction that involves the transfer of assets to, or liabilities from, any affiliated parties without the prior approval of the Department;
- Requires Triad to obtain prior written approval from the Department before entering into certain transactions with unaffiliated parties;
 - · Requires Triad to meet with the Department in person or via teleconference as necessary; and
 - Requires Triad to furnish to the Department certain reports, agreements, actuarial opinions and information on an ongoing basis at specified times.

The Company submitted a corrective plan to the Department as required under the initial Corrective Order. The corrective plan included, among other items, a five-year statutory financial projection for Triad and a detailed description of the Company's planned course of action to address its financial condition. The financial projections that form the basis of the corrective plan were prepared in accordance with SAP set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code. The Company received approval of the corrective plan from the Department in October 2008.

Following the approval of the initial corrective plan, in the first quarter of 2009 the Company revised the assumptions initially utilized as a result of continued deteriorating economic conditions impacting its financial condition, results of operations and future prospects. The revised assumptions produced a range of potential ultimate outcomes for the run-off, but included projections showing that absent additional action by the Department or favorable changes in the Company's business, Triad would have reported a deficiency in policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP as early as March 31, 2009. If this statutory insolvency had occurred, the Department likely would have instituted a receivership proceeding against Triad, which in turn would likely have led to the institution of bankruptcy proceedings by TGI. In an effort to protect existing policyholders, the

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Department issued the second Corrective Order effective on March 31, 2009, as amended on May 26, 2009. The second Corrective Order stipulates or prescribes:

- Effective June 1, 2009, all valid claims under Triad's mortgage guaranty insurance policies are settled 60% in cash and 40% by recording a DPO;
- At March 31, 2009, Triad was required to adjust surplus and reserves reflecting the impact of the second Corrective Order on future settled claims;
- The DPO requires that Triad accrue a carrying charge based on the investment yield earned by Triad's investment portfolio;
- Triad will establish an escrow account at least equal to the DPO balance and any associated carrying charges;
- Triad will require that any risk or obligation of any captive reinsurer must be paid in full, and will deposit any
 excess reinsurance recovery above the 60% cash payment into an escrow account;
- Payment of the DPO and the carrying charge is subject to Triad's future financial performance and requires the approval of the Department;
- Procedures to account for the impact of the second Corrective Order in the financial statements prepared in accordance with SAP;
- Upon payment of a claim under these provisions, Triad is deemed to have fully satisfied its obligations under the respective insurance policy;
- Other restrictions and requirements affecting the payment and transferability of the DPOs and associated carrying charge; and
- Certain reporting requirements.

The DPO recording requirements of the second Corrective Order became effective on June 1, 2009. At December 31, 2009, the recorded DPO, including a carrying charge of \$2.1 million, amounted to \$168.4 million. The recording of a DPO does not impact reported settled losses as the Company continues to report the entire amount of a claim in its statement of operations. The accounting for the DPO on a SAP basis is similar to a surplus note which is reported as a component of statutory surplus; accordingly, any repayment of the DPO or the associated carrying charge requires approval of the Department. However, in the Company's financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP included in this report, the DPO is reported as a liability.

The Company's recurring losses from operations and the resulting decline in Triad's policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP increases the likelihood that Triad will be placed into conservatorship or liquidated and raises substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company's consolidated financial statements that are presented in this annual report on Form 10-K do not include any adjustments that reflect the financial risks of Triad entering receivership proceedings and assume that it will continue as a going concern. The Company expects losses from operations to continue and its ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the successful implementation of its revised corrective plan.

9. Employee Benefit Plans

Most of the Company's employees are eligible to participate in its 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan. Under the plan, employees are automatically enrolled to contribute 4% of their salary unless they elect to not participate or to participate at a different contribution level. Employees may contribute up to 25% of their annual compensation, up to a maximum of \$16,500, with an additional \$5,500 contribution available to those individuals who will reach the age of 50 during 2009. The Company makes a matching contribution on behalf of each participating employee equal to 100% of the first 3% of the employee's deferred salary, plus 50% of the employee's deferred salary greater

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

than 3% but not exceeding 5%. The Company's expense associated with the plan totaled approximately \$294,000 and \$556,000 for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Additionally, the Company has established and funded a Severance Trust that qualifies as an employee benefit plan under ERISA. The Severance Trust is non-contributory by the employees and its sole purpose is to provide severance payments to employees in accordance with the Company's severance plan in case Triad is placed into bankruptcy or taken over by the Department. At December 31, 2009, the Company had placed assets with a fair value of \$8.1 million in the trust. No severance expense is recognized until an employee is notified of a fixed termination date. During 2009, severance costs amounted to \$2.1 million.

Reinsurance 10.

Certain premiums and losses are assumed from and ceded to other insurance companies under various reinsurance agreements. Almost all of the reinsurance is on an excess of loss basis and includes lender-sponsored captives and an independent reinsurance company. The ceding agreements principally provide the Company with a risk management tool designed to spread certain layers of risk to others and achieve a more favorable geographic dispersion of risk.

The effects of reinsurance for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

The effects of reinsurance for the years cheed Becomes 17	Year Ended I	December 31,
	2009	2008
	(Dollars in	thousands)
Earned premiums: Direct	\$ 220,530	\$ 318,199
Assumed		. 1
Assumed	(40,872)	(60,777)
Assumed	\$ 179.658	\$ 257,423
Net earned premiums	<u> </u>	
Losses and loss adjustment expenses:	\$ 940,034	\$1,073,328
Losses and loss adjustment expenses. Direct		1
Assumed	(132,407)	(150,028)
Assumed	\$ 807 627	\$ 923,301
Net losses and loss adjustment expenses	=======================================	
		1am

The Company cedes business to captive reinsurance subsidiaries or affiliates of certain mortgage lenders ("captives") primarily under excess of loss reinsurance agreements. Reinsurance recoverables on loss reserves and unearned premiums ceded to these captives are backed by trust funds controlled by the Company.

Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders. Failure of the reinsurer to honor its obligation could result in losses to the Company; consequently, allowances are established for amounts deemed uncollectible. The Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors credit risk arising from similar geographic regions, activities, or economic characteristics of its reinsurers to minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvency.

11. Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan

The Company has a stockholder-approved Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). Under the Plan, certain directors, officers, and key employees are eligible to receive various share-based compensation awards. Stock options, restricted stock, phantom stock rights and other equity awards may be awarded under the Plan for a fixed number of shares with a requirement for stock options granted to have an exercise price equal to or greater than

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

the fair value of the shares at the date of grant. Generally, most awards vest over three years. Options granted under the Plan expire no later than ten years following the date of grant. As of December 31, 2009, 1,183,985 shares were reserved and 824,071 shares were available for issuance under the Plan. Gross compensation expense of approximately \$1.2 million along with the related tax benefit of approximately \$0.4 million was recognized in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, as compared to gross compensation expense of approximately \$4.3 million and the related tax benefit of approximately \$1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. For the year ended December 31, 2008, approximately \$78,000 of share-based compensation was capitalized as part of deferred acquisition costs.

A summary of option activity under the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2009 is presented below:

	Number of Shares	Weighted- Average Exercise Price	Aggregate Intrinsic Value	Weighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term
		(Dollars in th	ousands)	
Outstanding, January 1, 2009	391,911	\$38.80	•	
Granted				
Exercised				And the second second
Cancelled	31,997	25.77		
Outstanding, December 31, 2009	<u>359,914</u>	39.96	<u>\$</u>	3.8 years
Exercisable, December 31, 2009	359,914	39.96	<u>\$</u>	3.8 years

The fair value of stock options is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes pricing model. The Company did not grant options in 2009 or 2008, therefore the weighted average assumptions are not applicable for these years. The expected volatilities are based on volatility of the Company's stock over the most recent historical period corresponding to the expected term of the options. The Company also uses historical data to estimate option exercise and employee terminations within the model. Separate groups of employees with similar historical exercise and termination histories are considered separately for valuation purposes. The risk-free rates for the periods corresponding to the expected terms of the options are based on U.S. Treasury rates in effect on the dates of grant.

A summary of nonvested restricted stock and phantom stock rights activity under the Plan for the year ended December 31, 2009 is presented below:

en e	Number of Shares	Weighted-Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Nonvested, January 1, 2009	281,308	\$ 6.40
Granted	60,794	1.16
Vested	78,609	11.20
Cancelled	; ·	r e
Nonvested, December 31, 2009	263,493	3.76

The fair value of restricted stock and phantom stock rights are determined based on the closing price of the Company's shares on the grant date. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted stock and phantom stock rights granted during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was \$1.16 and \$3.80, respectively.

As of December 31, 2009, there was \$297,503 of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested stock options, restricted stock, and phantom stock rights granted under the Plan. That expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.9 years. The total fair value of stock options, restricted stock and

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

phantom stock rights vested during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was \$0.6 and \$4.3 million, respectively.

The Company issues new shares upon exercise of stock options and paid cash upon the vesting of phantom stock rights in 2009.

12. Fair Value Measurement

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values and fair values of financial instruments as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 are summarized below:

	Decembe	er 31, 2009	December 31, 2008		
en al company de la company	Carrying Value	Fair Value	Carrying Value	Fair Value	
		(Dollars in	thousands)	4	
Financial Assets					
Fixed maturity securities available-for-sale	. \$784,830	\$784,830	\$854,186	\$854,186	
Equity securities available-for-sale			583	583	
Short-term investments	. 26,651	26,651	40,653	40,653	
Cash and cash equivalents	. 21,839	21,839	39,940	39,940	
Financial Liabilities		tipes of the potential			
Long-term debt	. 34,540	7,268	34,529	10,124	

Valuation Methodologies and Associated Inputs

Investments

Investments that are required to be carried at fair value are measured based on assumptions used by market participants in pricing the security. The most appropriate valuation methodology is selected based on the specific characteristics of the fixed maturity or equity security, and the Company consistently applies the valuation methodology to measure the security's fair value. Fair value measurement is based on a market approach, which utilizes prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable securities. Sources of inputs to the market approach include third-party pricing services, independent broker quotations or pricing matrices. Observable and unobservable inputs are used in the Company's valuation methodologies. Observable inputs include benchmark yields, reported trades, broker-dealer quotes, issuer spreads, twosided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers and reference data. In addition, market indicators, industry and economic events are monitored and further market data is acquired if certain triggers are met. For certain security types, additional inputs may be used, or some of the inputs described above may not be applicable. For brokerquoted only securities, quotes from market makers or broker-dealers are obtained from sources recognized to be market participants. In order to validate the pricing information and broker-dealer quotes, the Company relies on, where possible, procedures that include comparisons with similar observable positions, comparisons with subsequent sales, discussions with senior business leaders and brokers and observations of general market movements for those security classes. For those securities trading in less liquid or illiquid markets with limited or no pricing information, unobservable inputs are used in order to measure the fair value of these securities. In cases where this information is not available, such as for privately placed securities, fair value is estimated using an internal pricing matrix. This matrix relies on judgment concerning the discount rate used in calculating expected future cash flows, credit quality, industry sector performance and expected maturity.

Prices received from third parties are not adjusted; however, the third parties' valuation methodologies and related inputs are analyzed and additional evaluations are performed to determine the appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The observable and unobservable inputs to the Company's valuation methodologies are based on a set of standard inputs that are generally used to evaluate all of our available-for-sale securities. The standard inputs used are benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sided markets, benchmark securities, bids, offers and reference data. Depending on the type of security or the daily market activity, standard inputs may be prioritized differently or may not be available for all available-for-sale securities on any given day.

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments are carried at fair value. This category includes debt instruments with a maturity of greater than three months but less than one year. These assets are classified as Level 2.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. This category includes highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of three months or less. Due to the nature of these assets, we believe these assets should be classified as Level 2.

Long-Term Debt

The \$35 million outstanding long-term debt is the obligation of TGI and not of Triad. Debt service amounts to \$2.8 million per year and is paid by TGI. The primary source of funds for the TGI debt service has been the interest paid by Triad on the \$25 million surplus note. Triad's interest payment to TGI has historically provided \$2.2 million of the required \$2.8 million on an annual basis. Effective with the first Corrective Order, Triad is now prohibited from paying interest and principal on the \$25 million surplus note to TGI. The Company does not believe the prohibition will be lifted for the foreseeable future. TGI has continued to make the debt service payments of \$2.8 million per year from its existing sources of funds. At December 31, 2009, total cash and invested assets at TGI was approximately \$8.7 million. Given the limited sources of funds available to service the long-term debt and the continued deterioration in the Company's financial condition, the fair value of the Company's long-term debt at December 31, 2009 was calculated using discounted cash flow methodology giving effect only to the anticipated interest payments based upon available funds at December 31, 2009. The fair value of the Company's long-term debt at December 31, 2008 was calculated utilizing a discounted present value methodology for the repayment of the principle at maturity utilizing credit spreads for non-investment grade securities with similar maturities.

Fair Value of Investments

The Company utilizes the provisions of ASC 820 in its estimation and disclosures about fair value. ASC 820 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. ASC 820 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. The Company adopted ASC 820 effective for its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2008.

ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation methods used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.
- Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs that are observable either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.
- Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable (i.e., supported with little or no market activity).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

An asset's or a liability's level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company did not have any material assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of December 31, 2009. The following table summarizes the assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis and the source of the inputs in the determination of fair value as of December 31, 2009 and 2008:

	Fair Value	Measurements at	Reporting Date	Using
	December 31, 2009	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
		(Dollars in t	housands)	
Assets				
Securities available-for-sale				
Fixed maturities	\$784,830	\$	\$782,836	\$1,994
Short-term investments	26,651		26,651	****
Cash and cash equivalents	21,839		21,839	
Total	\$833,320	<u>\$—</u>	<u>\$831,326</u>	<u>\$1,994</u>
	Fair Value	Measurements at	Reporting Date	Using
	December 31, 2008	Quoted Prices in Active Markets for Identical Assets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
		(Dollars in t	housands)	
Assets				
Securities available-for-sale	,			
Fixed maturities	\$854,186	\$	\$851,651	\$2,535
Equity securities	583	583		
Short-term investments	40,653		40,653	
Cash and cash equivalents	39,940		39,940	
Total	\$935,362	\$583	\$932,244	\$2,535

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) were used in determining the fair value on certain bonds in the fixed maturities portfolio during this period. The following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of these Level 3 bonds and the related gains and losses related to these assets during 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Fair Value Measurement Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)

Certain Bonds in Fixed Maturities AFS Portfolio

Voor Ended

	December 31,	
	2009	2008
	(Dollars in t	housands)
Beginning balance	\$2,535	\$ 7,402
Total gains and losses (realized and unrealized):		
Included in operations	(341)	(270)
Included in other comprehensive income	293	(819)
Purchases, issuances and settlements	(493)	(3,983)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3		205
Ending balance	<u>\$1,994</u>	<u>\$ 2,535</u>
The amount of total gains and losses for the period included in operations attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets still		
held at the reporting date	<u>\$ (49)</u>	<u>\$(1,815)</u>

13. Long-term Debt

In 1998, the Company completed a \$35.0 million private offering of notes due January 15, 2028. Proceeds from the offering, net of debt issue costs, totaled \$34.5 million. The notes, which represent unsecured obligations of the Company, bear interest at a rate of 7.9% per annum and are non-callable.

14. Exit Costs

In June 2008, the Company recorded an accrual for certain exit costs in connection with the transition of its business into run-off. As part of the transition to run-off, Triad implemented a reduction in workforce by terminating approximately 100 employees based primarily in the sales, marketing, technology and underwriting functions.

As a result of the transition into run-off, the Company recorded an estimated pre-tax charge of approximately \$8.3 million in other operating costs on the Statements of Operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2008. These charges included approximately \$7.1 million in severance and related personnel costs, approximately \$1.0 million related primarily to the abandonment of a portion of the Company's main office lease that is expected to continue through 2012, and approximately \$0.2 million related to the termination of certain other leases, including those related to underwriting offices, equipment and automobiles. At December 31, 2009, there remained approximately \$0.6 million of accrued severance and related personnel costs and approximately \$0.1 million of lease abandonment costs. Due to the subleasing arrangement related to the sale of the mortgage insurance operating platform, the Company recorded a reduction in the lease abandonment estimate established at June 30, 2008 of \$0.2 million.

Subsequent to 2008, the Company has recorded an additional \$0.4 million in employee severance costs related to supplemental reductions in the workforce as the run-off continues. For the majority of these individuals, the severance payment is made as a single lump sum payment in the month following termination.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

15. Other Income

On December 1, 2009, the Company sold its information technology and operating platform to Essent, an unrelated new mortgage insurer. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, Essent acquired all of the proprietary mortgage insurance software and substantially all of the supporting hardware, as well as certain other assets, in exchange for up to \$30 million in cash and the assumption by Essent of certain contractual obligations. Approximately \$15 million of the consideration is fixed and up to an additional \$15 million is contingent on Essent writing a certain minimum amount of insurance in the five-year period following closing. During the 2009 fourth quarter, the Company received the initial \$10 million installment of the purchase price and recorded a gain of approximately \$12 million related to the fixed component of the purchase agreement. Essent has established its operations and technology center in Winston-Salem, North Carolina and a number of the former information technology and operations employees have joined Essent as contemplated by the agreement. At the closing of the transaction with Essent, the Company also entered into a services agreement, pursuant to which Essent is providing ongoing information systems maintenance and services, customer service and policy administration support to Triad. Until December 2010, the Company pays a pre-determined amount for each month of service; after December 2010 the fees will be based on the number of policies in force.

16. Contingencies

The Company is involved in litigation and other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business as well as the matters identified below.

On September 4, 2009, Triad filed a complaint against American Home Mortgage ("AHM") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware seeking rescission of multiple master mortgage guaranty insurance policies ("master policies") and declaratory relief. The complaint seeks relief from AHM as well as all owners of loans insured under the master policies by way of a defendant class action. Triad alleged that AHM failed to follow the delegated insurance underwriting guidelines approved by Triad, that this failure breached the master policies as well as the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and that these breaches were so substantial and fundamental that the intent of the master policies could not be fulfilled and Triad should be excused from its obligations under the master policies. The total amount of risk originated under the AHM master policies, accounting for any applicable stop loss limits associated with modified pool contracts, was \$1.6 billion, of which \$1.1 billion remains in force at December 31, 2009. Triad continues to accept premiums and process claims under the master policies but, as a result of this action, Triad ceased remitting claim payments to companies servicing loans originated by AHM. Both premiums and claim payments subsequent to the filing of the complaint have been segregated pending resolution of this action. We have not recognized any benefit in our financial statements pending the outcome of the litigation.

On November 4, 2009, AHM filed an action in the Bankruptcy Court seeking to recover \$7.6 million of alleged preferential payments made to Triad. AHM alleges that such payments constitute a preference and are subject to recovery by the bankrupt estate. The time period in which to respond to this request has been tolled pending settlement discussions in the above referenced AHM matter. In the event a settlement is not successfully concluded, Triad intends to vigorously defend this matter.

On December 11, 2009, American Home Mortgage Servicing filed a complaint against Triad for damages, declaratory relief, and injunction in the United States District Court, Northern District of Texas. The complaint alleges that Triad denied payment on legitimate claims on 15 mortgage insurance loans and seeks damages, a declaration that our mortgage insurance policies prohibit denial of claim without evidence of harm, and an injunction against future like denials.

On February 6, 2009, James L. Phillips served a complaint against Triad Guaranty Inc., Mark K. Tonnesen and Kenneth W. Jones in the United States District Court, Middle District of North Carolina. The plaintiff purports to represent a class of persons who purchased or otherwise acquired the common stock of the Company between

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

October 26, 2006 and April 1, 2008 and the complaint alleges violations of federal securities laws by the Company and two of its present or former officers. The court has appointed lead counsel for the plaintiff and an amended complaint was filed on June 22, 2009. We filed our motion to dismiss the amended complaint on August 21, 2009 and the plaintiff filed its opposition to the motion to dismiss on October 20, 2009. Our reply was filed on November 19, 2009.

17. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events to determine if events or transactions occurring through the filing date of this annual report on Form 10-K require potential adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements. In March 2010, the Company entered into a commutation agreement with its largest captive reinsurance partner. Under terms of the commutation agreement, the Company will assume all liability for the existing and future claims covered by the reinsurance and trust agreement in exchange for the entire trust balance of approximately \$142.0 million. As a result of the transaction, cash and investments will increase and reinsurance recoverable will decrease on the balance sheet. The Company does not expect the transaction will have any impact on the statement of operations for the first quarter of 2010. The Company is not aware of any other significant events that occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date but prior to the filing of this report that would have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

On March 5, 2010, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Los Angeles County Superior Court of the State of California alleging breach of contract and seeking a declaratory judgment that bulk rescissions of flow loans is improper and that Triad is improperly rescinding loans under the terms of its master policies. Triad intends to vigorously defend this matter.

SCHEDULE I SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS — OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES TRIAD GUARANTY INC. December 31, 2009

	Cost or Amortized Cost	Fair Value	Amount at Which Shown in Balance Sheet
	(E	ollars in thous	ands)
Fixed maturity securities, available-for-sale:			
Bonds:			
U. S. government and agencies	\$ 24,958	\$ 25,261	\$ 25,261
Foreign government and corporate debt	9,991	10,302	10,302
Corporate debt	468,999	501,000	501,000
Residential mortgage-backed	102,391	107,405	107,405
Asset-backed	36,844	39,392	39,392
State and municipal bonds	94,966	101,470	101,470
Total	738,149	784,830	784,830
Equity securities, available-for-sale:			
Short-term investments	26,650	26,651	26,651
Total investments other than investments in related parties	<u>\$764,799</u>	<u>\$811,481</u>	<u>\$811,481</u>

SCHEDULE II — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS TRIAD GUARANTY INC.

(Parent Company)

	December 31,	
	2009	2008
	(Dollars	in thousands)
ASSETS		
Fixed maturities, available-for-sale	\$ 4,710	\$ 5,045
Notes receivable from subsidiary		25,000
Short-term investments	956	1,752
Cash	3,016	3,963
Accrued investment income	. 77	2,244
Income taxes recoverable	-	53
Other assets	182	1
Total assets	\$ 8,941	\$ 38,058
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUIT	Ϋ́	
Liabilities:		
Long-term debt	\$ 34,540	\$ 34,529
Accrued interest	1,275	***
Investment in subsidiaries' deficit	679,469	•
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	15	2
Total liabilities	715,299	174,724
Stockholders' (deficit) equity:		- · · · · · · - ·
Common stock	153	151
Additional paid-in capital	113,848	*
Accumulated other comprehensive income	30,782	•
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)	(851,141	*
Total stockholders' (deficit) equity	(706,358	
Total liabilities and stockholders' (deficit) equity	\$ 8,941	

SCHEDULE II — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS TRIAD GUARANTY INC.

(Parent Company)

	Year Ended Do	December 31,	
er de	2009	2008	
	(Dollars in t	housands)	
Revenue:			
Investment income:			
Interest (loss) income	\$ (1,873)	\$ 3,040	
Realized investment (loss) gains	(24,977)	3,188	
Net investment (loss) income	(26,850)	6,228	
Other Income	2,248		
	(24,602)	6,228	
Expenses:			
Interest expense	2 ,776	3,558	
Operating expenses	3,116	4,527	
	5,892	8,085	
Loss before federal income taxes and deficit in undistributed loss of subsidiaries	(30,494)	(1,857)	
Income tax benefit:			
Current	24	831	
Deferred	38	3,837	
	62	4,668	
(Loss) Income before equity in undistributed loss of subsidiaries	(30,432)	2,811	
Equity in undistributed loss of subsidiaries	(565,200)	(633,938)	
Net loss	<u>\$(595,632)</u>	<u>\$(631,127)</u>	

SCHEDULE II — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS TRIAD GUARANTY INC.

(Parent Company)

	Year Ended December 3	
	2009	2008
	(Dollars in	thousands)
Operating Activities:	* (#O# COO)	
Net loss	\$(595,632)	\$(631,127)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Equity in undistributed loss of subsidiaries	565,200	633,938
Accrued investment loss (income)	2,167	(731)
Other assets	(181)	366
Deferred income taxes	(38)	(3,837)
Income taxes recoverable	53	76
Accretion of discount on investments	(11)	39
Amortization of deferred compensation	1,220	4,257
Amortization of debt issue costs	11	9
Accrued interest		(80)
Realized investment losses (gains) on securities	24,977	(3,188)
Other liabilities	13	(972)
Other operating activities	8.7	(37)
Net cash used in operating activities	(2,134)	(1,287)
Investing Activities:		
Fixed maturities:		
Purchases	(1,864)	(5,131)
Sales and maturities	2,255	41,855
Equity securities:		*
Sales		44,295
Change in short-term investments	796	2,217
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities	1,187	83,236
Financing Activities:		
Proceeds from revolving credit facility		(80,000)
Excess tax benefits related to share based payments		15
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		<u>(79,985</u>)
(Decrease) Increase in cash	(947)	1,964
Cash at beginning of year	3,963	1,999
Cash at end of year	\$ 3,016	\$ 3,963

SCHEDULE II — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT TRIAD GUARANTY INC. (Parent Company) SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES

1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

In the parent company financial statements, investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed losses of the subsidiaries. Dividends received from the subsidiaries are shown as investment income. The share of net income of subsidiaries is included in income using the equity method. The accompanying parent company financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included as part of this annual report on Form 10-K.

2. Nature of Operations

Triad Guaranty Inc. ("TGI") is a holding company which, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation ("TGIC"), historically has provided mortgage insurance coverage in the United States. Unless the context requires otherwise, references to "Triad" in this annual report on Form 10-K refer to the operations of TGIC and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Triad Guaranty Assurance Corporation ("TGAC"). References to the "Company" refer collectively to the operations of TGI and Triad. Mortgage insurance allows buyers to achieve homeownership with a reduced down payment, facilitates the sale of mortgage loans in the secondary market and protects lenders from credit default-related expenses. Triad ceased issuing new commitments for mortgage guaranty insurance coverage on July 15, 2008 and is operating its business in run-off under two Corrective Orders issued by the Illinois Department of Insurance (the "Department"). The first Corrective Order was issued in August 2008. The second Corrective Order was issued in March 2009 and subsequently amended in May 2009. As used in these financial statements, the term "run-off" means writing no new mortgage insurance policies, but continuing to service existing policies. Servicing existing policies includes: receiving premiums on policies that remain in force; cancelling coverage at the insured's request; terminating policies for non-payment of premium; working with borrowers in default to remedy the default and/or mitigate the Company's loss; reviewing policies for the existence of misrepresentation, fraud or non-compliance with stated programs; and settling all legitimate filed claims per the provisions of the two Corrective Orders issued by the Department. The term "settled," as used in these financial statements in the context of the payment of a claim, refers to the satisfaction of Triad's obligations following the submission of valid claims by its policyholders. Prior to June 1, 2009, valid claims were settled solely by a cash payment. Effective on and after June 1, 2009, valid claims are settled by a combination of 60% in cash and 40% in the form of a deferred payment obligation ("DPO"). The Corrective Orders, among other things, allow management to continue to operate Triad under the close supervision of the Department, include restrictions on the distribution of dividends or interest on notes payable to TGI by Triad, and include restrictions on the payment of claims.

3. Going Concern

The Company prepares its financial statements presented in this annual report on Form 10-K in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). The financial statements for Triad that are provided to the Department and that form the basis for our corrective plan required by the Corrective Orders were prepared in accordance with Statutory Accounting Principles ("SAP") as set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code or prescribed by the Department. The primary differences between GAAP and SAP for Triad at December 31, 2009 were the methodology utilized for the establishment of reserves and the reporting requirements relating to the DPO stipulated in the second Corrective Order. A deficit in assets occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under GAAP. A deficiency in policyholders' surplus occurs when recorded liabilities exceed recorded assets in financial statements prepared under SAP. A deficit in assets is not necessarily a measure of insolvency. However, the Company believes that if Triad were to report an other-than-temporary deficiency in policyholders' surplus under SAP, Illinois law may require the Department to seek receivership of Triad, which could lead TGI to institute a proceeding seeking relief from creditors under U.S. bankruptcy laws. The second Corrective Order attempts to mitigate the possibility of a deficiency in policyholders' surplus by providing for the settlement of claims 60% in cash and 40% in the form of a DPO, which is accounted for as a component of policyholders' surplus under SAP.

The Company has prepared its financial statements on a going concern basis under GAAP, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. However, there is substantial doubt as to the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. This uncertainty is based on, among other things, the possible inability of Triad to comply with the provisions of the Corrective Orders, the Company's recurring losses from operations and the Company reporting an increasing deficit in assets as of the end of the last two years. The Company's financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or amounts of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in existence.

The Company incurred significant operating losses in 2009 and 2008 which resulted in a deficit in assets of \$706.4 million at December 31, 2009. The ongoing operating losses and the deficit in assets is primarily the result of increased defaults and higher reserves relating to the mortgages that the Company has insured. Contributing to the defaults and claims have been declines in U.S home prices, particularly in certain distressed markets, tightened credit markets, rising unemployment, and the overall effects of the economic recession in the United States. Additionally, the Company is unable to offset these operating losses with revenue from new, potentially more profitable, business as Triad is operating in run-off under the two Corrective Orders issued by the Department and can no longer issue commitments for new insurance.

Triad has entered into two Corrective Orders with the Department. The first Corrective Order was entered into on August 5, 2008 and remains in effect. This Corrective Order was implemented as a result of the Company's decision to cease writing new mortgage guaranty insurance and to commence a run-off of its existing insurance in force as of July 15, 2008. Among other things, that Corrective Order:

- Required Triad to submit a corrective plan to the Department;
- Prohibits all stockholder dividends from Triad to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Prohibits interest and principal payments on Triad's surplus note to TGI without the prior approval of the Department;
- Restricts Triad from making any payments or entering into any transaction that involves the transfer of assets to, or liabilities from, any affiliated parties without the prior approval of the Department;
- Requires Triad to obtain prior written approval from the Department before entering into certain transactions with unaffiliated parties;
- Requires Triad to meet with the Department in person or via teleconference as necessary; and
- Requires Triad to furnish to the Department certain reports, agreements, actuarial opinions and information on an ongoing basis at specified times.

The Company submitted a corrective plan to the Department as required under the initial Corrective Order. The corrective plan included, among other items, a five-year statutory financial projection for Triad and a detailed description of the Company's planned course of action to address its financial condition. The financial projections that form the basis of the corrective plan were prepared in accordance with SAP set forth in the Illinois Insurance Code. The Company received approval of the corrective plan from the Department in October 2008.

Following the approval of the initial corrective plan, in the first quarter of 2009 the Company revised the assumptions initially utilized as a result of continued deteriorating economic conditions impacting its financial condition, results of operations and future prospects. The revised assumptions produced a range of potential ultimate outcomes for the run-off, but included projections showing that absent additional action by the Department or favorable changes in the Company's business, Triad would have reported a deficiency in policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP as early as March 31, 2009. If this statutory insolvency had occurred, the Department likely would have instituted a receivership proceeding against Triad, which in turn would likely have led to the institution of bankruptcy proceedings by TGI. In an effort to protect existing policyholders, the

Department issued the second Corrective Order effective on March 31, 2009, as amended on May 26, 2009. The second Corrective Order stipulates or prescribes:

- Effective June 1, 2009, all valid claims under Triad's mortgage guaranty insurance policies are settled 60% in cash and 40% by recording a DPO;
- At March 31, 2009, Triad was required to adjust surplus and reserves reflecting the impact of the second Corrective Order on future settled claims;
- The DPO requires that Triad accrue a carrying charge based on the investment yield earned by Triad's investment portfolio;
- Triad will establish an escrow account at least equal to the DPO balance and any associated carrying charges;
- Triad will require that any risk or obligation of any captive reinsurer must be paid in full, and will deposit any excess reinsurance recovery above the 60% cash payment into an escrow account;
- Payment of the DPO and the carrying charge is subject to Triad's future financial performance and requires the approval of the Department;
- Procedures to account for the impact of the second Corrective Order in the financial statements prepared in accordance with SAP;
- Upon payment of a claim under these provisions, Triad is deemed to have fully satisfied its obligations under the respective insurance policy;
- Other restrictions and requirements affecting the payment and transferability of the DPOs and associated carrying charge; and
- Certain reporting requirements.

The DPO recording requirements of the second Corrective Order became effective on June 1, 2009. At December 31, 2009, the recorded DPO, including a carrying charge of \$2.1 million, amounted to \$168.4 million. The recording of a DPO does not impact reported settled losses as the Company continues to report the entire amount of a claim in its statement of operations. The accounting for the DPO on a SAP basis is similar to a surplus note which is reported as a component of statutory surplus; accordingly, any repayment of the DPO or the associated carrying charge requires approval of the Department. However, in the Company's financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP included in this report, the DPO is reported as a liability.

The Company's recurring losses from operations and the resulting decline in Triad's policyholders' surplus as calculated in accordance with SAP increases the likelihood that Triad will be placed into conservatorship or liquidated and raises substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company's consolidated financial statements that are presented in this annual report on Form 10-K do not include any adjustments that reflect the financial risks of Triad entering receivership proceedings and assume that it will continue as a going concern. The Company expects losses from operations to continue and its ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on the successful implementation of its revised corrective plan.

4. Investments

The cost or amortized cost and the fair value of investments, other than the investment in the subsidiaries held by TGI, is as follows:

GI, is as follows:				
		At December	r 31, 2009	
	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
		(Dollars in t	housands)	
Fixed maturity securities:				4. 222
US government and agencies	\$ 232	\$ _	\$ 	\$ 232
Corporate debt	4,371	<u>107</u>		4,478
Total	4,603	107		4,710
Short-term investments	955	1		<u>956</u>
Total	\$5,558	<u>\$108</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$5,666
		At Decembe	er 31, 2008	
	Cost or Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
		(Dollars in	thousands)	
Fixed maturity securities:			_	45.045
Corporate	\$5,040	<u>\$ 5</u>	<u>\$—</u>	\$5,045
Total	5,040	5		5,045
Short-term investments	1,752			1,752
Total	<u>\$6,792</u>	<u>\$ 5</u>	<u>\$</u>	\$6,797
Major categories of TGI's investment income are summ	narized as f	ollows:		
			Year I Deceml	
			2009	2008
			(Dollars in	thousands)
Income:			φ 210	. ф. 404
Fixed maturities				\$ 485 371
Cash and short-term investments			•	2,225
Interest on note receivable from subsidiary (Note 5)	• • • • • • • •			
			(1,867)	3,08
Expenses				42.04
Net investment income			. \$(1,873)	\$3,040

5. Note Receivable from Subsidiary

In 1998, TGI contributed \$25.0 million to Triad in exchange for a surplus note that bears interest at 8.9%. The \$25.0 million note receivable reflects a surplus note on the books of Triad. The terms of the surplus note currently prohibit the payment of interest by Triad. Additionally, the Corrective Orders prohibit the payment of interest or principal on the surplus note without the prior approval of the Department. Triad does not anticipate being able to resume the payment of interest or principal for the foreseeable future. Therefore, for the year ended December 31, 2009, it was determined that the ability of TGI to collect the \$25.0 million note receivable and related accrued interest from Triad was highly unlikely and, therefore, TGI recorded an other-than-temporary impairment of both the note receivable and the \$4.4 million of accrued interest. This other-than-temporary impairment did not affect TGI's consolidated results of operations.

6. Long-term Debt

In 1998, the Company completed a \$35.0 million private offering of notes due January 15, 2028. Proceeds from the offering, net of debt issue costs, totaled \$34.5 million. The notes, which represent unsecured obligations of the Company, bear interest at a rate of 7.9% per annum and are non-callable.

SCHEDULE IV — REINSURANCE TRIAD GUARANTY INC. MORTGAGE INSURANCE PREMIUM EARNED Years Ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

	Gross Amount	Ceded To Other Companies	Assumed From Other Companies (Dollars in thou	Net Amount sands)	Percentage of Amount Assumed to Net
2009	\$220,530	\$40,872	\$	\$179,658	0.0%
2008	\$318,199	\$60,777	\$ 1	\$257,423	0.0%

EXHIBIT INDEX Form 10-K for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2009

Exhibit Number Description of Document

- 2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement between Triad Guaranty, Inc., Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation and Essent Guaranty, Inc., dated October 7, 2009; previously filed as Exhibit 10.60 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed October 7, 2009, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended May 23, 1997; previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 1997, filed August 12, 1997, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 3.2 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, effective as of May 20, 1998; previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, filed April 1, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 3.3 Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended on March 21, 2003; previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 27, 2003, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 3.4 Amendment to Bylaws of the Registrant, effective November 20, 2008; previously filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 25, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 4.1 Form of common stock certificate; previously filed as Exhibit 4 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed October 22, 1993, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 4.2 Indenture, dated as of January 15, 1998, between the Registrant and Bankers Trust Company; previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1997, filed March 26, 1998, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.6 Registration Agreement among the Registrant, Collateral Investment Corp. and Collateral Mortgage, Ltd.; previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1993, filed March 28, 1994, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.21 Excess of Loss Reinsurance Agreement, effective as of December 31, 1999, between Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation, Capital Mortgage Reinsurance Company and Federal Insurance Company; previously filed as Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999, filed March 29, 2000, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.22 Excess of Loss Reinsurance Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2001, between Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation and Ace Capital Mortgage Reinsurance Company; previously filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, filed March 30, 2001, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.23 Employment Agreement, dated May 1, 2002, between the Registrant and Earl F. Wall; previously filed as Exhibit 10.23 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2002, filed August 14, 2002, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.26 Employment Agreement, dated June 14, 2002, between the Registrant and Kenneth C. Foster; previously filed as Exhibit 10.26 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, filed March 27, 2003, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.27 Consulting Agreement, dated December 9, 2004, by and between the Registrant, Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation, Triad Guaranty Assurance Company and Collateral Mortgage, Ltd.; previously filed as Exhibit 10.27 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, filed March 14, 2005, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.28 Agreement for Administrative Services, effective January 1, 2005, between and among Collateral Mortgage, Ltd., Collat, Inc., New South Federal Savings Bank, the Registrant and Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation; previously filed as Exhibit 10.28 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, filed March 14, 2005, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.30 Exchange Agreement, dated as of May 18, 2005, by and among the Registrant, Collateral Investment Corp. and the Shareholders of Collateral Investment Corp. listed on the signature pages thereto; previously filed as Exhibit 10.30 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2005, filed August 8, 2005, and herein incorporated by reference.

Exhibit Number Description of Document

- 10.32 Employment Agreement and Related Letter of Agreement, dated September 9, 2005, between the Registrant and Mark K. Tonnesen; previously filed as Exhibit 10.32 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed September 16, 2005, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.35 Form of Triad Guaranty Inc. 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.35 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 23, 2006, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.37 Agreement, dated March 30, 2006, entered into between the Registrant and Kenneth W. Jones; previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed April 5, 2006, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.40 Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated December 26, 2006, between Mark K. Tonnesen and the Registrant; previously filed as Exhibit 10.40 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 28, 2006, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.41 Executive/Key Employee Phantom Stock Award Agreement between the Registrant and Mark K. Tonnesen, dated December 26, 2006; previously filed as Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 28, 2006, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.43 Form of Executive/Key Employee Restricted Stock Agreement under Triad Guaranty Inc. 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, filed March 16, 2007, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.44 Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement under Triad Guaranty Inc. 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, filed March 16, 2007, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.45 Form of Outside Director Restricted Stock Agreement under Triad Guaranty Inc. 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, filed March 16, 2007, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.46 Form of Outside Director Stock Option Agreement under Triad Guaranty Inc. 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, filed March 16, 2007, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.47 Summary of Director Compensation Plan, effective as of May 17, 2007; previously filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, filed April 1, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.48 Credit Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2007, among the Registrant, Bank of America, N.A., and the other lenders party thereto; previously filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2007, filed August 9, 2007, and herein incorporated by reference.
- 10.49 Form of 2008 Executive/Key Employee Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.48 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 4, 2008 and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.50 Employment Agreement, dated March 28, 2008, between the Registrant and Kenneth C. Foster; previously filed as Exhibit 10.50 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed April 1, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.51 Summary of 2008 Executive Retention Program; previously filed as Exhibit 10.51 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2008, filed May 12, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.52 Summary of 2008 Executive Severance Program; previously filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2008, filed May 12, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.53 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated April 23, 2008, between the Registrant and Mark K. Tonnesen; previously filed as Exhibit 10.53 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2008, filed May 12, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
- 10.54 Letter Agreement, dated July 17, 2008, between the Registrant and Mark K. Tonnesen; previously filed as Exhibit 10.54 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 17, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*

Description of Document
Letter Agreement, dated July 17, 2008, between the Registrant and William T. Ratliff, III; previously filed as Exhibit 10.55 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 17, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
Letter Agreement, dated October 22, 2008, between the Registrant and Kenneth W. Jones; previously filed as Exhibit 10.56 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed October 22, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
Summary of 2009 Executive Compensation Program; previously filed as Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 25, 2008, and herein incorporated by reference.*
Form of Executive/Key Employee Phantom Stock Award Agreement under Triad Guaranty Inc. 2006 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan; previously filed as Exhibit 10.58 to the Registrant's Current Report on
Summary of Board of Directors Compensation Program, effective October 2008, previously filed as Exhibit 10.59 to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 16, 2009, and herein incorporated by reference.*
Services Agreement between Triad Guaranty, Inc., Triad Guaranty Insurance Corporation and Essent Guaranty, Inc., effective December 1, 2009.
Summary of Board of Directors Compensation Program, effective October 1, 2009.*
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.**
Our SEC file number reference for documents filed with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is 000-22342.

^{*} Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

^{**} The following exhibit shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise subject to the liability of that Section. In addition, Exhibit No. 32.1 shall not be deemed incorporated into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(This page intentionally left blank)